
Swindon Borough Council 
 

Children's Health, Social Care and Education 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 

Wednesday, 24 January 2018  
 

Committee Room 6, Civic Offices 

 

At 6.00 p.m. 
 
Conservative Councillors Labour Councillors  
Gary Sumner (Chair) 
Colin Lovell 
Gemma McCracken 
Barbara Parry 
Caryl Sydney-Smith 
 

Matthew Courtliff 
Fay Howard 
Carol Shelley 
Nadine Watts 
 
 

 

Co-opted Representatives 
Spencer Allen, Swindon Association of primary School Headteachers 
Steve Colledge, Swindon Association of Secondary Headteachers 
Steve Henderson, Equalities Advisory Forum 
Tori Jones, Healthwatch 
Doug Morris, Swindon Parent and Carers Group 
Alison Paul, Swindon Association of Special School Headteachers 
Elaine Poulter, Parent Governor 
Liz Townend, Church of England Diocese 
TBC, Catholic Church Diocese 
 
Committee Officer: Rita Glen Gallo 463611 
email: RGlen-Gallo@swindon.gov.uk 
 
Swindon Borough Council can be contacted at the Civic Offices, Euclid Street, 
Swindon, SN1 2JH (Telephone 01793 445500) 
 
Access Arrangements - The venue is wheelchair accessible and an infrared 
receiver hearing system is provided.  If you have any special requirements to enable 
you to attend the meeting or would like to receive any of the pages contained in this 
agenda in a larger print size, please contact the Committee Officer as soon as 
possible prior to the date of the meeting.  
 

 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence    

2.   Declarations of Interest    
 Members are reminded that at the start of the meeting they should declare any known 

interests in any matter to be considered, and also during the meeting if it becomes 
apparent that they have an interest in the matters being discussed. 

 



3.   Public Question Time    
 See explanatory note below.  Please phone the Committee Officer whose name and 

number appears at the top of this agenda if you need further guidance.  

 
4.   Minutes   (Pages 5 - 10) 

 To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 29th November 2017. 

 
5.   Digital Roadmap - Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group   (Pages 11 - 24) 

6.   Progress Update of Youth Participation   (Pages 25 - 32) 

7.   Education Standards Update DCS  (Pages 33 - 66) 

8.   Local Safeguarding Children's Board Annual Report  DCS (Pages 67 - 134) 

9.   Work Programme  DLDS (Pages 135 - 144) 

Date of Despatch: 09 January 2018 
 
Key: 
Officers 
DLDS  - Director of Law and Democratic Services 
DCS   - Director of Children’s Services 
 
Public Question Time - Swindon Borough Council remains committed to increasing its 
accountability to the public and to promoting active citizenship. 15 minutes will be allowed at 
the start of all Council meetings for questions to the Chair from the public about the work of 
the Committee (except for confidential matters, and matters relating to planning and licensing 
applications). We will give priority to those who submit questions in writing at least two days 
before the meeting. Questions must be relevant, clear, and concise. You may not use Public 
Question Time as an opportunity to make speeches or statements. 
 
Questions in writing should be sent to the Committee Officer whose contact details appear 
on the agenda above or to the Director of Law and Democratic Services, we will publish it, 
along with the answer, alongside the Minutes. The process associated with asking a public 
question is set out in the “Public Question Time at Council Meetings Protocol and Guidance” 
available on the Council’s Website. 
(http://ww5.swindon.gov.uk/moderngov/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13338&pat 
h=0) or from the Committee Officer named above.  

 
Terms of Reference: 
           To fulfil all the functions of an overview and scrutiny committee as they relate to –  

 the review, scrutiny and development of policy recommendations,  
 the management of performance,  

 the monitoring of progress towards delivering relevant strategies and corporate  

 priorities, and  

 the formulation of advice for the Cabinet, Council and other partners and 
stakeholders.  

 

 To have specific responsibility for (but not limited to) the scrutiny of:–  

 the performance of services for children towards agreed local and national 
Performance Indicators,  

 the quality of provision and effectiveness of Local Authority strategies to raise 
standards of education within Swindon,  

 specialist social services and integrated social services for children and young 
people in Swindon,  

 the delivery of services to children and young people in Swindon generally.  

http://ww5.swindon.gov.uk/moderngov/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13338&pat


 
In addition, as these relate to Children and Young People:  

 the performance of services seeking to deliver healthy communities towards agreed 
local and national performance indicators,  

 Health, health commissioning and service delivery,  

 Public Health, Health promotion and the work of the Health and Wellbeing Board, 
and  

 Health Integration and collaborative working and commissioning with Health 
agencies and providers and General Practitioners.  

 Reducing Domestic Violence and Abuse  

 Strategic issues around Licensing  



This page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN'S HEALTH, SOCIAL CARE AND EDUCATION OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
WEDNESDAY, 29 NOVEMBER 2017 

 
PRESENT:- Councillors Gary Sumner (Chair), Matthew Courtliff, Fay Howard, 
Colin Lovell, Gemma McCracken, Barbara Parry, Paul, Carol Shelley, Gary Sumner 
(Chair), Caryl Sydney-Smith and Nadine Watts.  
 
Doug Morris (Swindon Parent and Cares Group) and Steve Henderson (Equalities 
Advisory Forum). 
 
Also present: Councillor Fionuala Foley, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and 
School Attainment. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Elaine Poulter (Parent Governor), Alison 
Paul (Association of Swindon Special School Headteachers), Liz Townend (Church 
of England Diocese), Spencer Allen, Swindon Association of Primary Headteachers, 
Steve Colledge (Swindon Association of Secondary Headteachers), Tori Jones 
(Healthwatch). 
 
15.   Declarations of Interest 

 
 The Chair reminded Members of the need to declare any known interests in 
any matters to be considered at the meeting. 
 
 Councillor Fay Howard made a personal, non-prejudicial personal declaration 
of interest in respect of Agenda item 21 (Children’s performance Summary Quarter 
2 17/18) on the grounds of her employment by Virgin Care. 
 
 Councillor Barbara Parry made a personal, non-prejudicial personal 
declaration of interest in respect of Agenda item 21 (Children’s performance 
Summary Quarter 2 17/18) on the grounds of her employment by Ridgeway School. 
 
 Councillor Gary Sumner made a personal, non-prejudicial personal 
declaration of interest in respect of Agenda item 21 (Children’s performance 
Summary Quarter 2 17/18) on the grounds that his wife was a deputy Headteacher 
at a Swindon School. 
 
 Councillor Carol Shelley made a personal, non-prejudicial declaration of 
interest to Agenda item 21 (Children’s performance Summary Quarter 2 17/18) in 
her capacity as governor of Swindon Academy. 
 
 Councillor Matthew Courtliff made a personal, non-prejudicial declaration of 
interest to Agenda item 21 (Children’s performance Summary Quarter 2 17/18) in 
his capacity as governor of Colebrook Junior School and as his wife was a teaching 
Assistant at Kingsdown School. 
 
           Councillor Caryl Sydney Smith made a personal, non-prejudicial declaration 
of interest to Agenda item 21 (Children’s performance Summary Quarter 2 17/18) in 
her capacity as governor of Swindon Academy. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 Councillor Nadine Watts made a personal, non-prejudicial declaration of 
interest to Agenda item 21 (Children’s performance Summary Quarter 2 17/18) as 
her children attended Commonweal School. 
 
16.   Minutes 

 
 Resolved – That the minutes of the meeting held on 20th September 2017 be 
confirmed and signed as a correct record. 
 
17.   Public Question Time 

 
 No public questions were asked or submitted for this meeting. 
 
18.   NHS Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group - Children's Services 

Review 
 

 Ms Gill May, Executive Nurse at NHS Swindon Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG), submitted a report providing the Committee with a performance 
update and a summary of the following key issues in relation to the planning and 
provision of health and social care services within the Borough: 
 

 The Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Dashboard Key 
Indicators. 

 The publication of the final draft of the Local Transformation Plan in relation 
to children and young people’s mental health 

 NHS England’s issue of a national standard aimed at incentivising 
improvements to the experience and outcomes for young people as they 
transition out of Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services 
(CYPMHS) and into either Adult Mental Health Services (AMHS), other 
commissioned services or Primary Care 

 The CCG’s six month General Practice Forward View as an element of the 
the NHS Five Year Forward View for strengthening and transforming general 
practice primary care services.   

 
 Following her presentation of the report, Ms May and the Divisional Director, 
Women’s, Children’s & Sexual Health, responded to the members’ questions and 
comments in respect of the following matters: 

 Provision of bespoke safeguarding training for each staff member.   

 The evaluation of the Blue-Ice mobile app being trialled by Oxford Health 
Foundation Trust and confirmation that funding for this trial had been agreed 
until June 2018. This app is a prescribed evidence-based app to help young 
people manage their emotions and to reduce urges to self-harm. 

 The project being undertaken to review software programmes that will 
facilitate information sharing between partners and that would instigate a 
whole system approach.  

 Resolved – That the report be noted. 
 
19.   Progress Update of Youth Participation 

 
 The Project Manager, Swindon Ten to Eighteen Project, submitted a report 
updating the Committee on performance and key issues relating to youth 
participation, with particular regard to the activities of  Swindon’s Members of Youth 

Page 6



Parliament (MYPs), Swindon Youth Council, Young Inspectors and Thought Tank 
(SEND Participation Group).  
 
          The Project Manager drew the meeting’s particular attention to the “Your 
Space, Your Say’, campaign supported by the Deputy Member Youth Parliament.  
This campaign concerned young people’s access to health & leisure services. The 
meeting was advised that the campaign was a joint venture delivered by a PhD 
Student in Health from Bath University and the Youth Parliament members.    
 
          It was noted that in furtherance of the campaign objectives, the various youth 
participation groups had been invited to look at what they value about being active, 
and the factors that prevent them taking part in more active lifestyles, and also to 
identify opportunities for young people to lead a more active lifestyle.  The Project 
Manager provided further detail on the various ideas put forward by young people to 
implement change, which ranged from providing more accessible leisure facilities to 
reducing bullying and negative behaviour by promoting bullying awareness in 
schools and on social media. It was noted that discussions with the Better Leisure 
Management Company were being conducted with the aim of reviewing young 
people’s accessibility to leisure facilities.  The use of discount cards by young 
people in leisure facilities was under consideration by the comapny. 
 
 In response to a query regarding the “The Dock”, the Project Manager 
expanded on information available on the site (https://thedockswindon.co.uk/) and 
advised that “The Dock” was a new and different way for young people to find out 
about services within Swindon.   
 Resolved – (1) That the report be noted. 
          (2) That the Committee continues to support the work of the Members of 
Youth Parliament, Swindon Youth Council, Thought Tank and the wider youth 
participation agenda across Swindon. 
          (3) That the Committee continues to make available opportunities for children 
& young people to enable them contribute to the work streams of Health, Adults & 
Children Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
          (4) That the Project Manager, Swindon Ten to Eighteen Project, be requested 
to submit a further report on the work of the Youth Parlaiment to the Committee at 
its meeting in January 2018.   
          (5) That, prior to the next meeting of the Committee, the Project Manager, 
Swindon Ten to Eighteen Project, be requested to circulate to members of the 
Committee, a protected characteristics breakdown of those attending participation 
groups. 
 
20.   Great Western Hospital Update 

 
The Committee received a report by the Great Western Hospital (GWH) NHS 

Foundation Trust, on key issues and developments at the Great Western Hospital.  
Teresa Harding, Divisional Director for the Women and Children’s Division, (GWH), 
highlighted matters of significance including: 

 The positive report by the Care Quality Commission following a routine 
inspection in March 2017.   

 Discussions undertaken with the Swindon Clinical Commissioning 
Group around staffing and funding for Community Paediatrics. 

 The benchmarking exercises for the neonates undertaken with the 
South West Clinical Network.    

Page 7

https://thedockswindon.co.uk/


 The recent opening of the Childrens’ Outside Space following a 
successful appeal by the Brighter Futures’ Hospital Charity.  

 The recent introduction of gathering customer feedback directly from 
children. 

 The event held in September at GWH designed to offer support to 
families whose children were transferring from children’s to adult 
services. 

 
   Following the presentation of her report, Teresa Harding, the Director of 

Children Services and Gill May, the Executive Nurse at NHS Swindon Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), responded to the members’ questions and comments 
in respect of the following matters: 

 The need to recruit staff in the Children’s and Sick Children and Baby 
Units.  

 The level of community involvement in the transition process of 
teenagers moving from children’s’ into adult care.  

 Prioritising and distribution of funding allocated by the CCG for GWH 
services including the Designated Medical Officer and Designated 
Commissioning Officer roles. 

 The level and range of training available for staff within the paediatrics 
department. 

 Waiting times for services within Community Paediatrics, the impact 
this was having on patients and actions being undertaken to reduce 
the waiting period.  

 Joint working between Children Services and the Swindon Clinical 
Commissioning Group to identify and support young people officially 
or unofficially diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder 
(ADHD) or autism spectrum disorder (ASD). 

 Looked after children being given higher priority on any waiting list.   

 Exclusions from school due to behavioural issues associated with 
ADHD and ASD and its impact on the pupil’s education.  

 Resolved – (1) That the report be noted.  
 (2) That the Divisional Director for the Women and Children’s Division be 
requested to circulate information presented at the event hosted by GWH for 
vulnerable teenagers moving into adult care. 
 
21.   Children's Performance Summary Quarter 2 17/18 

 
The Head of Education and the Head of Children, Families and Community 

Health, submitted a joint report providing an update on the performance within all 
service commissioning groups between April and September 2017. The Head of 
Children, Families and Community Health, introduced the report and explained that 
the report provides comparator performance data from the Childrens’ social care in-
year benchmarking group.  This was essential intelligence in relation to current 
trends in other authorities.   

 
The Head of Children, Families and Community Health highlighted the 

improvements that had been made including completing statutory assessments 
within timescales.  Areas of improvement centred on the work required due to an 
increase in the number of children requiring statutory intervention.    

 
 

Page 8



The Head of Education referred to the attainment of pupils between Key 
Stages 1 and 4.  He advised that whilst the attainment level indicators for Early 
Years to Key Stage 4 were available, they were un-validated at present.  It was 
explained that over ninety percent of the primary schools attained “Outstanding” 
Level in their Ofsted assessment.  He advised that following the myriad of changes 
within secondary schools management, discussions were held with head teachers 
to improve Key Stage 2 results.   

 
The Head of Education referred to the Swindon Challenge which was a 

partnership arrangement for driving improvement for pupils in Swindon schools and 
colleges.  He further referred to the NEET (not engaged in 
education/employment/training) rate which was slightly higher in Swindon.  It was 
explained that this was due to robust tracking processes resulting in the reduction in 
number of young people with unknown learning destinations.  

 
          Following the presentation of their report, the Director of Children Services, 
Head of Children, Families and Community Health, and the Head of Education, 
responded to the members’ questions and comments in respect of the following 
matters: 

 The cost of out of borough placements and that local placements are  and 
can lead to good outcomes for a young person.  

 The Swindon Challenge Board’s involvement in improving Key Stage 4 
attainment. 

 Sharing of good practice between schools particularly following the 
introduction of the new curriculum.  

 The quality of leadership and management of schools to address behavioural 
issues of children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) or 
autism spectrum disorder (ASD). 

 Swindon’s Key Stage 5 results as compared to regional and statistical 
neighbours.   

 Outcomes of young people attending university and level of employment they 
subsequently achieved. 

 Prevention of school exclusions through dialogue with schools to ensure 
access and inclusion of pupils.  

 High youth unemployment rate figures as compared to national and regional 
data.   
Resolved – (1) That the report be noted.  
(2) That the Head of Education be requested to circulate information 

regarding the outcomes of young people attending university.  
 (3) That the Head of Education be requested to circulate information on the 
youth unemployment rate data before the next meeting of the Committee. 
 
22.   Targeted Mental Health Services (TaMHS) 

 
The Head of Children, Families and Community Health submitted a report 

providing an update on performance and key issues relating to Targeted Mental 
Health Services. The Principal Officer, Health and Wellbeing, introduced the report 
and explained that it reflected an update on work commissioned.  She advised that 
the report described the TaMHS delivery model, which provides a single point of 
access and triage process for all children’s mental health services in Swindon.  The 
Head of Children, Families and Community Health explained that the referral to 
assessment to treatment processes for mental health patients were being 

Page 9



completed within timescales. She advised that the department offered traded 
service to schools, allowing them to purchase consultations and group and 
individual work with children and young people from the department. 

 
 The Principal Officer, Health and Wellbeing, commented on the work being 

collaboratively undertaken with The Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
and Oxford Health Foundation Trust on the Local Transformation Plan.    
  
           Following the presentation of her report the Principal Officer responded to the 
members’ questions and comments in respect of the following matters: 

 The success of nurture groups for those aged between 8 and14 years old 
and the availability of one to one support for those younger or older than this 
age group.      

 Engagement with parents, carers and schools to ensure young people attend 
referral appointments. 

 Support was available for parents and cares through the Family Links 
Parenting Programme.  

 Resolved - That the report be noted. 
 
23.   Work programme 

 
 The Director of Law and Democratic Services submitted a report on the 
Committee’s work programme for the current Municipal year, detailing the activities 
that the Committee had undertaken, and would be undertaking, during the course of 
the year, with the aim of producing evidence based recommendations intended to 
provide service improvements for Cabinet and external agencies/bodies to consider.  
 
 The Committee also considered the priorities and suggestions of Cabinet as 
detailed in the Cabinet Work Programme and Forward Plan when considering the 
work programme.  
          Resolved – That the report be noted. 
 
 

Page 10



NHS Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group 

Local Digital Roadmap 

Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee Date: 24 January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Ruth Atkins, 
01793 683700, communications@swindonccg.nhs.uk  

Author: Executive Nurse, Swindon CCG  

Wards: All Wards 

Locality Affected: All Locality Area 

Parishes Affected: All Parish Area  
 

1. Purpose and Reasons 

1.1 This report provides the Children’s Health, Social Care and Education O&S 
Committee with a briefing on the Swindon Local Digital Roadmap (LDR) and an 
update on key projects from the LDR  

1.2 A key purpose of the Children’s Health, Social Care and Education O&S 
Committee is to hold Commissioners of Health and Social Care Services to 
account. 

1.3 Any Commissioner of Health and Social Care Services in Swindon is required to 
provide information on the planning and provision of health and social care 
services within the Borough and consult with the Committee on any planned 
substantial changes or developments to service provision.   

2. Recommendations 

The Committee is recommended to: 

2.1 Note the report. 

2.2 Identify any areas where further investigation is required.  

3. Detail 

Please see attached publish summary version of the Swindon Local Digital Roadmap 
(LDR). CCGs were required by NHS England to create and publish LDRs.  

The local digital roadmap identifies high level digital capabilities required over the next 5 
years and some key projects to help us achieve these aims.  

One key area of focus is improving patient care as a result of better integration and 
interoperability between the many different IT systems in use  

3.1 Key Projects from the LDR that were identified are as follows: - 

• Swindon (or wider) shared care record including End of Life planning and mental 
health information (currently exploring Blackpear eSP) 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



NHS Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group 

Local Digital Roadmap 

Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee Date: 24 January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Ruth Atkins, 
01793 683700, communications@swindonccg.nhs.uk  

• Increase utilisation of existing national systems e.g. Summary Care Record 
(SCR), Electronic prescribing ESP, Patient online services, e-referrals 

• Need for Swindon or STP wide network / COIN as a replacement for N3 and also 
to act as an enabler for other digital projects.  

• Continuation and development of electronic transfer of urgent care information 
between GP to urgent care centres (currently using Blackpear eRA) 

• Making better use of existing systems e.g increase Docman Electronic Document 
Transfers (EDT) and install viewers for main clinical systems at key providers 

3.2 Key Local Digital Roadmap Projects update as of December 2017 

Swindon IT Steering Group has now been established, with representation 
from GWH, Swindon BC, CCG and GP IT 

Primary care IT strategy agreed with Clinical Leadership Group 

Blackpear End of Life Plans (ETTF) Project – Funding secured via ETTF, 
order now placed with Blackpear for electronic shared plans (eSP). Finalised 
electronic form/plan in conjunction with GPs, Secondary Care & local Prospect 
Hospice, currently awaiting Black pear to make form live in production so testing 
can begin. Highlight reports being sent to NHSE as part of ETTF process. 

Swindon or STP Wide COIN– Fully engaged with HSCN (N3 replacement) 
procurement, Swindon CCG Assistant Director of IT is leading STP wide HSCN 
working group. Specifications have now been finalised including requirement for 
COIN, procurement due to go live Jan 2018. NHS England bid submitted to 
create primary care wide single domain\network 

NHS Wi-Fi – Patient and Staff Guest Wi-Fi now installed in all Swindon GP 
surgeries  

e-referrals (Increasing use of national systems) – Project underway to 
increase usage of e-referral, local Optimise referral solution now 
decommissioned (1st April 2017) and replaced with local CAS services on e-
referrals. NHS England bid submitted for referral management document 
management system. 

Electronic Prescribing  (Increasing use of national systems) – Swindon CCG 
prescription ordering direct service (POD) now live providing service for 16 
practices with 2 more due in the next few months. This will improve EPS 
utilisation as practice required to use EPS to sign all prescriptions created via the 
POD.  

Page 12



NHS Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group 

Local Digital Roadmap 

Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee Date: 24 January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Ruth Atkins, 
01793 683700, communications@swindonccg.nhs.uk  

Blackpear eRA (electronic transfer of urgent care information) – New 
provider for SUCCESS urgent care centres (Medvivo) has taken over as of 1st 
April, currently working with Medvivo and Blackpear to enable out of hours 
service to electronically book into weekend SUCCESS appointments. 

Docman (Making better use of existing Systems) – Project underway to 
enable all Swindon practices to receive clinical correspondence from key 
providers via Docman EDT. NHS England bid submitted to upgrade practice to 
Docman 10 Docman 10 

3.3 Future Digital Roadmap Plans 

Work is currently taking place at STP level to review the 3 CCG’s local digital 
roadmaps / future digital requirements and develop an STP wide plan for those 
projects that have benefits to be delivered at STP level.  

It is likely that future NHS England funding will need to be signed off at STP level 
so local alignment and input into STP objectives will be key.   

4. Alternative Options 

4.1 None 

5. Implications, Diversity Impact Assessment and Risk Management 

Financial and Procurement Implications 

5.1 Reviewed at individual project level as implications will vary based on the nature 
of the project. It is likely that future NHS England funding will need to also be 
signed off at STP level so alignment and input into STP objectives will be key. 

NHS England has started running some national procurements dynamic 
purchasing schemes (DPS) to help procure some key capabilities e.g HSCN   

Legal and Human Rights Implications 

5.2 Reviewed at individual project level as implications will vary based on the nature 
of the project. Privacy Impact Assessment (PIA) completed and reviewed at the 
start of each project. 

All Other Implications (including Staff, Sustainability, Health, Rural, Crime and 
Disorder) 

5.3 Reviewed at individual project level as implications will vary based on the nature 
of the project  

Page 13



NHS Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group 

Local Digital Roadmap 

Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee Date: 24 January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Ruth Atkins, 
01793 683700, communications@swindonccg.nhs.uk  

Diversity Impact Assessment  

5.4 None. 

Risk Management 

5.5 Reviewed at individual project level as risks will vary based on the nature of the 
project. Newly created Swindon IT steering group will keep and overview of local 
digital projects. 

6. Consultees 

6.1 The Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) and Director of Law and 
Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) are consulted in respect of all reports.  

7. Background Papers 

7.1 None. 

8. Appendices 

Appendix 1 - Swindon Local Digital Roadmap (LDR) Summary January 2017.  

NB this is a public document that has been published on the CCG website at: 

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0ah
UKEwigw8v-hbzYAhXBC-
wKHWEXBKkQFggnMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.swindonccg.nhs.uk%2Find
ex.php%2Fabout-us%2Fdownload-our-plans-and-publications%2F316-swindon-
local-digital-roadmap-
summary%2Ffile&usg=AOvVaw3hKSVOVpFPF52u3oHb1pjY 

Appendix 2 – Digital Roadmap – Key Projects Update December 2017. 

 

 

 

Page 14

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0ahUKEwigw8v-hbzYAhXBC-wKHWEXBKkQFggnMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.swindonccg.nhs.uk%2Findex.php%2Fabout-us%2Fdownload-our-plans-and-publications%2F316-swindon-local-digital-roadmap-summary%2Ffile&usg=AOvVaw3hKSVOVpFPF52u3oHb1pjY
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0ahUKEwigw8v-hbzYAhXBC-wKHWEXBKkQFggnMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.swindonccg.nhs.uk%2Findex.php%2Fabout-us%2Fdownload-our-plans-and-publications%2F316-swindon-local-digital-roadmap-summary%2Ffile&usg=AOvVaw3hKSVOVpFPF52u3oHb1pjY
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0ahUKEwigw8v-hbzYAhXBC-wKHWEXBKkQFggnMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.swindonccg.nhs.uk%2Findex.php%2Fabout-us%2Fdownload-our-plans-and-publications%2F316-swindon-local-digital-roadmap-summary%2Ffile&usg=AOvVaw3hKSVOVpFPF52u3oHb1pjY
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0ahUKEwigw8v-hbzYAhXBC-wKHWEXBKkQFggnMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.swindonccg.nhs.uk%2Findex.php%2Fabout-us%2Fdownload-our-plans-and-publications%2F316-swindon-local-digital-roadmap-summary%2Ffile&usg=AOvVaw3hKSVOVpFPF52u3oHb1pjY
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0ahUKEwigw8v-hbzYAhXBC-wKHWEXBKkQFggnMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.swindonccg.nhs.uk%2Findex.php%2Fabout-us%2Fdownload-our-plans-and-publications%2F316-swindon-local-digital-roadmap-summary%2Ffile&usg=AOvVaw3hKSVOVpFPF52u3oHb1pjY
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0ahUKEwigw8v-hbzYAhXBC-wKHWEXBKkQFggnMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.swindonccg.nhs.uk%2Findex.php%2Fabout-us%2Fdownload-our-plans-and-publications%2F316-swindon-local-digital-roadmap-summary%2Ffile&usg=AOvVaw3hKSVOVpFPF52u3oHb1pjY


Our Mission: To Optimise the Health of the People of Swindon and ShrivenhamOur Mission: To Optimise the Health of the People of Swindon and Shrivenham

Swindon Local Digital 
Roadmap (LDR) Summary

January 2017

P
age 15



Our Mission: To Optimise the Health of the People of Swindon and Shrivenham

Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has a mission to optimise the Health and Wellbeing of the People of Swindon and Shrivenham in order to ensure that everyone 
lives a healthy, safe, fulfilling and independent life by delivering the following set of outcomes:

• Children and young people have a healthy start in life

• Adults and older people are living healthier and more independent lives and enjoy improved mental health, wellbeing and resilience

• Improved health outcomes are delivered for all but especially disadvantaged and vulnerable communities

• Sustainable environments are created in which thriving, connected and supportive communities can flourish

The CCG as described in its 2016/17 Operation Plan, is developing a Sustainability and Transformation Plan, together with col leagues from Wiltshire and Bath and North East 
Somerset CCG as part of a larger planning footprint. This will describe the priorities for the next five years. Our view is the most important issues facing the local health and care 
community which will map through to the local Sustainability and Transformation Plan for Swindon are as follows:

• Delivery of the Five Year Forward View aspirations

• Securing sustainable finance and actively pursuing efficiencies whilst maintain high quality, safe and effective services for people in Swindon

• Closing the health and wellbeing gap by focusing on inequalities within our community, reducing variation and shifting the balance in favour of prevention and sell care

• Delivery of all core access and quality standards for our patients

• Concluding the community services re-design work to inform our future plans for the Commissioning of community services across Swindon

• Finalising our strategy for Primary Care to provide an increased range of services and new models of care and operate at scale

Access to the required social and clinical information is essential and this forms part of our plans to deliver.

It is of key focus for us to ensure that technology is provided to support this approach and enable the sharing of data and management of clinical priorities through both clinical, 
social and community care.  This approach will include interoperability and the involvement of clinical, social and community services to ensure that technology and data 
management results in improved care within our population. 

Preface

P
age 16



Our Mission: To Optimise the Health of the People of Swindon and Shrivenham

About the Digital Roadmap (LDR)

• NHS England requirement

• The LDR takes a whole system view of approach and priorities for digital 
enablement to meet the health system’s needs

• It involves all local partners 
• Swindon CCG 
• Swindon Borough Council
• Great Western Hospitals NHS FT & Swindon Community Services
• South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
• Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership
• NHS 111

• The first stage is towards becoming ‘paper-free at the point of care’ 

• LDRs should align with the STP footprint

• The LDR is aspirational and may be revised once the funding position is 
confirmed

P
age 17



Our Mission: To Optimise the Health of the People of Swindon and Shrivenham

Vision for Digital 

Transformation

Patient

Records

Technical 
Infrastructure

Analytics & 
Decision Support

Patient & Public
facing Digital

Governance &
Readiness 

e.g. PF@PoC, sharing 

information, 

professional digital 

collaboration

e.g. Online resources 

& services, apps, 

telehealth / telecare, 

video consult

e.g. Networks, mobile, 

WiFi, devices, IT 

services standards 

e.g. Programme leadership, 

control, accountability; 

Workforce knowledge & 

skills 

e.g. Public health and 

whole system 

intelligence, data 

quality,  DS tools

The LDR takes a whole system view of approach and priorities for 

digital enablement to meet the health system’s needs

P
age 18



Our Mission: To Optimise the Health of the People of Swindon and Shrivenham

Key areas moving forward

• Develop the use of technology allowing for increased sharing of 
patient information

• Utilisation in primary care of existing national systems

• Increasing utilisation by patients to access their digital records

• Increase use of remote and assistive care technologies

• Promote the sharing of technical resources / expertise across 
organisations

• Ensure workforce is fully trained in and able to engage 
confidently with digital technology 

P
age 19



Our Mission: To Optimise the Health of the People of Swindon and Shrivenham

In
fr

as
tr

u
ct

u
re

 &
 G

o
ve

rn
an

ce

Patient facing technology Information Sharing & Paperfree

Increased use 
of SCR

Digital – 5 year Plan

Align digital road 
maps

System analysis for 
technical requirements.

Improved access to 
primary care data.

IT teams work together. 
Identify best practice.

Increased e-Discharge 
documentation (incl 

social care.

Patient portal to 
go live with initial 

basic services.

Shared patient 
record.

Internal ways of 
working are all 
virtual/digital.

End to end view of patient 
with shared patient care 

records. Patients in control.

Increased utilisation of 
patient online services.

E-consultations.

Data sharing agreements 
between organisations

Pan-CCG wide area 
network

Analytics vision

Risk stratification 
tools – wider 
deployment

Whole system 
analytics

Increased use of e-
Referrals.

Specification for shared care 
record system - procurement.

Telecare

Online repeat prescribing

Patient wi-fi

Paper-less 
consultations

Telephony

Remote 
monitoring?

Risk stratification 
tools – wider 
deployment

Sharing of info 
with social care

EOL care alerts?
Safeguarding?

E-Prescribing?

Mobile working

GP to GP system 
interoperability

Interoperability 
standards defined?

Whole system capacity & 
demand predictor

P
age 20



Our Mission: To Optimise the Health of the People of Swindon and Shrivenham

Key IT projects from the LDR
• Swindon (or wider) shared care record including End of Life planning 

and mental health information (currently exploring Blackpear eSP)

• Increase utilisation of existing national systems e.g. Summary Care 
Record (SCR), Electronic prescribing ESP, Patient online services, e-
referrals

• Need for Swindon or STP wide network / COIN as a replacement for 
N3 and also to act as an enabler for other digital projects. 

• Continuation and development of electronic transfer of urgent care 
information between GP to urgent care centres (currently using 
Blackpear eRA)

• Making better use of existing systems e.g increase Docman Electronic 
Document Transfers (EDT) and install viewers for main clinical 
systems at key providers

P
age 21



Our Mission: To Optimise the Health of the People of Swindon and Shrivenham

Benefits

• Help address the challenges in the NHS 5 year forward view

• Efficiency due to better flow of information across the health 
economy

• Patient safety, better information makes patient care safer e.g
access to allergy information

• Enable GP practice and other healthcare provides share 
resources and collaborate with each other.

P
age 22



Our Mission: To Optimise the Health of the People of Swindon and Shrivenham

Digital Roadmap 
Key Projects Update December 2017

• Swindon IT Steering Group has now been established, with representation from GWH, Swindon BC, CCG and GP IT

• Primary care IT strategy agreed with clinical leadership group

• Blackpear End of Life Plans (ETTF) Project – Funding secured via ETTF, order now placed with Blackpear for electronic shared plans (eSP). Finalised 
electronic form/plan in conjunction with GPs, Secondary Care & local Prospect Hospice, currently awaiting Black pear to make form live in production 
so testing can begin. Highlight reports being sent to NHSE as part of ETTF process.

• Swindon or STP Wide COIN– Fully engaged with HSCN (N3 replacement) procurement, Swindon CCG Assistant Director of IT is leading STP wide HSCN 
working group. Specifications have now been finalised including requirement for COIN, procurement due to go live Jan 2018. NHS England bid 
submitted to create primary care wide single domain\network

• NHS Wi-Fi – Patient and Staff Guest Wi-Fi now installed in all Swindon GP surgeries 

• e-referrals (Increasing use of national systems) – Project underway to increase usage of e-referral, local Optimise referral solution now 
decommissioned (1st April 2017) and replaced with local CAS services on e-referrals. NHS England bid submitted for referral management document 
management system.

• Electronic Prescribing  (Increasing use of national systems) – Swindon CCG prescription ordering direct service (POD) now live providing service for 
16 practices with 2 more due in the next few months. This will improve EPS utilisation as practice required to use EPS to sign all prescriptions created 
via the POD. 

• Blackpear eRA (electronic transfer of urgent care information) – New provider for SUCCESS urgent care centres (Medvivo) has taken over as of 1st

April, currently working with Medvivo and Blackpear to enable out of hours service to electronically book into weekend SUCCESS appointments.

• Docman (Making better use of existing Systems) – Project underway to enable all Swindon practices to receive clinical correspondence from key 
providers via Docman EDT. NHS England bid submitted to upgrade practice to Docman 10 Docman 10

Appendix 2

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Progress Update of Youth Participation 

Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24th January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Paul Dobson, 
Direct Dial: 01793 714042, email: swindonsteppad@aol.com 

Author: Project Manager – Swindon 10 to 18 Project (STEP) 

Wards: All 

Locality Affected: All 

Parishes Affected: All  
 

1. Purpose and Reasons 

1.1 This report provides the Children’s Health, Social Care and Education Committee 
with an update of performance and key issues relating to youth participation; 
Swindon’s Members of Youth Parliament (MYPs), Swindon Youth Council, 
Young Inspectors and Thought Tank (SEND Participation Group). 

1.2 A key purpose of Children’s Health, Social Care and Education Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee is to hold Commissioners of Children’s Health and Social 
Care Services to account. 

1.3 This work links to the following One Swindon Priorities: 

 Everyone is enjoying sports, leisure and cultural opportunities 

- Improve health and wellbeing for all by widening participation in sports, leisure 
and cultural activities 

 Living independently, protected from harm, leading healthy lives and making a 
positive contribution  

- Increased community involvement so that everyone is able to make a positive 
contribution 

2. Recommendations 

The Committee is recommended to: 

2.1 Continue to support the work of the Members of Youth Parliament, Swindon 
Youth Council, Thought Tank and the wider youth participation agenda across 
Swindon. 

2.2 Make available opportunities for children & young people to contribute to the 
work streams of Health, Adults & Children Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

2.3 Agree when a further report on progress should be brought back to the 
Committee. 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



Progress Update of Youth Participation 

Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24th January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Paul Dobson, 
Direct Dial: 01793 714042, email: swindonsteppad@aol.com 

3. Detail 

Youth Participation Proposal for 2018 / 2019 

Seeking representation from the widest range of Children & Young People 

3.1 As an organisation, we take all reasonable steps to ensure our participation work 
is as inclusive as possible and that we are capturing the voice of ‘all’ children & 
young people within Swindon. Our ethos is based on creating positive 
relationships between staff, children and young people to promote a safe, 
respectful environment. However, we understand there are areas of the youth 
population who are ‘under represented’, who also should have the opportunity to 
have a voice in the matters that affect them. 

3.2 In order to reach out to these groups, we will create a dedicated Participation 
Worker role to – in the first instance - develop work in schools with children and 
young people from diverse groups across the school population. We will ensure 
that the projects or activities are engaging, relevant and accessible to all children 
and young people regardless of race, class, gender, ability, impairment, 
sexuality, or religious beliefs. By treating each child as an individual and avoiding 
assumptions or stereotypes; and understanding that each child or young person 
may require support personalised to their needs, we can promote positive and 
honest participation and gauge the right model of ‘cconnecting’. 

3.3 Following this initial engagement process through schools, we would undertake a 
mapping exercise and identify multi-agency and partnership working 
opportunities to develop outreach work. Swindon already has many statutory and 
voluntary groups running that can provide access to a wider range of young 
people – not to necessarily recruit to the Youth Council, but to ensure the 
mechanisms are in place to capture the views of a diverse range of young people 
to make sure their views are fed into all our participation work, such as: 

 Out of the Can – LGBT  

 TaMHS & CAMHS – Mental health & Emotional Wellbeing 

 Young Carers Forum  

 Children in Care Council – Children looked after 

 Youth Offending Team – Youth Justice 

 Harbour Project – Refugees and Asylum Seekers 

3.4  We already have good working relationships across health, education & social 
care, and will ensure that we work closely with them to identify and recruit young 

Page 26



Progress Update of Youth Participation 

Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24th January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Paul Dobson, 
Direct Dial: 01793 714042, email: swindonsteppad@aol.com 

people, along with a proven track record of engaging with SEND young people 
through our Thought Tank Project and the relationships we have built with 
special schools and SRPs (Special Resource Provisions within mainstream 
schools). 

3.5 With regards to accessibility and location of activities / sessions, we will ensure 
that all venues used by the organisation are appropriate to the needs of the 
young people; and wherever possible ensure all our services and 
communications are accessible to people whose first language is not English; 
encourage understanding and knowledge of cultures other than our own through 
training and involvement within community groups. We recognise that 
communication needs to be flexible and adaptable to accommodate different 
groups.  

Ensuring the voice of Children & Young People is heard 

3.6 Historically we have had a mixed response from traditional ways of advertising 
and communication (hard copy posters, leaflets and newsletters); in some 
instances (MYP Elections) they have worked well, but in other cases (SEND 
Reforms Information) they have not been as successful.  

3.7 In the current climate, communication ‘trends’ are rapidly changing, and the key 
for us is to regularly consult with young people as to the best way to get 
information out to them. The mechanisms already exist – Text, Facebook, 
Twitter, SnapChat, Vine, and Tumblr and local website ‘The Dock’. However, we 
need to be regularly asking young people what the preferred method is. 

3.8 Many of these online ways of communication fit well and meet the instant 
gratification culture, and serve an adequate purpose for basic information. 
However, when we need to deliver a larger volume of information – surveys and 
invitation to take part in projects etc. – children and young people still respond 
well to the face to face approach. A visit to a school council or youth project 
usually creates greater interest; if the young people have the opportunity to ask 
questions and clarify details, they are more likely to engage. 

3.9 A consistent approach to delivering information is key; young people respond 
better to adults they are familiar with, so regular visits and updates are necessary 
-  it’s better to provide regular, short updates over the year rather than one long 
update ‘out of the blue’. Therefore the role of a Participation Worker, who has 
built relationships with both partner organisations and the young people, is key. 

3.10 The real issue with engaging young people has been that they are not always 
interested in information from adults – especially if they feel it is created and led 
by them, so it is about listening to their needs and making information interesting 

Page 27



Progress Update of Youth Participation 

Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24th January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Paul Dobson, 
Direct Dial: 01793 714042, email: swindonsteppad@aol.com 

and relevant, and where possible – and practical – all information needs to be 
designed by, and either approved by, or delivered by them.  

3.11 We will aim to create a working group of young people who will be responsible 
for creating regular update reports (quarterly), promotional material, and social 
media posts on the progress of participation work and its priority campaigns.  

3.12 We will support young people with any relevant training and understanding of 
online safeguarding concerns.  

Buildings links with schools, colleges and youth voluntary groups 

3.13 Currently 12 schools are represented on the Youth Council. We will continue to 
publicise our participation work to as wide an audience as possible; through use 
of posters, regular presentations from our Participation Worker, leaflets, 
newsletters, our web-site and Facebook, other social media, as well as other 
locally established information web sites: The Dock, Schools Online, and 
Mycaremysupport. We will ensure that agencies working with young people are 
aware of the flexible options available in engaging with participation.  

3.14 We will ensure that publicity materials are circulated to libraries, leisure facilities, 
youth organisations, voluntary groups and schools and use free and local press 
wherever possible to inform agencies about the participation opportunities and 
‘how to get involved’   

3.15 We will monitor involvement of young people and take all steps to ensure that all 
secondary schools, special schools, EOTAS, colleges and voluntary groups are 
represented, or are aware of how to be involved and feed into the process. If 
gaps are identified in representation, then we will focus communication on the 
appropriate organisation(s) to encourage engagement.  

3.16 We will ensure that we establish a named organisational link adult that will be 
responsible for all updates on participation activities / events, and that campaigns 
are circulated to the whole school community.  

3.17 We will ensure that secondary schools are included in all electronic 
communications about participation events / activities and campaigns and that 
any posters, leaflets and newsletters produced are circulated to the adult links. 

Celebrating and Measuring Outcomes 

3.18 Due to the diverse range, and length of involvement and engagement of children 
and young people involved in our participation activities, there is no ‘one size fits 
all’ method of measuring young people’s success, so we aim to adopt a number 
of approaches: 

Page 28



Progress Update of Youth Participation 

Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24th January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Paul Dobson, 
Direct Dial: 01793 714042, email: swindonsteppad@aol.com 

3.19 For those young people who have regular involvement in participation work (e.g. 
Members of Youth Parliament and Youth Council Members), we will be using the 
Youth Voice Wheel Log book which has been specifically designed to enable 
young people to track their personal and social development over their time 
within a Youth Voice programme. Alongside this, we have secured additional 
funding to support an accredited programme that is easily accessible to all 
involved in the participation agenda. 

3.20 For those young people involved on an ‘ad hoc’ basis, we will undertake 
individual feedback to understand not only how they feel about their contribution 
and any outcomes, but also on how we as an organisation have done with 
regards to delivery. Evaluation forms will be used or adapted from Evaluating 
Participation Work: The Toolkit. 

3.21 Alongside the personal development aspect, the key indicator of successful 
youth participation is that young people can see, or understand that their 
contribution has made a difference (however large or small). Not only does this 
encourage young people to remain engaged and promote it with their peers, but 
it also evidences that participation leads to change within the wider community. 

3.22 To celebrate achievements, we would hope to hold an annual ‘event’ similar to 
the Children in Care awards, where young peoples’ contributions would be 
recognised, and rewarded. 

Voices are heard by local ‘decision makers’ 

3.23 Project Manager sits on a several strategic groups within the local authority; 
ensuring that not only do we have a comprehensive understanding of local need 
that is reflected in the delivery of our service, but current work and priority 
campaigns are communicated to decision makers. Groups currently involved in, 
include: 

• Children's Health, Social Care and Education Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (Incl. Young Person representation) 

• SEND – Workstream 2: participation and Engagement group 

• SEND – Strategic Board 

• Transition Planning Meetings 

• Great Western Hospital - CQUIN Transitions and Engagement group 

 

Page 29



Progress Update of Youth Participation 

Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24th January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Paul Dobson, 
Direct Dial: 01793 714042, email: swindonsteppad@aol.com 

3.24 Partnership-working and discussions are currently taking place with Director of 
Children’s Services, Senior Public Health Manager, Head of Transitions – Adult 
Social Care and LSCB Strategic Manager. 

3.25 We will aim to create a working group of young people who will be responsible 
for creating regular update reports (quarterly), promotional material, and social 
media posts on the progress of participation work and its priority campaigns 
which will be disseminated to decision makers. 

3.26 Updates are provided when requested for inclusion in Lead Members Bulletin, 
and we are planning on including our quarterly update on Schools Online. 

3.27 Annual meetings (which we hope to increase in frequency) take place with local 
MPs to make them aware of current campaigns, and possible areas for joint 
working. 

3.28 Local priorities and the annual ‘Make Your Mark’ ballot results are fed into the 
regional and national United Kingdom Youth Parliament priorities. 

4. Alternative Options 

4.1 None 

5. Implications, Diversity Impact Assessment and Risk Management 

Financial and Procurement Implications 

5.1 There are no financial or procurement implications arising from this report. 

Legal and Human Rights Implications 

5.2 There are no direct legal or human rights implications arising from this report. 

All Other Implications (including Staff, Sustainability, Health, Rural, Crime and 
Disorder) 

5.3 There are no implications arising from this report. 

Diversity Impact Assessment  

5.4 A diversity risk assessment is not required as this is an ongoing service.   

Risk Management 

5.5 A risk assessment has not been completed as this report is not recommending a 
specific amendment to a policy or strategy. 

Page 30



Progress Update of Youth Participation 

Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24th January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Paul Dobson, 
Direct Dial: 01793 714042, email: swindonsteppad@aol.com 

6. Consultees 

6.1 The Board Director, Resources (Section 151 Officer) and Director of Law and 
Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) are consulted in respect of all reports.  

7. Background Papers 

7.1 None 

8. Appendices 

8.1 None. 

 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Education Standards – Update 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24

th
 January 2018 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Peter Nathan, 
01793 463067, pnathan@swindon.gov.uk. 

Author: Director of Children’s Services 

Wards: All Wards 

Locality Affected: All Locality Areas 

Parishes Affected: All Parish Areas  
 

1. Purpose and Reasons 

1.1 This report sets out to show how well Swindon children and young people have 
achieved in their public assessments in primary and secondary schools. It 
highlights where there have been improvements in performance and where there 
have been declines. These are measured against national averages when 
available. It is also provides information on behaviour in terms of fixed term and 
permanent exclusions which can be an indicator of pupil and school 
performance. The report will review the work of the Swindon Challenge Board 
which has now been in place since March 2017. 

1.2 The report is necessary to ensure that full information on how children and young 
people achieve, is available in the public domain and is open to scrutiny.  It is 
also provides the opportunity to review the steps being taken to support school 
improvement within the Borough and will provide an opportunity to monitor the 
impact of the “Swindon Challenge” initiative.  

1.3 The performance of pupils in Swindon schools is a key element of corporate 
targets which includes the performance of pupils in their primary assessments, 
their GCSE exams and their post 16 assessments at A-level and in vocational 
qualifications. It is also one of the four key priorities in the Vision for Swindon 
(2015-30) to improve education provision and outcomes for children and young 
people. 

1.4 This report links directly to Priority 2 of the Council’s vision for 2030 “To offer 
educational opportunities that lead to the right skills and the right jobs in the right 
places”. 

2. Recommendations 

The Committee is recommended to: 

2.1 To note the contents of the report and the work being undertaken to improve 
educational outcomes. 

3. Detail 

3.1 There are a number of ways to measure educational outcomes across schools 
which help us to assess the quality of provision. These include: 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



Education Standards – Update 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24

th
 January 2018 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Peter Nathan, 
01793 463067, pnathan@swindon.gov.uk. 

 Attainment (statutory assessments and qualifications obtained by young 
people) and progress 

 Attendance and exclusions in Swindon schools 

 Ofsted inspection outcomes 

3.2 The appendices included with this report provide a range of detailed information 
for primary and secondary education across Swindon. It should be noted that 
some of the information provided below is “unvalidated” and subject to change, 
however it is unlikely to change significantly.  Validated data for secondary 
schools for example is expected to be published early in 2018. The term 
‘disadvantaged pupil’ is used frequently below and in the attached appendices.  It 
refers to pupils who are or have been eligible for (FSM) free school meals in the 
past six years, looked after children or children adopted from care. 

3.3 Primary outcomes have improved significantly this year with outcomes at Key 
Stage 2 at the expected level being the most improved in the country. Phonics 
outcomes are now at the national average and a letter has been received from 
Nick Gibb, Minister of State for School Standards congratulating Swindon on 
having one of the highest rates of improvement in the country. Secondary 
outcomes overall have not improved although there has been an improvement in 
the number of schools judged good or outstanding. There has also been an 
overall  decline in A-level performance although all providers of post 16 education 
are graded by Ofsted as good or outstanding including Swindon’s two FE 
colleges. 

4. Primary – Early years, Key Stage 1 & Key Stage 2 

4.1 In the Early Years Foundation Stage, outcomes have improved over the previous 
year but the improvement has been slightly less than that nationally.  In Swindon, 
of the 3,111 children assessed, 69.8% (68.8% in 2016) of children reached 
expected levels (a good level of development) against a national average of  
70.7% (69.3% in 2017). Girls attain higher than boys by 13.8% but the difference 
has been narrowing over the past three years and difference in attainment is now 
in line with the national difference in achievement. Children on free school meals 
attain lower than other children with 19% (17% in 2016) fewer pupils attaining a 
good level of development against non-FSM children (national average gap 
17%). Children with special educational needs attain well below their peers with 
55% (48% in 2016) fewer pupils reaching a good level of development – the 
national gap being 50%. 

4.2 Phonics tests are taken by pupils at the end of Year 1.  Results improved by 5% 
over 2016 with 81% reaching the required standard which is in line with the 
national average of 81%. As noted earlier, this is one of the largest increases in 

Page 34



Education Standards – Update 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24

th
 January 2018 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Peter Nathan, 
01793 463067, pnathan@swindon.gov.uk. 

performance in the country and is the fifth year in a row that outcomes have 
improved (they remained at the same level nationally last year). Girls attain 8% 
higher than boys which is a similar gap to the national achievement gap. 
Disadvantaged pupils attain 19% below non-disadvantaged pupils which is a 
larger gap than the national average by 4%. There is no gap in achievement 
between EAL pupils and non-EAL pupils. SEND pupils attain well below their non 
SEN peers with for example pupils on SEN support achieving a pass rate of 
42%. Overall, Swindon is now ranked 75th nationally (out of 152 local authorities) 
and 5th in the South-West (out of 15).  

4.3 The pupils who don’t pass at the end of Year 1 retake the test in Year 2 and 
performance is also in line with the national average. By the end of Year 2, 92% 
of pupils reach the required standard against a national average of 92% which 
ranks Swindon at 49th in the country and 5th in the South-West. The focus on 
improving phonics outcomes has clearly had an impact in the borough. Swindon 
Challenge funding has provided monies for a Phonics champions programme 
with schools supporting each other with good practice and courses have been 
run with the Swindon Teaching School to improve practice.  

4.4 KEY STAGE 1 - Pupils are assessed at the end of Key Stage 1 (end of Year 2) 
in reading, writing and mathematics. The method of measuring attainment 
changed two years ago with levels no longer being used. The new measures are 
the “expected standard” and “greater depth”.  In 2017, outcomes in reading, 
writing and mathematics were the highest they have been for many years with 
virtually all results being in line with or above the national average. In reading, 
76% of children reached the expected standard in reading (an improvement of 
5%) which is now in line with the national average with Swindon being ranked 
66th against other local authorities.. 26% reached the higher standard of greater 
depth in reading (also an increase of 5%) against a national average of 25% 
which was a rank of 60th against other local authorities. In writing, 71% of pupils 
attained the expected standard (an improvement of 8%) against a national 
average of 68% which was in the top quartile of local authorities at 36th place.. 
21% attained greater depth (an improvement of 3%) against a national average 
of 16% which was a ranking of 59th.  In mathematics, 77% achieved the 
expected standard (an improvement of 7%) against a national average of 75% 
which was 44th against other local authorities whilst 20% achieved greater depth, 
an improvement of 7% (76th ranked).  Disadvantaged pupils achieved less well 
than other pupils in all subject areas by about 16% but the gap to the national 
average was narrower than in other local authorities across the country. Girls 
achieve higher than boys particularly in writing and also in reading however the 
gap is smaller than the national average. SEND pupils overall perform well below 
their non-SEN peers with the attainment gap being similar to the national 
average. In 2016 South-West Ofsted highlighted outcomes in phonics and in 
reading as being areas that needed to improve and this has happened. This has 

Page 35



Education Standards – Update 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24

th
 January 2018 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Peter Nathan, 
01793 463067, pnathan@swindon.gov.uk. 

been because of the focus primary schools have had on improving outcomes 
working together targeting assessment practice with backing from Swindon 
Challenge resources and Teaching School support. 

4.5 KEY STAGE 2 - Pupils are assessed at the end of their primary education (Key 
Stage 2) in Year 6 in reading, writing, mathematics and GPS (grammar, 
punctuation and spelling). The method of assessment changed 2 years ago as 
with Key Stage 1 with levels of attainment not being used and there has been a 
significant upgrading of the level of expectation. This is also reflected in the new 
primary curriculum. Pupils are now assessed as being at the expected level or at 
greater depth. The assessments are tested by exam, in all subjects bar writing 
which is teacher assessed.  As was noted previously, there has been a 
considerable improvement in attainment with Swindon having the largest 
improvement for pupils reaching the expected level for reading, writing and 
mathematics in the country (although from a low baseline). 62% of pupils 
reached the expected standard in all three subjects which is in line with the 
national average and ranks the local authority in 65th place against other local 
authorities. In reading, 73% of pupils attained at the expected standard in reading 
(national average was 72%) which was 6th highest in the South-West and the 59th 
rank nationally. 76% attained the expected standard for mathematics (national 
average was 75%) which was 2nd highest in the South-West and 60th nationally 
and 79% attained the expected standard for GPS (national average was 78%) 
which was the highest in the South-West and 51st nationally.  In writing, 77% of 
pupils were assessed by teachers as meeting the expected standard (a big 
improvement of 17% over 2016) the same as the national average. The local 
authority came in for much criticism last year because of the relatively low 
outcomes in the new assessments particularly in writing – it was said at the time 
that the assessments had been interpreted differently in different local authorities 
and that those outcomes were not a true reflection of pupils’ abilities. This has 
proved to be the case with the much improved outcomes this year although of 
course there is still room for improvement. Much praise needs to go to 
headteachers and their staff for the resilience shown despite the criticism from 
regional Ofsted and others. 

4.6 In terms of greater depth (the higher level), 25% achieved greater depth in 
reading (national average – 25%) which was 10th highest in the South-West and 
63rd nationally. In mathematics, 20% attained greater depth (national average – 
23%) which was 8th highest in the South-West and 104th nationally. In GPS, 31% 
attained greater depth (national average 31%) which was 5th highest in the 
South-West and 69th nationally. In teacher assessed writing, 16% achieved 
greater depth a large improvement of 9% against a national average of 18% 
(national improvement of 3%). This ranked Swindon 11th in the South-West and 
108th nationally. The focus for primary schools this year as discussed with 
headteachers and the Swindon Challenge board is improving outcomes at 

Page 36



Education Standards – Update 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24

th
 January 2018 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Peter Nathan, 
01793 463067, pnathan@swindon.gov.uk. 

greater depth whilst continuing the improvement at the expected level across all 
subjects. 

4.7 Disadvantaged pupils’ attainment is considerably lower than for other pupils, with 
the gap being similar to the national average. This attainment gap varies 
between 14% in GPS to 10% in reading. At “greater depth”, the gap is narrower 
than the national average for reading between disadvantaged and other pupils 
but similar for other subjects 

4.8 Pupil progress measures in primary schools also changed 2 years ago to a new 
value added measure which looks at the progress all pupils make in a school. 
This is explained in detail in a DfE publication “Primary school accountability in 
2016” available on the DfE website. This publication also outlined the new floor 
standards for primary schools which relate to attainment and progress. For 
attainment, the measure is for 65% or more pupils to meet the expected standard 
in reading, writing and mathematics – it is interesting to note that the floor 
standard is 3% above the national average which means the majority of schools 
in the country are below this aspect of the floor standard. If a school does not 
meet the floor standard for attainment, it needs to be above the floor standard for 
progress from Key stage 1 to Key stage 2 for each subject.  This was set as 
minus 5.0 for reading, minus 5.0 for mathematics and minus 7.0 for writing. In 
2017, two Swindon primary schools fell below the floor standard (a reduction 
from 6 in 2016). One of these was inspected in 2017 and received a “good” 
outcome. The other school was judged as “inadequate” by Ofsted and is in the 
process of becoming of an academy. 
 

4.9 In Swindon, pupil progress in reading was minus 0.2 (-0.4 in 2016), for 
mathematics minus 0.6 (-0.5 in 2016) and for writing minus 0.7 (-3.6). This 
means that overall progress outcomes are below the national average for all 
subjects with a ranking of 101st for reading, 127th for writing and 112th for 
mathematics against other local authorities. This is clearly a concern. Closer 
analysis of schools’ progress data, shows that the overall progress data is 
impacted on by 3 large (3 form entry) primary schools in particular whose pupil 
progress scores were relatively low. These schools are clearly a focus for 
support this year. 

4.10 Children Looked After, are a focus nationally and in the South West because of 
their low overall achievement compared to other children.  In Swindon, 8 Children 
Looked After (looked after for 12 months+ as at 31st March 2017) were assessed 
at the end of Year 6 and their attainment as a group is well below other pupils. 
25% met or exceeded the expected level in reading, writing and mathematics. 
National comparison data is not yet available for 2016/17. Because of the small 
size of the cohort, the data provided has little statistical significance. Specific 

Page 37



Education Standards – Update 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24

th
 January 2018 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Peter Nathan, 
01793 463067, pnathan@swindon.gov.uk. 

issues relating to achievement of these pupils is discussed in more depth at the 
Corporate Parenting Board and at the Virtual School Management Committee. 

4.11 The attainment of pupils with SEND is much lower than their non-SEND peers. 
The gap though is similar to the national with SEND pupils with EHCPs gap 
being 66% (national gap is 63%) and for SEND support it is 52% (national gap is 
50%).The progress of pupils with SEN has improved over 2016 overall 
particularly in writing but was generally lower in 2017 in Swindon schools than 
national averages. In reading, average “SEND support” pupil progress was minus 
1.0 against a national average of minus 1.3 and so better than the national 
average: in mathematics it was minus 1.9 against a national average of minus 
1.1 and in writing it was minus 3.4 (-7.4 in 2016)) with a national average of  
minus 2.2.  Information on these pupils needs to be treated with some caution, 
however, as there is no nationally moderated system in place for special needs. 
This means that a pupil in one local authority could be defined as special needs, 
whilst in another local authority they would not. Nevertheless, improving pupil 
progress for SEN pupils is an important concern to be addressed by schools. 

4.12 In Swindon, 29 primary school academies and 28 maintained primary schools 
had pupils engaged in the Key Stage 2 assessments.  Academy schools are 
independent state funded schools with direct accountability to the DfE. The data 
on the performance of the two groups of schools is as follows: community 
schools outperformed academies at the expected level in reading (74.6% of 
pupils attaining the expected level against 73.8%) and in writing (78.2% against 
77.8%) but not in mathematics (75% against 79.4%). In terms of pupil progress, 
community schools outperformed academy schools in terms of reading (+ 0.3 
against -0.42), and in writing (-0.16 against -1.12) but not in mathematics (-0.56 
against -0.34). In terms of Ofsted inspection data, 6 primary schools are currently 
graded as requires improvement or inadequate. Of these, 4 are academies (King 
William St C of E, St Catherine’s RC, Southfield Juniors and Holy Cross RC) and 
two are community schools (Grange Juniors and Bridlewood). The Local 
Authority can work with all schools in Swindon but Academies have to buy in 
central support for school improvement.  

4.13 In terms of Ofsted inspection outcomes overall for primary schools, 90% of 
schools in Swindon are currently judged to be good or better which is in line with 
the national average. For inspections of early years settings, there is currently 
only one setting that is RI meaning that 98% of settings are good or better which 
is higher than the national average (93%). Swindon has six special schools and 
of these four are rated as good or outstanding (with Uplands retaining its 
outstanding grading this year), one is graded as RI and one as inadequate.  

At the end of Key Stage 2 in 2017, approximately 16% of pupils from Swindon 
primary schools leave the Borough to be educated at other schools, mostly in 

Page 38



Education Standards – Update 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24

th
 January 2018 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Peter Nathan, 
01793 463067, pnathan@swindon.gov.uk. 

neighbouring local authorities. Of these pupils 10% are eligible for pupil premium 
as against 29% who stay in Swindon: 11% who leave have Special Educational 
Needs (SEN) against 20% who stay.  In terms of outcomes, 85% of pupils who 
left met the expected standard in reading against 71% who stayed. 87% who left 
met the expected standard in mathematics against 74% who stayed. 78% of 
children leaving meet the expected standard (reading, writing and maths) 
compared to 59% of those who stay. 19% of those leaving meet the higher 
standard compared to 6% of those who stay.  Of all pupils meeting the higher 
standard at KS2, 38% leave the borough. The average progress scores for 
Reading, Writing and Maths across pupils who left were all positive, against 
negative average scores for those who stayed. This indicates that the cohort of 
pupils entering Swindon secondary schools is different to that leaving Year 6 in 
primary.”  

5. Secondary School & Post 16 outcomes 

5.1 The systems used for secondary school GCSE assessments are in the process 
of a 3 year change with the headline indicators used by the DfE and Ofsted also 
changing this year for measuring secondary school performance (NB – validated 
data is not yet available and is due to be published in January 2017. Data used in 
this report is unvalidated). A numbering system was introduced for English and 
Mathematics GCSE this year (using numbers from one to nine with nine being 
the highest replacing the previous A*-G system).  This will be introduced for most 
other subjects next year. The numbering system does not fully match the 
previous system but a grade four is a “standard pass” with a grade five being a 
strong pass. The grade nine is designed to recognise very high attainment. It is 
thus quite difficult to relate outcomes in 2017 to previous years. Furthermore, 
when looking at the results below, feedback from headteachers has indicated 
that there have been a large number of remarks and also inaccuracies in terms 
of pupils on roll or not on roll which could impact on the validated data. 

5.2 The headline data used for measuring secondary school performance is 
published in the DfE publication “Secondary Accountability Measures” 
(November 2017). These include Attainment 8 and Progress 8 which measure 
performance in the best 8 subjects a pupil takes at GCSE with double weightings 
available for English and mathematics. In addition, there are measures for the 
proportion of pupils who enter the English Baccalaureate (EBACC - English, 
mathematics, science, a humanities subject and a foreign language) and who 
achieve passes in all these subjects. The final headline measure is for pupil 
destinations into education and employment. Performance information on 
schools also includes other information such as on level 4 passes as these are 
more or less equivalent to previous passes at GCSE level.  

Page 39



Education Standards – Update 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24

th
 January 2018 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Peter Nathan, 
01793 463067, pnathan@swindon.gov.uk. 

5.3 For the level four standard pass in English and mathematics, 59% achieved this 
level against a national average of 64%. This is approximately equivalent to a 2% 
drop at this level for Swindon schools and ranks Swindon at 114th against other 
local authorities. For the level five strong pass rate which is a headline indicator, 
35% of pupils attained this level in English and mathematics against a national 
average of 42% and this ranks Swindon at 128th.  

5.4 The proportion of pupils taking the EBACC nationally dropped from 40% to 38% 
last year and in Swindon only 29% of pupils took the range of academic 
qualifications. Only 13% of Swindon pupils achieved the EBACC against 21% 
nationally. The evidence suggests that this is not a popular measure with pupils 
and schools. This may be because of the considerable literacy demands of 
humanities subjects and the unpopularity of studying foreign languages (as well 
as the lack of languages teachers for example). 

5.5 Swindon’s Attainment 8 outcome was 42.5 against a national average of 46.1 
which ranked Swindon at 137 (out of 152) local authorities. Progress 8 outcomes 
were at minus 0.26 which ranked Swindon at 134th against other local authorities. 
These figures are clearly a cause for concern and improving secondary 
outcomes is a major focus for the Swindon Challenge initiative. Swindon’s 
achievement data has also been affected by some school’s curricula which did 
not fit into the new assessment systems; and also by the rules on “first entry” 
where a pupil’s first attempt at a subject may not be counted. In terms of pupil 
progress, two Swindon schools achieved a positive above average Progress 8 
score, 2 schools were in line with national progress levels, 6 were below and 2 
schools may be below the national floor target (tbc). 

5.6 In terms of Ofsted inspection gradings, 78% of secondary schools are now 
graded as good or better which is just below the national average. The current 
system for inspection gradings does mean though that if a school academizes or 
joins a different academy chain, it loses its previous grading as it officially 
becomes a new school. In Swindon this has affected Kingsdown who have joined 
the River Learning Trust: Lawn Manor who have joined the Royal Wotton Bassett 
Trust and Swindon UTC who have joined ACTIVATE. It is also likely to affect 
Dorcan Academy who may join The Excalibur Trust, Abbey Park who are likely to 
join the Park Academy Trust and also St Luke’s who may join the White Horse 
Federation. The joining of Swindon schools to join successful academy trusts is a 
key part of the strategy to raise standards in borough schools. It should also be 
noted that EOTAS (Education Otherwise than at School) was inspected recently 
and achieved a good outcome. This service covers the pupil referral unit, the 
Riverside Centre, the Hospital School and the Marlborough House NHS facility. 

5.7 Post 16 education is provided by six VI Forms and two FE colleges. New College 
is the main provider of A-level course with 1032 pupils taking their examinations 

Page 40



Education Standards – Update 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24

th
 January 2018 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Peter Nathan, 
01793 463067, pnathan@swindon.gov.uk. 

out of a total of 1,381 in Swindon. The schools with the larger VI Forms are 
Ridgeway, Commonweal, Lydiard Park and St Josephs. All of these providers 
are judged at least good by Ofsted. The average points score per A-level entry 
(APS) is 25.07 as against a national average of 30.85 which ranks Swindon at 
140th in the country against other local authorities. Pupil progress data is not yet 
available but in previous years the main provider New College has been just 
above the national average. The difference between attainment and progress 
may be accounted for by pupils being accepted onto courses with relatively low 
GCSE results who make good progress but not enough to obtain the higher 
grades. The fact that not as many pupils obtain higher grades affects the 
numbers moving into higher education. Only 33% of young people move on to 
higher education (one of the lowest proportions in the country) against a national 
average of 48%. Many pupils with higher grades at GCSE attend other colleges 
outside Swindon such as Cirencester VI Form College (two thirds of pupils at this 
college are from Swindon).  

5.8 An initiative in place to encourage more Swindon pupils to attend Higher 
Education has been launched by Oxford Brooks University in collaboration with 
Swindon entitled Study Higher. An initial investment of £1.2 million is being used 
to employ three Higher Education Learning Officers (HELOs) to work with 
schools and young people. Part of this investment includes a further project 
called “Fantastic Futures” working with Villiers Park, an organisation who have 
worked with local schools and have a strong track record in motivating young 
people to move into higher education. These projects are in place for an initial 
two years which may be extended to four years.  

5.9 Further information on post 16 outcomes will be available later in the year when 
validated information is published. This includes information on vocational 
courses as well validated A-level data. 

6. Exclusions and Attendance 

6.1  There was a considerable increase in the number of exclusions in both primary 
and particularly in the secondary phase in 2016/17 although there has been a 
sign of a reduction in incidents in the first two terms of 2017/18. The number of 
permanent exclusions (PEX) has given a particular cause for concern at 
secondary level putting a considerable strain on services to support young 
people excluded from school. Because of this and also because of changes to 
the organisation and funding of EOTAS, an Alternative Provision Working Group 
has been set up to review borough practice and protocols. This is in the process 
of agreeing a number of actions to improve practice in agreement with schools. 

6.2 There was an increase in the number of permanent exclusions from primary 
schools from six in 2015/16 to thirteen in 2016/17. This included five children in 
Key Stage 1 with three in Reception classes. This has put a particular strain on 

Page 41



Education Standards – Update 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24

th
 January 2018 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Peter Nathan, 
01793 463067, pnathan@swindon.gov.uk. 

provision with Nylands Campus being unable to provide for the numbers of pupils 
so commissioned alternative provision had to be provided. A recommendation 
from the Alternative Provision working group is to set up a Fair Access Panel for 
primary schools to ensure that the right decisions are made in relation to the 
placement of pupils excluded from school. 

6.3 There was more of a mixed picture with primary fixed term exclusions. The 
number of pupils who received fixed term exclusions reduced markedly from 203 
to 142 but the actual number of days of exclusion increased from 489 to 609. Of 
the actual 345 incidences of exclusion, one school was responsible for 134 of 
these (nearly 40%). Regular meetings have been held with this school to try to 
seek solutions to this concern. 

6.4 In the secondary phase (excluding special schools), there were 40 PEXs (18 in 
2015/16) and 35 withdrawn PEXs (24 in 2015/16) which was a considerable 
increase on the previous year. This is reflective of a national pattern of an 
increase in permanent exclusions across the country although Swindon’s 
increase appears to be greater than most. The main reasons for permanent 
exclusions are persistent and disruptive behaviour, verbal abuse and physical 
assault. This has put considerable pressure on the borough’s Fair Access Panel 
and the services that the borough provides for excluded pupils. A protocol is in 
the process of being agreed with schools currently including a payment system 
for exclusions. Swindon Challenge is also funding a research project with the 
Mulberry Bush special school (an outstanding special school near Witney in 
Oxfordshire) to work with two secondary schools to analyse positive approaches 
to reduce exclusions. In addition, there is a much stronger process in place for 
reintegrating pupils who are excluded back into mainstream schooling through 
the Pupil Referral Unit. In terms one and two of the new year 2017/18, it is 
encouraging to see that the number of permanent exclusions is down by a third. 

6.5 In terms of fixed term exclusions (FTE) in the secondary phase, there were 1359 
FTEs (959 in 2015/16) involving 646 pupils (512 in 2015/16). This is a 42% 
increase in the number of FTEs. Seven schools have seen a rise in their FTE 
numbers. When these increases were discussed at the Swindon Challenge 
Board, reasons put forward were for example the reduction in pastoral staff in 
schools (due to funding pressures) combined with a higher expectation of 
behaviour. External pressures from Ofsted and also of the new progress 
performance measures were also cited. These reasons also apply to permanent 
exclusions. 

6.6 There have been no permanent exclusions in special schools for a number of 
years. The number of FTEs last year was 152 (306 in 2015/16) involving 51 
pupils (75 in 2015/16). The main reason for the reduction came from the impact 
of the work carried out at St Luke’s School in the partnership with Beckmead 

Page 42



Education Standards – Update 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24

th
 January 2018 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Peter Nathan, 
01793 463067, pnathan@swindon.gov.uk. 

School which so a very large drop in FTEs. There has also been a reduction in 
the numbers of FTEs in EOTAS (Education Otherwise than at School) 
particularly at the Pupil Referral Unit currently based in Stratton. The number of 
FTEs has reduced to 263 from 329 in the previous year due to changing practice. 

6.7 In 2015/16 overall absence in Swindon was below or in line with national and 
statistical neighbours. In 2016/17 this has changed and Swindon absence is 
higher than these comparators. Absence in Swindon primary schools was at 
3.9% in 2016/17 (3.7% in 2015/16) against a national average of 4.0%. In 
secondary schools, it was at 5.4% (4.9% in 2015/16) against a national average 
of 5.2%. Persistent absence in Swindon primary schools has increased 0.4% 
compared to 2015/16 but is still lower than the national average. Persistent 
absence in Swindon secondary schools remains higher than the national average 
by 1.9%.  

7. The Swindon Challenge Initiative 

7.1 The Swindon Challenge initiative was agreed by Cabinet in December 2016. Its 
purpose is to raise standards in education in Swindon bringing all partners 
together in this endeavour. It involves councillors including the leader of the 
council, headteachers, school governors, the office of the Regional 
Commissioner, Swindon Teaching Schools, council officers including the Chief 
Executive and local business. It has an independent chair in order to bring 
external scrutiny to the Challenge board. Swindon Challenge is funded with 
£600,000 over three years to support a number of programmes to raise 
achievement and it also has the function of supporting and holding to account 
other programmes impacting on education in the borough. Its first meeting took 
place in March 2017 and it has since had three further meetings including a data 
workshop. 

7.2 It is a little early to assess the impact of the Challenge initiative but it has already 
been able to make a direct contribution to the improvement in primary standards. 
Funding was put aside to support the Phonics and Writing Champions 
programmes (identifying and sharing good practice) developed with primary 
headteachers and also to support collaborative work on understanding and 
improving assessment. This is continuing this year with the expansion of the 
programme to include mathematics and reading champions. There is also 
additional funding for targeted work with key schools in need of support. In 
addition, through the new School Improvement Fund, Swindon primary schools 
are involved with the Excalibur teaching school in a project to further improve 
phonics outcomes. 

7.3 In collaboration with secondary school headteachers, a number of initiatives have 
been funded. These include the following; 

Page 43



Education Standards – Update 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24

th
 January 2018 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Peter Nathan, 
01793 463067, pnathan@swindon.gov.uk. 

 Membership of all secondary schools in PIXL (partners in excellence) – a 
national secondary school improvement organisation. 

 All schools are engaged with the National Education Trust in analysis of 
school provision and practice focusing on disadvantaged pupils. 

 Nine mostly collaborative projects are being funded after a bidding 
process was engaged in. For example, Swindon Academy are leading a 
collaborative project focusing on strategies such as “Teach Like a 
Champion” involving seven schools. New College are being supported to 
run additional Easter revision classes for pupils – over 200 pupils attended 
last year. A number of other schools have targeted programmes focusing 
on core subjects.  

 A number of schools have had mathematics reviews working with the 
Cabot Federation from Bristol which may lead to additional funding coming 
through the School Improvement Fund to support further improvement 
work. 

The Challenge Board will monitor the progress of the projects closely and 
have appointed project sponsors from the board to each project. The 
impact of the projects and the recent changes to secondary school 
organisation in a number of schools, may take a little time to impact. The 
expectation is though that over time standards will improve. 

7.4 The Challenge Board is also supporting the development of the “Swindon: A 
Learning Town” project based on an idea from Bristol which is a UNESCO 
Learning City. One of the key aims of the Learning Town idea to engage the 
whole community in raising the profile of education in Swindon in order to raise 
aspirations. This may include a series of borough wide events for example 
focusing on reading, science and technology or mathematics. This will also link in 
with the Swindon National Literacy Trust Hub being sponsored by WH Smith. 
The first meeting of the working group is planned for this January.   

8. Implications, Diversity Impact Assessment and Risk Management 

Financial and Procurement Implications 

8.1 There are no financial and procurement implications. 

Legal and Human Rights Implications 

8.2 There are no legal or human rights implications. 

Page 44



Education Standards – Update 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee          Date: 24

th
 January 2018 

 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Peter Nathan, 
01793 463067, pnathan@swindon.gov.uk. 

All Other Implications (including Staff, Sustainability, Health, Rural, Crime and 
Disorder) 

8.3 There are no other implications. 

Diversity Impact Assessment  

8.4 A Diversity Impact Assessment has not been completed for this report because 
this is an update on outcomes and progress.    

Risk Management 

8.5 A risk assessment has not been completed, as this report is not recommending a 
specific amendment to a policy or strategy. 

9. Consultees 

9.1 The Board Director, Resources (Section 151 Officer) and Director of Law and 
Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) are consulted in respect of all reports.  

10. Background Papers 

10.1 There are no background papers. 

11. Appendices 

11.1 Overview of school outcomes at all key stages (provisional). This appendix 
includes Key Stage 5 and exclusions data. 

11.2 Early Years Foundation Stage – Local Authority Level – All indicators 

11.3 Phonics outcomes – 2017 Local Authority Level 

11.4 Key Stage 1 2017 Local Authority level indicators  

11.5 Validated Key Stage 2 level main indicators 

11.6 Swindon Challenge Board membership 

11.7 Swindon Challenge Board Terms of Reference 

 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Swindon Challenge - Educational Attainment, Exclusions and Inspections Outcomes in Swindon

All 2017 data is strictly provisional, unless otherwise noted

2014 2015 2016 2017 2014 2015 2016 2017

Swindon 73% 75% 76% 81% 88% 90% 91% 92%

England 74% 77% 81% 81% 89% 90% 91% 92%

Rank 92 106 143 75 85 75 81 49

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

Swindon 71% 76% 63% 71% 69% 77% 56% 66% 78% 83%

England 74% 76% 65% 68% 73% 75% 60% 64% 82% 83%

Rank 116 66 104 36 114 44 124 65

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

Swindon 21% 26% 11% 17% 13% 20% 7% 11%

England 24% 25% 13% 16% 18% 21% 9% 11%

Rank 109 60 96 59 136 76

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

Swindon 67% 72% 60% 76% 70% 76% 73% 78% 62% 80% 46% 61%

England 66% 71% 74% 76% 70% 75% 73% 77% 81% 82% 53% 61%

Rank 64 63 149 67 75 55 75 57 151 93 144 66

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

Swindon 18% 25% 7% 16% 15% 20% 25% 30% 3% 8%

England 19% 25% 15% 18% 17% 23% 22% 31% 5% 9%

Rank 79 57 145 105 83 99 38 72 129 73

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

Swindon 103 104 103 106 104 104

England 103 104 103 106 104 104

3% Widening the gap to national figure

0% Maintaining the gap to national figure

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 -1% Closing the gap to national fig. / no gap

Swindon -0.3 -0.2 -3.6 -0.7 -0.4 -0.6 Better/in line with national average

England 0 0 0 0 0 0 Below national average

Rank 106 TBC 151 TBC 101 TBC rank Bottom 25% of 152 LAs

2016 2017 2016 2017

Swindon 35% 13%

England 42% 21%

Rank 128 139

2014 2015 2016 2017 2014 2015 2016 2017 2014 2015 2016 2017

Swindon 19% 20% 17% 15% 36% 37% 33% 29% 57% 55% 61% 59%

England 24% 24% 25% 24% 39% 39% 40% 38% 59% 60% 63% 64%

Rank 124 116 134 138 97 94 118 128 101 117 100 114

Notes:

1 Dashed vertical lines used to signify figures not directly comparable with the previous year. Exercise caution.

2 Ranks are with respect to 152 England LAs.  Isles of Scilly and City of London may be excluded due to suppressed (or absence of) data.

3 A negative progress score implies on average pupils have progressed less than expected, given their prior attainment.

4 Performance in English & Maths at 5+ is a headline performance measure.  Performance at 4+ is a measure comparable to the previous C grade. This carries through to the Ebacc.

R+W+M KS1 data is provisional with no 

revised data available. 2017 

official LA/national figures and 

rankings expected late October 

2017 due to DfE data error.

5-9  in English & 

Maths

% achieving EBacc 

at C/5+

KS2 data for 2017 is provisional, with 

revised data available December 2017. 

2016 was first year under new system.

N/A

Reading - Maths

% pupils achieving required standard in Phonics 

% entering English Baccalaureate

GPS

A*-C or 4-9 (2017-)  in English & 

Maths

Phonics data is always considered 

provisional. No revised data is 

available. Take caution 

interpreting rankings due to ties.

In Year 1

Writing

MathsK
e

y 
St

ag
e

 1
 &

 P
h

o
n

ic
s

KEY

K
e

y 
St

ag
e

 4
1

,3
,4

Average scaled point score at Key Stage 2

Average Progress score

- RWMMaths GPS

Reading Writing Maths -

Maths R+W+M Science

Reading Writing

Progress 8

2017

42.5

46.1

N/A

By the end of Year 2

137

Attainment 8

120 126

2016 2016

-0.17 48.0

-0.03 50.1

% achieving English Baccalaureate 

at grade C/4+

2017

-0.26

-0.03

134

K
e

y 
St

ag
e

 2
4

Reading Writing Maths GPS Science RWM

% meeting/exceeding the expected standard at Key Stage 2

% at higher standard / greater depth at Key Stage 2

Reading Writing

% meeting/exceeding the expected standard at Key Stage 1

% working at greater depth at Key Stage 1

Reading

2017 figures are 

provisional and do not 

include all re-marks or 

pupils removed. Due to 

rescaling of grades to 

accommodate the new 

1-9 grades in English 

and Maths, 2017 

figures are not strictly 

comparable with 2016.

Page 47



2014 2015 2016 2017 2017

rank

2014 2015 2016 2017

APS per entry: All Level 3 n/a n/a 27.9 26.7 150 n/a n/a 31.4 32.1

APS per entry: A Level 204.8 206.9 26.7 25.1 147 211.2 211.9 30.4 30.9

APS per entry: Academic 205 207.3 28.9 25.3 148 211.2 212.1 30.6 31.0

APS per entry: Tech Level 25.8 26.1 146 30.8 30.8

APS per entry: Applied General 31.3 31.1 144 34.7 35.6

7% 7% 8% 5% 144 12% 12% 14% 14%

English Progress 2014 2015 2016 2017

# who did not achieve A*-C at KS4 900 898 1023 TBC 2014 2015 2016 2017

Progress score n/a n/a -0.18 TBC n/a n/a -0.1 0.001 3% Widening the gap to national

% who improved their point score n/a n/a 29% TBC 28% 35% 30% 34% 0% Maintaining the gap to national

% who achieved C/4 or above at KS5 n/a 18% 19% TBC 15% 18% 17% 22% -1% Closing the gap to national / no gap

% who did not enter n/a 68% 23% TBC 36% 18% 21% 20% Better/in line with national ave.

Below national average

Maths Progress
2014 2015 2016 2017 rank Bottom 25% of LAs

# who did not achieve A*-C at KS4 966 800 1144 TBC 2014 2015 2016 2017

Progress score n/a n/a -0.06 TBC n/a n/a -0.13 0.014

% who improved their point score n/a n/a 35% TBC 19% 21% 31% 37%

% who achieved C/4 or above at KS5 n/a 14% 14% TBC 9% 9% 12% 18%

% who did not enter n/a 69% 21% TBC 39% 32% 22% 18%

Swin. Eng. Rank

2013 33% 48% 0

2014 33% 48% 0

2015 33% 48% 146 0

Swin. Eng. Rank 2016 36% 51% 146 0

2011 25% 35%

2012 25% 36% -0.01

2013 27% 37% 0.01 Swin. Eng. Swin. Eng.

2014 26% 37% 144 -0.01 2013 9% 16% 1 6% 11% 1

2015 30% 38% 136 0.03 2014 10% 17% 0 5% 11% -1

2015 7% 17% -3 5% 11% 0

2016 9% 18% 1 6% 13% -10

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

Swin. 53% 63% 48% 67% 56% 65% 59% 66% 31% 49%

Eng. 53% TBC 64% TBC 58% TBC 53% TBC 39% TBC

Rank 72 TBC 145 TBC 79 TBC 72 TBC 137 TBC

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

Swin. 12% 17% 4% 10% 7% 12% 15% 19% 1% 3%

Eng. 10% TBC 8% TBC 9% TBC 14% TBC 2% TBC

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

Swin. 100 102 100 102 102 103

Eng. 100 TBC 101 TBC 102 TBC

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

Swin. -1.3 -0.7 -4.2 -1.2 -1.4 -1.1

Eng. -0.7 TBC -0.3 TBC -0.5 TBC

England 2017 figures for KS5 

are provisional and 

subject to change.  A 

Level figures will not 

be directly 

comparable to 2016 

due to a number of 

reformed 

qualifications. Revised 

figures due January 

2018.

All 2017 national figures are provisional 

and subject to change.

216.6 219.4

Swindon National

End of Key Stage 5 cohort educated in 

Swindon
End of Key Stage 4 cohorts7 

educated in Swindon

% at higher standard / greater depth at Key Stage 2

Reading Writing Maths GPS - RWM

Average scaled point score at Key Stage 2

Reading - Maths

2023

2016 destinations data 

is provisional, revised 

in January 2018.

Cohort size (end of 

KS5)

% attending UK 

higher education 

institution
% of 15 year olds 

educated in 

Swindon 

participating in HE 

by age 19

Swindon

1,090

1,190

1,310

KEY

RWM

Average Progress score

Reading Writing Maths -

% meeting/exceeding the expected standard at Key Stage 2

Reading Writing Maths GPS Science

GPS

No figures 

available

K
e

y 
St

ag
e

 5
 a

tt
ai

n
m

e
n

t5

# students entered a Level 3 

qualification
1312 1337 1640

A-level % achieving AAB where at least 

2 are facilitating

204.6 207.8

2017 England figures and rankings TBC in 

December 2017. All LA figures provisional 

and subject to change.

Swindon

H
ig

h
e

r 
Ed

u
ca

ti
o

n
 d

e
st

in
at

io
n

s6

K
ey

 S
ta

ge
 2

D
is

ad
va

n
ta

ge
d

 p
u

p
ils

1,335

% attending top 

third of HEIs7

% attending Russell 

Group inc. Oxbridge

Page 48



2016 2017 2016 2017

Swindon 19% 3%

England TBC TBC

Rank TBC TBC

2014 2015 2016 2017 2014 2015 2016 2017 2014 2015 2016 2017

Swindon 6% 8% 7% 4% 20% 22% 17% 14% 36% 35% 42% 39%

England 11% 11% 12% TBC 23% 23% 25% TBC 40% 40% 43% TBC

Rank 130 114 120 TBC 76 64 126 TBC 88 116 68 TBC

Swin. Eng. Swin. Eng. Swin. Eng. 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

2015 27% 44% 5% 10% 2% 6% 12% 11% 9% 10% 12%

2016 33% 47% 5% 12% 4% 7% 20% 21% 23% 22% 24%

141 135

FIXED TERM EXCLUSIONS PERMANENT EXCLUSIONS (not withdrawn)

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

160 154 207 223 345 0 0 2 5 13
Swin. 0.9 0.84 1.09 1.13 1.61 Swin. 0 0 0.01 0.02 0.06

Eng. 0.88 1.02 1.1 1.21 England 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02

Swin. 0.39 0.4 0.52 0.54 0.65 11 14 25 23 44

Eng. 0.45 0.49 0.52 0.56 Swin. 0.09 0.11 0.2 0.19 0.42

England 0.12 0.13 0.15 0.17

1069 1112 1230 1132 1313 0 0 0 0 0

Swin. 8.69 9.12 10.08 9.22 11.36 Swin. 0 0 0 0 0

Eng. 6.75 6.62 7.51 8.46 England 0.07 0.07 0.09 0.08

Swin. 4.67 4.93 4.88 4.61 5.33 Rates are expressed as a % of the total pupil headcount.

Eng. 3.79 3.64 3.92 4.26  

WITHDRAWN PERMANENT EXCLUSIONS (SECONDARY ONLY)

216 240 337 304 152 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Swin. 48.98 48.29 68.36 58.02 31.21 30 30 21 24 30

Eng. 14.68 13.86 13.54 12.53 41 44 46 47 74

Swin. 15.42 14.89 17.65 13.93 10.47 There are no withdrawn PEX for primary or special school pupils.

Eng. 5.87 5.51 5.23 5.05

2017 exclusions figures are based on estimations using available internal data correct to the end of July 2017 and are subject to change.

DfE figures do not correspond to Swindon internal figures due to data submission discrepancies and how primary-age exclusions from Swindon Academy are counted.

Internal Swindon figures are formatted in red.

Notes:

5. Tech Levels and Applied General qualifications replace the Vocational pathways available prior to 2016. All rankings out of 150 LAs.

6. HE outcomes cover mainstream providers only.  Accuracy of figures is affected by the proportion of young people not successfully matched between national databases.

7.  Data years refer to the year participating in HE, not the end of KS4 study.

8. HE data for Disadvantaged pupils at Key Stage 5 is not available prior to 2015.

9. The FTE rates are expressed as % of pupils (headcount) in January census. PEX withdrawn are in addition to the PEX recorded. 3% Widening the gap to national

0% Maintaining the gap to national

-1% Closing the gap to national / no gap

Better/in line with national average

Below national average

rank Bottom 25% of LAs

5-9 (2017-)  in 

English & Maths

% achieving 

EBacc at C/5+

32.6

215

KEY

England

Number FTE

Se
c.

Number PEX

Rate (%)

Sp
ec

. Number PEX

Rate (%)

117 TBC

% achieving English 

Baccalaureate at grade C/4+

Sp
e

ci
al Rate (%)

% pupils 

1+ FTE

Number FTE

% Russell Group 

inc. Ox. And Cam.

Swindon

39.0

-0.38 TBC

Cohort size (end 

KS5)

41.2 TBC

108

Ex
cl

u
si

o
n

s 
(a

ll 
p

u
p

ils
)9

# withdrawn PEX

# PEX + withdrawn PEX

Progress 8 Attainment 8

2016 2017 2016 2017

-0.57 -0.69

Number FTE

Rate (%)

% pupils 

1+ FTE

TBC

% entering English Baccalaureate
A*-C or 4-9 (2017-)  in English & 

Maths

P
ri

. Number PEX

Rate (%)

% FSM-eligible Swindon pupils aged 15 participating in Higher 

Education by age 19

H
ig

h
er

 E
d

. 

d
es

ti
n

at
io

n
s8 % attending UK 

higher education 

institution

% attending 

top third of 

HEIs7

K
ey

 S
ta

ge
 4

155 Swindon

Se
co

n
d

ar
y

Rate (%)

% pupils 

1+ FTE

D
is

d
av

an
ta

ge
d

 p
u

p
ils

P
ri

m
ar

y

Page 49



To
ta

l s
ch

o
o

ls

Sc
h

o
o

ls
 

in
sp

e
ct

e
d

%
 g

o
o

d
 /

 

o
u

ts
ta

n
d

in
g

R
an

k

%
 r

e
q

u
ir

e
s 

im
p

ro
ve

m
e

n
t

Sc
h

o
o

ls
 n

o
t 

in
sp

e
ct

e
d

Jul-16 60 92% 61 8% 2

Oct-16 60 92% 72 8% 2

Jan-17 60 93% 55 7% 2 Current Local estimation - not yet published

Apr-17 59 92% 74 8% 3 rank Bottom 25% of LAs

Jul-17 60 92% 73 8% 2

Sep-17 60 90% - 8% 2

Jul-16 11 45% 144 45% 1

Oct-16 11 45% 146 45% 1

Jan-17 11 45% 146 36% 1

Apr-17 12 50% 142 25% 0

Jul-17 11 64% 123 9% 1

Sep-17 9 78% - 0% 3

Jul-16 6 83% 120 17% 0

Oct-16 6 83% 122 17% 0

Jan-17 6 83% 124 0% 0

Apr-17 6 83% 124 0% 0

Jul-17 6 67% 140 17% 0

Current 6 67% - 17% 0

Phase Date Rating Date

Pri Jul-17 Good Mar-12

Pri Mar-16 RI Jan-14

Pri May-17 Good Jun-14

Pri Jun-17 RI Mar-15

Pri Feb-17 Good Nov-11

Pri Nov-16 RI Oct-14

Sec May-16 RI Nov-13

Sec Sep-16 RI Nov-14

Spe Apr-17 Good Apr-14

Spe Nov-16 RI Feb-14

*Formerly Isambard

Notes

10. Percentages are out of schools inspected.  Schools considered 'not yet inspected' are excluded from the calculation, in line with DfE methodology

11.  'Current' figures are provisional based on Ofsted reports published, local knowledge and status changes on Edubase and are strictly for internal use.

12. Kingsdown, Lawn Manor and UTC having gone into new MATs have had their Ofsted slate wiped clean, and can no longer be classed as 'inadequate/requiring improvement'. 

Type Current rating

Previous inspectionLatest inspection

Rated Inadequate or RI in last two Ofsted 

inspections

KEY

St Luke's Community Inadequate

Chalet Community RI

Grange Jr

Southfield Jr Academy RI

RI

Dorcan Academy Inadequate

School

Community RI

Bridlewood Community Inadequate

6

0%

27%

%
 in

ad
e

q
u

at
e

Sp
e

ci
al

In
sp

e
ct

io
n

s 
o

u
tc

o
m

e
s1

0
,1

1
,1

2

Abbey Park* Community Inadequate

St Catherine's Academy

Holy Cross Academy RI

King William St Academy RI

0%

17%

17%

17%

17%

Se
co

n
d

ar
y

12

9%

9%

18%

25%

P
ri

m
ar

y

62

0%

0%

0%

0%

22%

0%

2%

Sc
h

o
o

ls
 c

u
rr

e
n

tl
y 

u
n

d
e

rp
e

rf
o

rm
in

g

Page 50



2016/17 EYFSP All Indicators Trend

Previous 

year
Eng

2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017

Swindon 67.6% 68.8% 69.8% 66.2% 67.1% 68.2% 35.1 34.6 34.5 27.3% 29.5% 31.6% GLD 1.0%pts -0.9%pts

England 66.3% 69.3% 70.7% 64.1% 67.3% 69.0% 34.3 34.5 34.5 32.1% 31.4% 31.7% All 17 ELGs 1.1%pts -0.8%pts

South West 67.2% 69.5% 70.5% 65.6% 68.1% 69.2% 34.9 34.9 34.6 28.1% 27.4% 28.6% ATPS -0.1pts 0.0pts

2015 2,891 +86 86

2016 3,006 +115 115

2017 3,111 +105 105

Previous 

year
Eng 2017

2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017

Swindon 83.6% 82.5% 81.5% 89.7% 87.0% 87.3% 86.0% 85.3% 84.0% 71.3% 72.2% 71.8% AOL COM -1.0%pts -0.6%pts

England 80.3% 81.6% 82.1% 87.2% 87.5% 87.5% 83.7% 84.8% 85.2% 70.1% 72.1% 72.8% AOL PH 0.3%pts -0.2%pts

South West 82.2% 83.2% 83.3% 88.7% 88.8% 88.5% 85.2% 85.9% 85.9% 71.3% 72.8% 72.8% AOL PSE -1.3%pts -1.2%pts

AOL LIT -0.4%pts -1.0%pts

AOL MAT -0.9%pts -0.9%pts

2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017 AOL UTW -0.8%pts 0.2%pts

Swindon 77.5% 77.9% 77.0% 86.4% 84.6% 83.8% 88.4% 87.8% 87.0% AOL EAD -0.8%pts 0.3%pts

England 75.8% 77.4% 77.9% 82.1% 83.2% 83.6% 85.3% 86.4% 86.7%

South West 77.4% 78.8% 78.6% 85.5% 86.5% 86.0% 88.0% 89.0% 89.1%

Difference to…

Difference to…Expected in all 17 ELGs ATPS in all ALL goals Achievement Gap **

Number of children in measure:

KEY 

INDICATORS 

→

AREA OF 

LEARNING

EXPECTED LEVEL+ 

→

   Good Level of Development *

Communication and Language Physical Development
Personal, Social and Emotional 

Development
Literacy

Mathematics Understanding the World Expressive Arts and Design

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017

   Good Level of Development * Expected in all 17 ELGs

EY Foundation Stage - Key indicators

Swindon

England

South West

Appendix 2 - Early Years Foundation Stage – LA Level – 19.10.2017 EYFSP

P
age 51



2016/17 EYFSP All Indicators Trend

Previous 

year
Eng 2017

2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017

88.9% 87.2% 86.3% 85.6% 86.3% 86.2% 87.5% 88.0% 87.6% ELG 1 -0.9%pts 0.1%pts

88.4% 87.0% 85.8% 85.3% 85.9% 85.9% 87.5% 87.9% 87.5% ELG 2 -1.2%pts -0.1%pts

86.8% 86.1% 85.1% 84.1% 85.1% 85.4% 86.2% 87.1% 87.0% ELG 3 -1.0%pts -0.3%pts

91.6% 89.4% 89.3% 89.7% 89.8% 89.6% 90.8% 90.7% 90.3% ELG 4 -0.1%pts -0.3%pts

93.5% 91.7% 91.7% 91.2% 91.5% 91.3% 92.9% 93.1% 92.7% ELG 5 0.0%pts 0.4%pts

90.9% 90.4% 87.9% 88.7% 89.2% 89.1% 90.5% 90.7% 90.3% ELG 6 -2.5%pts -1.2%pts

89.6% 88.4% 87.1% 87.4% 87.9% 88.0% 88.6% 89.1% 88.8% ELG 7 -1.3%pts -0.9%pts

91.2% 90.1% 89.3% 89.0% 89.5% 89.7% 90.4% 90.7% 90.7% ELG 8 -0.8%pts -0.4%pts

78.2% 78.3% 76.2% 76.1% 77.0% 77.0% 78.4% 78.7% 77.8% ELG 9 -2.1%pts -0.8%pts

71.8% 72.6% 72.5% 70.8% 72.6% 73.3% 72.0% 73.4% 73.2% ELG 10 -0.1%pts -0.8%pts

78.6% 79.3% 78.5% 77.4% 78.8% 79.2% 78.7% 80.0% 79.8% ELG 11 -0.8%pts -0.7%pts

84.2% 82.9% 81.3% 80.8% 81.7% 81.6% 83.8% 84.4% 83.6% ELG 12 -1.6%pts -0.3%pts

88.2% 86.8% 85.7% 85.0% 85.8% 85.7% 88.2% 88.8% 88.2% ELG 13 -1.1%pts 0.0%pts

88.7% 87.4% 86.9% 85.0% 85.7% 85.7% 88.4% 89.0% 88.2% ELG 14 -0.5%pts 1.2%pts

94.4% 94.9% 94.2% 91.7% 92.4% 92.7% 94.2% 94.8% 94.6% ELG 15 -0.7%pts 1.5%pts

90.8% 89.9% 89.4% 87.8% 88.6% 88.8% 90.3% 91.0% 90.9% ELG 16 -0.5%pts 0.6%pts

89.9% 89.3% 88.5% 87.2% 88.1% 88.4% 89.9% 90.7% 90.6% ELG 17 -0.8%pts 0.1%pts

Notes:

* Good Level of Development: Awarded Expected or Exceeding grade in all Prime Learning goals and all Literacy and Mathematics goals

** The percentage gap in achievement between the lowest 20 per cent of achieving children and the score of the median.

Published by the DfE's SFR 60/2017

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/early-years-foundation-stage-profile-results-2016-to-2017

Difference to…South WestSwindon England
Area of Learning Early Learning Goal

EARLY 

LEARNING 

GOAL

EXPECTED LEVEL +

→

Communication and 

Language

Physical 

Development

Personal, Social and 

Emotional 

Development

Managing feelings and behaviour

Making relationships

Listening and attention

Understanding

Speaking

Moving and handling

Health and self-care

Self-confidence and self-awareness

Expressive Arts and 

Design

Technology

Exploring using media and materials

Being imaginative

Reading

Writing

Numbers

Shape, space and measures

People and communities

The World

Literacy

Mathematics

Understanding the 

World

Appendix 2 - Early Years Foundation Stage – LA Level – 19.10.2017 EYFSP

P
age 52

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/early-years-foundation-stage-profile-results-2016-to-2017


2017 Phonics groups focus

England South West

Group
% met

England 

ranking
% met % met

Year 1 - Boys 77 80 78 77
Year 1 - Girls 85 64 85 85
Year 1 - gender gap 8 78 7 8

Year 1 - SEN statement 15 n/a 18 17
Year 1 - SEN support 42 107 47 45
Year 1 - no SEN 88 46 87 87

Year 1 - FSM 65 103 68 65
Year 1 - no FSM 84 54 83 83
Year 1 - FSM gap 19 116 15 18

Year 1 - English first language 81 80 82 81
Year 1 - EAL 81 68 81 79
Year 1 - EAL gap 0 43 1 2

By end Year 2 - Boys 90 48 90 90
By end Year 2 - Girls 94 54 94 94

Comments:

Swindon falls below the national benchmark for its SEN and FSM pupils.

Swindon has a slightly larger than average gender gap in Year 1, but narrows this to the average gap by the end of Year 2

Last updated 1 November 2017

Swindon

Take caution when interpreting rankings: there are many 'ties' between LAs due to rounded percentages, so any rank is sensitive to this - for 

example, if Swindon was considered to have 93% instead of 94% of its Year 2 girls having met the standard, it would be ranked 97th rather than 

54th

Meeting/exceeding England figure
Not meeting England figure

Ranked in bottom 25% of LAs

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



2017 Key Stage 1 Provisional Results

2016 2017 2016 2017

Reading 71 76 74 76 5 0 YES

Writing 63 71 65 68 8 3 no gap

Maths 69 77 73 75 8 2 no gap

RWM 56 66 60 64 10 3 no gap

Science 78 83 82 83 5 0 YES

RWMS 54 66 60 63 12 3 no gap

Reading 21 26 24 25 5 1 no gap

Writing 11 17 13 16 6 1 no gap

Maths 13 20 18 21 7 -1 YES

RWM 7 11 9 11 5 1 no gap

2016 2017 2016 2017

Reading 65 72 70 71 7 1 no gap

Writing 53 65 59 62 12 3 no gap

Maths 68 76 72 74 8 2 no gap

RWM 49 62 55 58 13 4 no gap

Reading 77 80 78 80 3 0 YES

Writing 73 76 73 75 3 1 no gap

Maths 71 78 74 76 7 2 no gap

RWM 64 71 66 69 7 2 no gap

Reading -12 -8 -8 -9 4 1 no gap

Writing -20 -11 -14 -13 9 2 no gap

Maths -3 -2 -2 -2 1 0 YES

RWM -15 -9 -11 -11 6 2 no gap

A negative gap represents a smaller proportion of male pupils attaining the expected standard relative to female pupils.

2016 2017 2016 2017

Reading 71 76 75 76 6 0 no gap

Writing 61 71 66 68 9 3 no gap

Maths 69 77 73 75 8 2 no gap

RWM 54 66 n/a n/a 12 n/a n/a

Reading 73 75 TBC TBC 3 TBC TBC

Writing 67 72 TBC TBC 5 TBC TBC

Maths 73 77 TBC TBC 4 TBC TBC

RWM 61 68 TBC n/a 7 n/a n/a

Reading -2 -1 TBC TBC 1 TBC TBC

Writing -6 2 TBC TBC 8 TBC TBC

Maths -4 0 TBC TBC 4 TBC TBC

RWM -7 2 TBC n/a 9 n/a n/a

2016 2017 2016 2017

Reading 71 78 75 77 7 1 no gap

Writing 62 71 66 69 9 2 no gap

Difference 

to England

La
n

gu
ag

e

En
gl

is
h

Closing the 

gap?

Difference to 

2016

Difference 

to England

Closing the 

gap?

England Difference to 

2016

Difference 

to England

Closing the 

gap?

Difference to 

2016

Swindon England

England

Et
h

n
ic

it
y

W
h

it
e

 

B
ri

ti
sh

B
M

E
G

ap

Swindon

Swindon

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 

G
D

S

A
ll 

sc
h

o
o

ls

M
al

e
Fe

m
al

e
G

ap

G
en

d
e

r

Swindon England
P

e
rc

e
n

ta
ge

 E
X

S+
Difference 

to England

Closing the 

gap?

Difference to 

2016

Page 55



Maths 69 78 73 76 9 2 no gap

RWM 55 67 61 n/a 12 n/a n/a

Reading 70 71 70 72 1 -1 NO

Writing 65 69 64 67 4 2 no gap

Maths 73 76 72 74 3 2 no gap

RWM 59 65 58 64 6 1 no gap

Reading 1 -7 -5 -5 -8 -2 NO

Writing -3 -2 -2 -2 1 0 YES

Maths -4 -2 -1 -2 2 0 YES

RWM -4 -2 -3 n/a 2 n/a n/a

Reading 56 62 60 61 6 1 no gap

Writing 47 58 50 52 11 6 no gap

Maths 54 63 58 60 9 3 no gap

RWM 40 0 45.8 n/a -40 n/a n/a

Reading 75 78 77 79 3 -1 YES

Writing 67 73 68 72 6 1 no gap

Maths 73 79 75 79 6 0 YES

RWM 60 0 63.8 n/a -60 n/a n/a

Reading -19 -16 -17 -18 3 2 no gap

Writing -19 -15 -18 -20 4 5 no gap

Maths -19 -16 -17 -19 3 3 no gap

RWM -20 0 -18 n/a 20 n/a n/a

Reading 25 33 30 31 8 2 no gap

Writing 18 24 20 21 6 3 no gap

Maths 26 33 30 32 7 1 no gap

RWM 13 19 16.1 n/a 6 n/a n/a

Reading 81 85 82 84 5 1 no gap

Writing 72 80 74 77 8 3 no gap

Maths 78 86 80 83 7 3 no gap

RWM 65 76 68.1 n/a 11 n/a n/a

Reading -56 -52 -52 -53 3 1 no gap

Writing -55 -57 -54 -56 -2 -1 NO

Maths -52 -52 -50 -51 -1 -1 YES

RWM -53 -57 -52 n/a -5 n/a n/a

Reading 13 24 14 14 11 10 no gap

Writing 12 18 9 9 6 9 no gap

Maths 14 18 14 14 4 4 no gap

RWM 6 13 n/a n/a 7 n/a n/a

Reading 28 34 32 34 6 0 YES

Writing 19 24 22 23 5 1 no gap

Maths 29 38 33 35 9 3 no gap

RWM 14 20 n/a n/a 6 n/a n/a

Notes

Awaiting accurate data to calculate a disadvantage summary.

Sources

2016 LA and England statistics, where possible, are taken from the latest SFR.

SE
N

SE
N

N
o

n
-S

EN
G

ap

FS
M

FS
M

 

(e
lig

ib
le

 

an
d

 

N
o

n
-F

SM
G

ap

La
n

gu
ag

e

En
gl

is
h

EA
L

G
ap

St
at

e
m

e
n

t/

EH
C

P

SE
N

 

su
p

p
o

rt

SE
N

 b
re

ak
d

o
w

n

Page 56



Comparison between Swindon school types (mainstream only)

2016 2017 2016 2017

Reading 72 77 71 76

Writing 62 72 65 71

Maths 70 77 70 78

RWM 56 67 58 67

Science 75 84 82 84

RWMS 53 67 57 66

Reading 23 27 19 25

Writing 11 16 12 17

Maths 13 19 13 22

RWM 7 11 7 12

Comparison by schools' Ofsted ratings (end July 2017, mainstream only)

2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017

Reading 73 79 71 75 65 83

Writing 66 74 62 70 58 81

Maths 74 81 69 76 63 83

RWM 59 70 57 66 48 76

Science 72 88 79 83 82 86

RWMS 54 70 56 65 47 75

Reading 21 31 22 25 17 20

Writing 12 20 12 16 6 15

Maths 11 22 14 20 11 17

RWM 7 13 8 11 4 9

Requires Improvement

Academy

RWM and RWMS for Swindon and England are provisional estimates from Nexus based on NCER member uploads; this 

includes 2016 data.  Strictly for internal use only. These stats are not produced by DfE.

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 E

X
S+

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 

G
D

S

Maintained

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 E

X
S+

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 

G
D

S

Outstanding Good

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



2016/17 Key Stage 2 Main Indicators: Validated

LA England SW LA England SW LA England SW LA England SW LA England SW LA England SW

2014 91% 89% 89% 87% 85% 86% 88% 86% 86% 81% 79% 79% 78% 76% 75% 88% 88% 89%

2015 89% 89% 90% 87% 87% 87% 88% 87% 87% 81% 80% 79% 81% 80% 79% 89% 89% 89%

2016 67% 66% 68% 60% 74% 71% 70% 70% 68% 46% 53% 52% 73% 73% 71% 62% 81% 80%

2017 73% 72% 73% 77% 77% 76% 76% 75% 73% 62% 62% 60% 79% 78% 75% 81% 82% 82%

2014 2% 2% 2% 1% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 3% 0% -1%

2015 0% -1% 0% 0% 1% 1% 1% 2% 1% 2% 0% 0%

2016 1% -1% -14% -11% 0% 2% -7% -6% 0% 2% -19% -18%

2017 1% 0% 0% 1% 1% 3% 0% 2% 1% 4% -1% -1%

LA England SW LA England SW LA England SW LA England SW LA England SW

2015 51% 48% 50% 35% 36% 35% 41% 41% 41% 23% 24% 24% 55% 55% 54%

2016 18% 19% 21% 7% 15% 13% 15% 17% 15% 3% 5% 5% 25% 23% 21%

2017 25% 25% 27% 16% 18% 18% 20% 23% 21% 8% 9% 9% 31% 31% 28%

2015 3% 1% -1% 0% 0% 0% -1% -1% 0% 1%

2016 -1% -3% -8% -6% -2% 0% -2% -2% 2% 4%

2017 0% -2% -2% -2% -3% -1% -1% -1% 0% 3%

LA England SW LA England SW LA England SW

2016 -0.3 0.0 0.2 -3.6 0.0 -1.0 -0.4 0.0 -0.6

2017 -0.2 0.0 0.0 -0.7 0.0 -0.4 -0.6 0.0 -0.7

2016 -0.3 -0.5 -3.6 -2.6 -0.4 0.2

2017 -0.2 -0.2 -0.7 -0.3 -0.6 0.1

Reading Writing Maths Reading Writing Maths LA England SW LA England SW

-0.2 -0.7 -0.6 0.0 -0.4 -0.7 6 665 98 2 511 65

Upper 

limit
0.0 -0.5 -0.4 0.1 -0.3 -0.6 12% 5% 7% 2% 4% 5%

Lower 

limit
-0.4 -0.9 -0.8 0 -0.4 -0.7 7% 5% -2% -3%

Please Note:

For 2016, some schools amended their Writing & Science teacher assessments after the SFR data slice was taken. The SFR consequently has slightly different figures for Writing, Science and the Reading, Writing and Maths combined indicators.

For reference SFR figures were as follows: Writing 58% (Expected Standard) and 6% (Higher Standard); Reading, Writing and Maths combined 44% (Expected Standard); Science 60%.

2017 data are sourced from SFR69/2017. 2016 data are sourced from SFR62/2016 0.2 0.2 0.2

LA difference to:

Progress

Maths

Progress 

comparison
Year

Reading Writing Maths

Achieving higher 

standard

LA Difference to: 

(%pp)

Science

Higher standard Year
Reading Writing Maths RWM combined

Expected Standard Year
Reading Writing 

GPS

GPS

LA Difference to: 

(%pp)

Achieving expected 

standard

RWM combined

Average pupil progress score 

Confidence interval

Individual pupil level progress scores are calculated in comparison to other pupils nationally. 

For all mainstream pupils nationally, the average progress score is zero.

Number of schools 

below

% of schools below

LA Difference to: 

(%pp)

2017LA
Progress 2017 in depth Floor Standard

2016SW

P
age 59



0.2 0.2 0.2

Reading Writing Maths RWS GPS Science Reading Writing Maths RWS GPS Reading Writing Maths

Difference to England 1% 0% 1% 0% 1% -1% 0% -2% -3% -1% 0% -0.2 -0.7 -0.6

Difference to SW 0% 1% 3% 2% 4% -1% -2% -2% -1% -1% 3% -0.2 -0.3 0.1

Higher standardExpected standard Progress

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

Reading Writing Maths RWS GPS Science Reading Writing Maths RWS GPS

Expected standard Higher standard

2016/17 Difference to England - Attainment

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

Reading Writing Maths RWS GPS Science Reading Writing Maths RWS GPS

Expected standard Higher standard

2016/17 Difference to South West - Attainment

-1.3

-0.8

-0.3

0.2

0.7

1.2

Reading Writing Maths

2016/17 Difference to  England - Progress

-4.0

-3.5

-3.0

-2.5

-2.0

-1.5

-1.0

-0.5

0.0

0.5

Reading Writing Maths

2016/17 Difference to  South West - Progress

P
age 60



 
 

SWINDON CHALLENGE BOARD 
MEMBERSHIP LIST 

 
Members:  
 
Anji Phillips   Independent Chair  
Cllr David Renard  Leader of Swindon Borough Council 
Cllr Fionuala Foley Cabinet member for Children’s Services & School 

Attainment 
Carol Shelley Shadow spokesperson for Children’s Services & 

School Attainment  
John Gilbert   Chief Executive 
David Haley         Corporate Director of Children’s Services 
Peter Nathan        Head of Education 
Gary Evans         Headteacher, Ferndale Primary School and SAPH  
    Representative 
Spencer Allen Headteacher, Chiseldon Primary School and SAPH 

representative 
Mags Clark Headteacher, Crowdy’s Hill School and ASSSH 

representative  
Steve Colledge        SASH representative  
Clive Zimmerman SASH representative and Executive Headteacher of 

Lydiard Park and Abbey Park Academies 
Nick Capstick      Teaching School representative 
Steve Wain       Principal and Chief Executive, Swindon College 
Graham Taylor       Principal and Chief Executive, New College 
Ben Slater   Alternative provision (EOTAS) 
Mike Godfrey  Business West 
Alex Ingram   RSC’s office 
Jo Matheson-Thomas RSC’s office 
John Swainston  Diocesan Board (C. of E.) 
tbc    Diocesan Board (Catholic) 
Rebecca Jankinson Governors Representative 
 
Simon Rowe   Ofsted (Observer) 
 
 

Page 61



 
 
 
OFFICER SUPPORT 
 
Marie Horton  Education Commissioner, Secondary 
Sarah Foulkes  Education Commissioner, Primary 
Sally Burnett  Strategic Commissioner, Routes to Employment 
Roz Pither   SEN Commissioner 
Nigel Pickering  Exclusions and Reintegration Manager 
Anna Richardson  Governor Services (minutes) 
Other officers as required 

Page 62



 

Page 1 of 4 
 

 
 

 
Swindon Challenge Board is a partnership arrangement which takes collective 
responsibility for driving improvement for pupils in Swindon schools and colleges. 
 
It is committed to ensuring all children and young people in Swindon have the 
chance to achieve their full potential.  It is ambitious of every child and young person 
and seeks to provide the appropriate support and challenge within a school-led 
system of school improvement. 
 
Its structure will consist of an overarching Challenge Board which will meet four 
times year with two task groups – a primary task group and a secondary task group 
to take activities forward with a broader group of representatives from each phase. 
 

Purpose of the Swindon Challenge Board 
 

 Determines the overall strategy for school improvement and promotes this to 
schools. 

 Review the data and evidence about the progress of schools individually and 
collectively. 

 Identifies priorities for improvements and agrees how to commission support to 
meet them. 

 Oversees the use of Challenge and other school improvement resources to 
ensure they are being used to meet the core priorities. 

 Regularly reviews the impact of the work of all partners to support school 
improvement. 

 
Role of the Local Authority 

 

 Provides its view on the collective priorities for Swindon. 

 Sets out its planned activity to meet collective agreed priorities. 

 Shares its categorisation of school and assessment of the progress of schools 
openly with the School Standard’s Board. 

 Commissions interventions in LA schools that are RI/SM or at risk. 

 Flags concerns about Academy performance to the RSC and discusses potential 
support. 

 Commissions Challenge funding intervention in collaboration with Primary 
Challenge and Secondary Challenge task groups 

 Provides regular updates on the use of the commissioning budget and the impact 
of this resource.  

 Ensures that all Local Authority services support the Swindon Challenge agenda 
in a coordinated approach. 
 
Role of SASH, SAPH, ASSSH and FE representatives 

 

 Provides its views on the collective priorities and the impact of Swindon 
Challenge for Swindon on the basis of feedback from its members. 

 Sets out its planned activity to meet collective agreed priorities. 

Terms of Reference 
 

Swindon Challenge Board 
 

Page 63



 

Page 2 of 4 
 

 Provides feedback on the progress of schools based on intelligence gathered 
from its work. 

 Supports all types of school to improve, including Good and Outstanding. 

 Helps to review how capacity for S2S support is developing in Swindon. 

 Helps to build leadership capacity at all levels of the system in Swindon. 

 Provides regular updates on the impact of its work against priorities. 
 
Role of the Swindon Teaching School  
 

 Provides their views on the collective priorities for Swindon. 

 Provides a view on the capacity and expertise of different TSAs in the region to 
potentially meet these needs. 

 Represent the Teaching Schools across the region and provide a link between 
Challenge Board and Regional Teaching School Group. 

 Encourages/nurtures opportunities for collaborative working to ensure high 
standards in all Swindon schools. 

 May provide and/or broker school-to-school support for schools. 

 Bids for national funding available to support Swindon schools to meet their 
identified priorities. 

 Provides regular updates on the impact of any TSA’s work against the agreed 
priorities for Swindon Challenge 
. 
Role of the Regional School Commissioner’s Office 
 

 Provides the RSC’s view on the collective priorities for Swindon 

 Provides a link with the Swindon and Wiltshire sub-regional improvement board 
and its role in identifying resource to tackle system wide challenges.  

 Sets out planned activity in terms of the development of the MAT landscape for 
Swindon. 

 Provides information and updates on work with the following groups, including the 
impact of these actions: 

a. underperforming academies, including the deployment of education 
specialists;  

b. failing and coasting schools; 
c. schools in the process of becoming academies; and 
d. academies being re-brokered.   

 Holds MATs to account for making the necessary improvements where 
academies are underperforming. 

 

 Membership 
 

 The Board will appoint an Independent Chair to chair meetings and facilitate the 
partnership working. 

 Membership seeks to represent expertise across all phases. 

 If there are any gaps in expertise, a suitable candidate can be co-opted by 
agreement, but the Board (for instance, for a particular project / timescale). 

 Headteacher membership will be reviewed annually through the headteacher 
associations. 
 

Page 64



 

Page 3 of 4 
 

Membership of the Challenge Board will be as follows: 
 

 The Leader of the Council, the Lead Member for Children’s Service, the Lead 
Opposition Member for Children’s Services 

 The Chief Executive of the Council, the DCS, the Head of Education. 

 A representative from SASH, SAPH and ASSSH and a representative from the 
FE College sector. 

 A representative from alternative education. 

 Diocesan board representatives from the Church of England and the Catholic 
Church 

 A Governor representative (tbc) 

 A Representative from the Swindon Business Community  

 Representation from the office of the Regional Schools Commissioner 

 A Representative from the Swindon Teaching School 

 SW Ofsted will have observer status 
 
Substitution is permitted. 
 
In addition officer support may be provided as necessary by local authority officers 
including the Strategic Commissioners for Primary, Secondary, Routes to 
Employment and the Additional Provision and Reintegration Manager.  

 

 Administration 
 
Administration will be provided by the Local Authority. 
 

 Conflicts of Interest 
 
If during the meeting any conflict of interest is raised with the Chair, the party may be 
requested to leave the meeting during this part of the discussion. 
 

 Confidentiality 
 
Because of the need for meetings to discuss individual schools, there is need for a 
board members to adhere to a confidentiality requirement outside of meetings. This 
is to allow for openness of discussion within meetings. 
 

 Challenge Board – Forward Plan & Frequency of Meetings 

To meet four times a year 
 

 Autumn Term 1: Analyse progress of individual schools and agree 
commissioning priorities for support including use of challenge funding. Initial 
data review. 

 Spring Term 3 

 Review proposed support plans and progress made by targeted schools.  Review 
updated data. 

Page 65



 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 Spring Term 4: Consider and agree priorities for Secondary schools in light of 
further data analysis.  Review progress of target schools and determine new 
action needed. 

 Summer Term 6:  Early analysis of Primary results and confirm priorities for 
support the following year. 

 
The board will also receive feedback from the primary and secondary challenge task 
groups. Workshops will be planned as appropriate for example to analyse schools 
outcome data to allow in depth understanding of school performance. 
 
 

 Forward Plan 
 
The Swindon Challenge Board will develop a forward plan so agendas are planned 
and items for discussion are linked to the data cycle and Academic Year. 
 

 Primary and Secondary Challenge task groups 
 
The Secondary Challenge task group will be formed of all secondary schools and will 
in effect be integrated as a part of SASH. It will have representation from the 
Swindon Teaching School. SASH have agreed to meet 8 times a year and the 
Challenge funds with other funding will support agreed activities (recognising that 
some funding will be targeted at individual schools to meet specific needs) including 
school to school support as appropriate. The impact of activities will need to be 
reviewed by this task group. 
 
The Primary Challenge task group will be formed of 6 primary representatives 
including the Chair of SAPH and will have representation from the Swindon Teaching 
School. The task group will meet termly as needed with a focus on school to school 
support, effective use of Challenge fund monies and other school improvement 
funding in a similar way to the secondary group. The impact of activities will need to 
be reviewed by this task group. 
 
Approved by Swindon Challenge Board    
 
Due for review:  March 2018 
 
 

Page 66



Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  

Overview & Scrutiny Committee                         Date: 24th January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Simon Ratcliff, 
01793 466833, Sratcliff@swindon.gov.uk 

Author: Independent Chair Local Safeguarding Children Board 

Wards: All Wards 

Parishes Affected: All Parish Areas 

 
 

1. Purpose and Reasons 

1.1 To present the Annual Report for the Local Safeguarding Children Board. The Annual 
Report detail progress against the annual Business Plan. 

1.2 The Local Safeguarding Children Annual Report 2016/17 is at Appendix 1 and 
on the LSCB website at www.swindonlscb.org.uk/AnnualReports  

2. Recommendations 

The Committee is recommended to: 

2.1 Note and comment on the Swindon Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 
for 2016/17.  

3. Detail 

3.1 Appendix 1 is the Swindon Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17. 
The Annual Report reviews achievements against the LSCB Strategic Business Plan 
2016/17 and provides information regarding the work of the Board, its Sub-groups and 
partners in promoting and developing multi-agency approaches to safeguarding and 
protecting children and young people.  

4. Alternative Options 

4.1 There are no alternative options proposed. The Local Safeguarding Children Board is 
required to produce an Annual Report.  

5. Implications   

Financial and Procurement Implications 

5.1 There are no financial or procurement implications arising directly from this report.  

Legal and Human Rights Implications 

5.2 There are no direct legal or human rights implications arising from this report.  

All other Implications 

5.3 There are no other direct implications arising from this report.  

Page 67

Agenda Item 8

http://www.swindonlscb.org.uk/about/Pages/AnnualReports.aspx


Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 

Children’s Health, Social Care & Education  

Overview & Scrutiny Committee                         Date: 24th January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Simon Ratcliff, 
01793 466833, Sratcliff@swindon.gov.uk 

6. Consultees 

6.1 The Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) and Director of Law and 
Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) are consulted in respect of all reports.  

7. Background Papers 

7.1 None. 

8. Appendices 

8.1 Appendix 1 – Swindon Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 
2016/17 

 

 

 

Page 68



1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Swindon LSCB Annual Report 
2016/17 

 

 

 

Page 69



2 

 

CONTENTS 

 

Independent Chair’s Introduction and Foreword  3 

Progress On The LSCB Business Plan 2016-2017  6 

The Local Context  12 

Swindon Performance Information – The Child’s Journey  16 

Advocacy in the Child Protection System 25 

Youth Participation 26 

Allegations Management  30 

Scrutiny and Challenge  32 

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 41 

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) And Missing Children  43 

Policy and Procedure 46 

Online Safety 46 

Training and Safer Workforce  48 

Early Help Working Group  52 

LSCB Governance 54 

Lay Members 56 

LSCB Budget 2016/2017  57 

Swindon LSCB Priorities for 2017/18  58 

Report Authorship & Availability  61 

What to Do If You’re Worried a Child Is Being Abused  62 

Appendix 1 - LSCB Structure Chart, Board Membership & Attendance  63 

Page 70



3 

INDEPENDENT CHAIR’S INTRODUCTION AND FOREWORD 
 
As the Independent Chair of Swindon Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB), I am delighted to 
present its Annual Report covering the period from April 2016-March 2017.  
 

As a statutory partnership, the LSCB brings together organizations with a collective responsibility to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young people. This report describes the 
achievements and challenges of the Board and its partners in their efforts to ensure the safety and 
wellbeing of children and young people within the Borough. During the period covered by this 
report, partners continued to make positive progress in strengthening local arrangements, but were 
not complacent as to the tenacity required to address the enduring issues affecting children and 
young people and the need for us to respond to emerging challenges.  
 

Below are some key areas of focus, challenge and activity undertaken by the LSCB during 2016/17, 
which are set out in more detail in the body of the report. 
 

Challenge and Scrutiny 
 

Challenge and scrutiny are the key functions of an LSCB and a number of changes have improved the 
overall effectiveness and coherence of arrangements to improve the impact of learning on practice. 
The Case Review Group now oversees all Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) and Local Case Reviews (LCRs) 
and does not have separate Review Teams which are costly in terms of staff capacity and don’t at 
times allow for a timely and effective process. In 2016/17 the LSCB published two Serious Case 
Reviews –SCR D and SCR S and provided updates on the progress by all partners to achieve the 
recommended areas for improvement. The learning was disseminated to all practitioners through 
the LSCB training programme and was the focus of the LSCB National Conference in October 2016. 
The action plans continue to be monitored for evidence of progress and the LSCB has ensured it has 
driven issues such as the escalation policy and has welcomed improvement in issues of workforce 
capacity and operational child protection arrangements. The CRG also oversaw a further SCR and an 
LCR, which were both commissioned in Jan 17 and will conclude in September 17. The Quality 
Assurance (QA) sub group has ensured that its multi-agency audit programme addressed the areas 
requiring scrutiny informed by the priorities in the LSCB Business Plan, performance data and from 
SCRs and LCRs. The Performance sub group reviewed and introduced significant improvements in 
the performance data received from partner agencies, the content of the overall data set and the 
quality of the narrative provided. Section 11 arrangements have been reviewed and enhanced 
during 2016/17 for implementation in 17/18 to enable more detailed and robust challenge and the 
Challenge Log itself continues to record challenges around performance and practice, which are 
identified by the LSCB and its sub groups and regularly monitored by the LSCB. This is a live 
document providing evidence of challenge and transparency to enhance the LSCB collective 
responsibility to provide scrutiny and challenge and is published as part of this Annual Report in 
2016/17.  
 

Engagement of Children young people, their families and staff. 
 

The LSCB is working to improve the engagement of children and young people, their families and 
frontline practitioners and to ensure there are mechanisms to hear their voice. This is undertaken 
through a number of ways including the presentation to the LSCB of services which engage with 
children and their messages on the effectiveness of their experiences. In addition both the LSCB 
audit methodology and the SCR/LCR methodology incorporate direct feedback from children, young 
people and practitioners and the LSCB also undertakes more generalized survey activity of frontline 
practitioners i.e. the CSE, E-safety and Escalation survey undertaken with practitioners in 16/17.This 
is an area of work however that the LSCB recognizes still requires further focus and drive from the 
LSCB 

Page 71



4 

Early Help.  
 

Early Help arrangements were discussed at the LSCB in 15/16 and recognition that further work was 
needed to review and ensure that the Thresholds document, Early Help Pathways, Early Help 
assessments and training and support for partner agencies was appropriate. Agreement at the LSCB 
was reached to establishing a task and finish group to address these issues. This group met during 
16/17 and identified some of the key barriers to effectiveness of the system and identified further 
work and Stage 2 has now began to finalise the Early Help strategy and the Thresholds document 
and will present to the LSCB in September 17. However contacts and referrals to Children’s Social 
Care reduced in 16/17 and this is the first time a decrease has occurred for more than 3 years .The 
development of the MASH arrangements in 16/17 are felt to have contributed and the LSCB will 
receive a report on the first year of the MASH in 17/18. Early Help and the application of Thresholds 
continues to be a priority for 17/18. 

Child Sexual Exploitation 

The LSCB is determined to ensure that the impact of learning from case reviews concluded in 
2015/16 is evidenced in improved practice. The work has included the revision of the overarching 
CSE strategy and undertaking the detailed CSE audit in 16/17 which included a front line survey of 
over 1000 practitioners and evidenced that there had been considerable progress over the last two 
years and identified more focus is still required to improve the quality of independent interviews of 
missing children on their return. Evidence included the positive independent evaluation of the Multi 
Agency Risk Panel (MARP), which demonstrated progress in operational arrangements to share 
information, manage risk of individual children and inform cohesive disruption activities. The work 
around CSE and wider exploitation of children continues within the LSCB but is no longer a targeted 
priority for improvement. 

Health 

The Independent Chair met with key health leads to review current safeguarding arrangements and 
clarify governance and accountabilities in March 16 and December 16. There was concern that there 
was no Designated Nurse and no Lead Safeguarding GP in 15/16, which impacted on safeguarding 
capacity. NHS England provided support and the outcome was a revised and enhanced JD for the 
Designated Nurse, which was successfully recruited to in August 16, and additional funding from 
NHS E to support succession planning for designated and named health professionals. In addition the 
CCG has also committed additional resource and capacity into its safeguarding functions and now 
has a named GP and a clear structured programme of improvement activity. Agreement was 
reached to create a Health sub group of the LSCB led by the CCG to provide the cohesion and 
oversight of all partners in the Swindon health economy, which began meeting in 2017. 

Local Authority Children’s Services 

The Board requested and received a report in December 16 to provide an update to the LSCB of the 
work undertaken since the Ofsted inspection of 2014 in terms of addressing workforce capacity and 
securing sustainability and improvements to practice particularly in front line social work teams and 
strengthening the quality assurance arm of CP Chairs/IROs /audit activity etc. Reports are routinely 
provided to the LSCB on performance and the effectiveness of the single and multi-arrangements to 
safeguard children and audits showing improved quality of performance and improvements in 
performance measures. However the report recognizes that the service is at a point in its 
improvement journey, which needs continued focus to sustain and build on improvements in 17/18. 

Schools 

The Board has recognized the conduit between the LA and schools around safeguarding issues 
needed to be strengthened and has been supportive of the LA work to support designated school 
leads and to ensure a robust system to capture the annual safeguarding audits undertaken in 

Page 72



5 

schools. The Chair met with secondary heads in December 16 and ensured that designated school 
leads were involved in consultation on the LSCB Business Plan 17/18 and has encouraged their 
representation on the sub groups of the LSCB to ensure schools’ voices are heard and can inform the 
work and priorities of the LSCB. 

2016/17 

While reflecting on the work undertaken during this period, I am of course mindful of the important 
potential changes on the horizon following the government review of LSCBs published in May 2016 
and the Children and Social Work Act which received Royal Assent in April 17.  The legislation 
confirmed the need for multi-agency safeguarding arrangements based on local need and overseen 
by the 3 identified Statutory Partners-the LA, Police and the CCG and changes to SCR and CDOP 
arrangements. Implementation will be over the next 18 months/two years and will be the subject of 
future local discussions in 2017/18 following the publication of the Working Together draft guidance 
for consultation in October 2017. 

In recording my thanks to members of the Board and those supporting the work of its sub groups, I 
would like to specifically state my gratitude to all those staff and volunteers within the local 
workforce for their commitment to safeguarding children and young people. 

 

Alex Walters 

Independent Chair, Swindon Safeguarding Children Board. 

Page 73



6 

 

Progress on the LSCB Business Plan 2016-2017 
 
The LSCBs Annual Business Plan sets out LSCBs priorities for the year ahead. The priorities are 

identified by Board members in response to performance data, case reviews, national and local 

drivers for change and local intelligence about the changing needs of children and young people in 

Swindon. The LSCB’s Business Plan for 2016/17 contained seven core functions and four priorities for 

development.  

1. Overall Objectives of the LSCB 
 

To coordinate what is done by each person or body represented on the Board for the purpose of 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in the area, and to ensure the effectiveness of 
what is done by each such person or body for these purposes (Section 14 Children Act 2004). 
 

2. Core Functions:  
 

Policies and Procedures: Developing policies and procedures for safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children and young people in Swindon, including the publication of thresholds for 
intervention where a child’s safety or welfare is compromised. 
 

Communication and Safeguarding Awareness: Communicate the need to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children among both the professional and lay community, raising awareness of how 
this can be done and encouraging them to do so. 
 

Performance Management: Monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of safeguarding and 
preventive strategies and the actions of partner agencies to the Board (individually and collectively) 
and setting standards for continuous improvement. 
 

Serious Case Reviews: Undertaking and commissioning reviews where abuse or neglect of a child is 
known or suspected and the child has died or has been seriously harmed and there is a cause for 
concern as to the way in which partners have worked together to safeguard the child.  Consider and 
undertake local case reviews when the threshold for Serious Case Reviews is not met.   
 

Child Death Overview Panel: To review child deaths and learn lessons in order to improve the 
health, safety and wellbeing of children and to reduce future incidence of preventable child deaths. 
 

Quality Assurance Audits and Scrutiny (including Section 11 audits): Evaluating the effectiveness 
and efficiency of local actions to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, evidencing 
outcomes and challenging improvement. 
 

Training and Staff Development: To devise and deliver and evaluate high quality multi-agency 
innovative training programmes and initiatives that meets the training requirements of the local 
workforce and the priority safeguarding issues being progressed. 
 

3. Priorities for Development 2016/17 
 

 Early Help 

 Child Exploitation. 

 Strengthening the Voice of the Child and their families and practitioners 

 Supporting the effectiveness of adults and children’s services to work together to safeguard 

children  

Page 74



7 

The following table is a summary of the actions the LSCB and its partner agencies have taken in 

response to the priority areas for development identified in the Business Plan. Additional detail is 

included in the reports from the Chairs of the Sub-groups later in this report. 

Priority 1 – Early Help 

The LSCB recognised the need to understand the effectiveness of the current arrangements and 

services, which provide Early Help. It therefore established a multi-agency Working Group, which 

met throughout 2016/17 and was chaired by the CCG.  

The Working Group’s remit was to review the Thresholds document and the quality of EH Plans and 

identify barriers to delivery. The Working Group produced a report for the March 2017 meeting of 

the Board which set out the group’s progress and findings and identified further work required.  

In summary, the Working Group found that although progress has been made in supporting the 

Early Help agenda, the evidence indicates there is more to do to further embed the culture of early 

help amongst the workforce across all agencies.  There is more to do to ensure that the multi-agency 

threshold document is valued and used appropriately across the partnership.   

The performance data also indicates that not all services and practitioners, that should be, are 

making use of Early Help Records and Plans (EHRP) to assess and plan services for children and 

families with additional needs.  Greater insight is required to further understand how we can 

effectively tackle these barriers going forward. An audit of Early Help Records and Plans to provide 

assurance that Early Help Records are good quality and lead to sustained improvements for children, 

young people and their families is planned for 2017/18 once the work of Phase 2 is complete. 

Phase 2 of this work (chaired by SBC Children’s Services) is to produce a revised Threshold Document 
and a detailed implementation plan and is expected to report on progress to the LSCB in September 
2017.  

Priority 2 - Child Exploitation 

The LSCBs work on child sexual exploitation was led by its CSE & Missing Subgroup. The Subgroup’s 
objectives under the business plan for the year were to complete a broader partnership profile to 
better understand key issues for Swindon; review the groups Terms of Reference to reflect all 
issues related to child exploitation; and, ensure agency awareness of roles in prevention and 
intervention. The Subgroups activities for the year included the following: 

 A new Partnership Profile was completed. There was an improvement in the way that 
agencies provided data to inform the profile with reassurance that any operational 
elements identified within the profile will be addressed by the recently established Opal 
team  

 Key partner agencies carried out self-assessments on their response to CSE and Missing. 
The resulting areas for development were taken into the Sub-groups action plan.  

 A two part audit of multi-agency awareness and responses to CSE was conducted by the 
LSCBs Quality Assurance Sub-group with learning from this informing the Sub-groups 
action plan for 2017/18 

 The Sub-Group co-ordinated the activity of agencies for the National CSE Day of 

Awareness. All agencies embraced the day of awareness and increased their 

prevention/education activities.  

Page 75



8 

 The Subgroup oversaw the implementation of the integrated and co-located Police/Social 

Care CSE team (known as Opal). Over the last 12 months the plans for the Opal team have 

developed at a pace and the foundations are now in place for a more effective and 

integrated service to support victims and target perpetrators. 2016 has seen the Opal 

team consolidating its role in supporting victims and those at risk from CSE with a more 

specialised and dedicated service. 

 During 2016 the sub-group started to receive performance reports from the Multi-Agency 
Risk panel (MARP), to ensure the LSCB had oversight of this critical partnership activity. 
The panel meets monthly to consider children who are at risk of exploitation and children 
who, when they go missing, are considered a high risk. In addition to the regular 
performance reports and following an independent review on the effectiveness of the 
panel in 2015, the sub-group received a follow up evaluation (carried out by the same 
reviewer) in March 2017 which considered the panel’s response to the original 
recommendations.  In the report, the reviewer made the following observation: 
 

“MARP functioning was unrecognisable from the previous evaluation. The previous 
evaluation was largely positive but there have been major improvements since that time. A 
meeting that generates over seventy actions to safeguard children is a powerful influence. 
Overall I thought MARP was impressive.  

I did not detect any areas of major weakness or concern. All the areas where I have 
suggested improvement are already known to MARP and have work in progress. I think the 
MARP assessment of activity both in the February strategic meeting discussion and in the 
survey returns are accurate. 

MARP appears to be a hard-working and effective process that is making a significant 
contribution to safeguarding children. It is also an evolving and improving entity which is 
important because it is clear the perpetrators of abuse perpetually change their methods 
and open up new challenges. I hope efforts will continue to identify clearer evidence of 
impact and to strengthen existing safeguarding arrangements.” 

Priority 3 - Strengthening the Voice of the Child and their families and practitioners 

 

The LSCB looks to strengthen the voice of the child by considering the extent to which services listen 

to children and reflect their lived experience in service development plans and in individual support 

plans. 
 

During 2016/17 the LSCB has made specific efforts to reflect the views of children, families and 

frontline practitioners in the Serious and Local Case Reviews it has carried out and in the multi-

agency audits on CSE and Domestic Abuse (both of which engaged with practitioners as part of their 

methodology). Both these areas of work are referred to later in this report. 
 

In addition to the work the LSCB is doing itself to engage with children, families and practitioners, 

the Board also encourages partners to develop further their work to ensure that the child’s voice is 

at the heart of service design and delivery. Examples of ways in which the LSCB and its partners have 

developed their engagement work are as follows: 
 

 A new website which aims to reach out to young people in Swindon was launched at the 

LSCBs Annual Conference in October 2016. Thedockswindon.co.uk was designed with the 

help of young service users and contains a range of information aimed at helping young 

people to make better life choices. 

Page 76

https://thedockswindon.co.uk/


9 

 

Working with Swindon Borough Council’s Restorative Youth Services, young people chose 

the style, layout and most of the new site’s content, as well as the website’s name. It is 

promoted across all of Swindon’s schools and colleges, and any other groups where young 

people meet. 
 

The site contains information for young people on physical and emotional health, education, 

employment and training links. There are sections on sports, recreation, how to stay safe, 

apprenticeships, volunteering, and securing a placement from school or college. 
 

 A number of services in Swindon have been verified and moderated through the South West 

process in conjunction with Public Health England and have achieved Young People Friendly 

accreditation including The Great Western Hospital NHS Foundation Trust – Children’s Out 

Patients, Swindon New Sanctuary (Sexual Assault and Referral Centre) and New College 

Swindon, College Nursing. These organisations were presented with their certificates of 

achievement at the LSCB Annual Conference in October 2016. 
  

 The LSCB received a report from the Council on the work its commissioned services have 

done to enable children to participate in public service decisions, service design and reviews 

in order to ensure that the voice of the child is heard and used to inform local services and 

support. An overview of the participation activity in 2016/17 can be found later in this 

report. The following Youth Participation groups  carried out the work: 

 Member of Youth Parliament (MYP)  

 Youth Council 

 Thought Tank 

 Young Inspectors  

 Children in Care Council 

 Young Carers  
 

 Swindon Borough Council coordinates a termly forum for School Designated Safeguarding 

Leads. The forum provides an opportunity at which organisations including the LSCB can 

both provide information on a range of safeguarding issues (including CSE, Online Safety, 

Missing Children, and Learning from Serious Case Reviews) and hear about the issues DSLs 

are facing in schools.  
 

 Work to further develop the LSCBs engagement with children, their families and 

practitioners continues into 2017/18   
 

Priority 4 - Supporting the effectiveness of adults and children’s services to work together to 

safeguard children  

The LSCB seeks assurance that services supporting adults and services supporting children are 

working together effectively to safeguard children. Learning from case reviews has shown that whilst 

it is vital that the needs of the adults in a family are recognised and addressed, the impact of those 

needs on the children must be considered by all the agencies and joint work to reduce risk to 

children must be of paramount importance. The following are examples of the different ways in 

which partner organisations within Swindon have developed their joint working: 

Page 77



10 

 The multi-agency practice guidelines for the assessment, support and case management of 

families - ‘See the Adult See the Child’ - has been refreshed in light of the Care Act 2014 and 

social care staff have been briefed. There is a clear focus is on alerting managers that they 

are dealing with a case that involves children and adults so that they receive appropriate 

support and Swindon Borough Council has good oversight of these cases. The focus is on 

face to face meetings for multi agencies, ownership of actions and responsibility to raise 

concerns with managers.  

 The multi-agency Transitions Programme (established September 2016) is focused on 

providing young people and families with a more joined up experience of the transition into 

adulthood and the associated involvement in children and adult services.  This programme 

focusses on those young people who are likely to transfer to a service provided by Adult 

Social Care or Adult Mental Health.  The programme supports early engagement with the 

Adult Services Transitions Team (from Year 9 or age 14) so professionals can focus on 

understanding how the young person can be as independent as possible in adulthood, and 

build a realistic but ambitious picture with them on what their adult life could be like. 
 

 Transitions: Preparing for Adulthood Roadshows aimed at providing advice, guidance and 

information for parents, carers and professionals supporting young people with additional 

needs have been held at Swindon Support and Advice Centre with more planned for 

2017/18.  
 

 The Adult Learning Disability Team has reviewed the Munby Case (which centred on a four 

year old child whose parents had learning disabilities) and have ensured that staff in Adult 

Services, Children’s Services and Mental Health (AWP and CAMHS) are aware of the 

implications for ensuring children who are vulnerable and at risk are identified as part of the 

adult assessment and plan.  
 

 Adult social workers are supported to attend Child Protection Training and there is a 

requirement for all staff to undertake the online CP training. 
 

 Work is continuing to further develop the contract management framework for 

commissioned services so that they set out more clearly the requirement for safeguarding 

and child protection training and provide for a balanced evaluation of performance to 

include the number of adult service users who have children living with them and how many 

of those are children in need/in need of protection. 
 

 The Special Educational Needs workforce within Children’s Services have been briefed on 

the adult eligibility thresholds for accessing services.  
 

 Roles and Responsibilities Workshops held with multi agency partners - Adult and Children’s 

Services, schools, colleges, Health and Mental Health services to review and share good 

practice in relation to a young person’s Annual Review. 
 

 A Child Protection Policy for Housing Services has been completed and distributed to all 

housing staff along with Child Protection Pocket Guide.  
 

 A new post of Domestic Abuse Homelessness Officer (funded by DCLG grant) is preventing a 
minimum of 10 households per month from becoming homeless. These are households who 

Page 78



11 

are victims of domestic abuse; some of these will be families with children.  
 

 Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust promote the ‘Think Family’ 

principles (as defined by The Social Care Institute for Excellence Think child, think parent, 

think family: a guide to parental mental health and child welfare December 2014) to help 

practitioners ensure appropriate communication and joint working between agencies and 

services to enable joined up working, develop a complete picture of a child’s experience, and 

better understand how to safeguard and manage risk to the child. 
 

 Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust has recruited two Named 

Safeguarding Children Nurses to support locality team’s partnership working. The Trust’s 

annual safeguarding survey has indicated increased awareness with regards to identifying 

children at risk of FGM and CSE.  
 

 The National Probation Service in Swindon is making use of a national audit tool to monitor 

the quality of their referrals to CSC. The ongoing and active involvement of NPS staff at child 

protection conferences and core groups is reflected in their use of information to support 

appropriate sentencing in court. 
 

 Public Protection staff within Swindon Borough Council’s Public Health team play an 

important role in providing intelligence on Child Sexual Exploitation matters gained whilst 

visiting the wide range of premises their work entails (private rented accommodation, 

takeaway food and other retail outlets) and report concerns in line with ‘See Something, Say 

Something’. They are available to utilise their legally privileged role to target attention on 

particular premises where called upon by the Police or other involved agencies. 
 

 Work is underway to ensure that all contracted public health services adhere to the 

safeguarding and child protection requirements within the commissioning agreements. 
 

 The LSCB Quality Assurance Subgroup is to undertake an audit in 2017/18 to test 

effectiveness in the Child Protection system when parents have substance misuse, mental 

health issues or are receiving services from adult facing services for issues which are 

impacting on their capacity to safeguard their children. 

 

 

 

Page 79



12 

The Local Context 

Swindon Borough  

The Borough is 230km2 (89 square miles) in area and is home to about 217,160 people. It consists of 

the town of Swindon itself, the market town of Highworth, the large village of Wroughton, and a 

number of smaller villages and hamlets. Swindon is at the heart of the M4 corridor and has excellent 

links to the rest of the UK and beyond, together with a superb natural setting. 

The Population 

On the whole Swindon is an economically and socially successful town although there are some 

indicators which compare unfavourably with national trends such as harm from alcohol, self-harm, 

educational attainment at the ages of 16 and 19 and the number of young people aged 18 not in 

education, training or employment.  The Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2017–2022 (see below) sets 

out the vision and long term plan for improvements in health and wellbeing of all and, whilst it 

focuses on health and social care issues, it recognises the wider factors that affect health and 

wellbeing including education, housing, employment and leisure. 

Evidence from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) suggests that in many ways the health of 

Swindon’s population is similar to England as a whole, and this in itself can present many challenges. 

While average life expectancy and smoking levels are improving there are still wide inequalities 

across the population and very little sign that the health gap is being reduced. 

Like other places across the country, Swindon people have been damaged by the economic 

recession and by growing problems of obesity and physical inactivity and the rise in Type 2 diabetes. 

The JSNA summary highlights some local issues such as the particularly large increase in numbers of 

older people projected into the future, incidents of domestic abuse, chlamydia screening in the 15-

24 age group, and a worrying number of young people being admitted to hospital for reasons 

connected to alcohol, substance misuse and self-harm. 

The increasing prevalence of long term conditions is also highlighted, in particular people having two 

or more conditions. The financial pressures facing the public sector in the coming years indicate a 

radically new approach is required, to be adopted by services and the public alike, to tackle this 

trend. 

There is a growing realisation that health and wellbeing is everyone’s business. Swindon has a 

thriving voluntary sector and wide acceptance that individual and community assets have a major 

role to play in meeting needs. People are more than passive recipients of services and, as the carers 

section shows, in reality most care is provided by individuals, families and friends themselves. 

Page 80

http://www.swindon.gov.uk/healthandwellbeing


13 

 
Children & Young People 

There are approximately 50,000 children under the age of 18. Children from Black and Minority 

Ethnic (BME) communities and diverse backgrounds account for 20% of all school age children. 117 

languages are spoken in Swindon schools and Swindon has the highest proportion of children with 

English as an additional language in the South West.  

There is fast growing population and the demand for support has increased over the past 3-4 years 

placing additional pressure on services. Higher numbers of teenagers are in need of additional help 

to address challenges such as mental health, exploitation, substance misuse and behaviours all of 

which can and do lead to family breakdown.  

 At any time about 10% of children will be in receipt of early help services, and 3.1% (about 

1,600 children) receiving specialist social care, or support following permanent exclusion or 

drug user treatment services. Children under five are supported by health visitors and the 

Family Nurse Partnership.  

 244 children were subject to a child protection plan at 31st March 2017, and is slightly above 

2015/16 when 238 were reported.  

 327 children were looked after by the Council at the end of 2016/17. Swindon now has a 

higher number of children in care when compared to national and statistical neighbours.  18 

children are unaccompanied asylum seeking children.  

 The level of child poverty is better than the England average with 14.9% of children under 16 

living in poverty in Swindon (2015/16). Beneath this overall statistic lies a more complex 

local picture. Five of Swindon’s 20 wards have poverty levels which exceed the national 

average (Gorse Hill and Pinehurst; Liden, Eldene and Park South; Penhill and Upper Stratton; 

Rodbourne Cheney, and; Walcot and Park North) although despite the high concentrations 

of poverty in these wards, it is important to note that 69% of the children living in poverty 

do not live in these areas. 

 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 

The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) has a statutory responsibility to prepare a Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Swindon.  The JSNA is not an end in itself; it draws together key 

themes from available evidence and describes the current and future health and wellbeing needs of 

the people of Swindon and is the principal work stream to inform the Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy (JHWS). The LSCB works closely as a partnership to ensure that its objectives are aligned 

with those of the HWB and that they are informed in part by the JSNA. 

Page 81



14 

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2017-2022 sets out the vision and long term improvements in 

local people’s health and wellbeing that the Health & Wellbeing Board want to achieve in Swindon.  

It focuses on health and social care issues for everyone living in Swindon, but also recognises the 

wider factors that affect health and wellbeing including education, housing, employment and 

leisure. 

The JSNA highlights the importance of local partners working together to improve health and 

wellbeing and to reduce inequalities. 

The JSNA: 

 Provides a common view of health and care needs for the local community 

 Documents current service provision 

 Identifies gaps in health and care services, documenting unmet needs 

 Provides evidence of effectiveness for different health and care interventions 

 Looks at the health of the population, with a focus on behaviours which affect health such as 

smoking, diet and exercise. 

 Identifies health inequalities 

 Is concerned with wider social factors that have an impact on people’s health and wellbeing 

such as housing, poverty and employment 

The main audience for the JSNA are health and social care commissioners who use it to plan 

services.  This includes partnership bodies such as the HWB and One Swindon, commissioning bodies 

such as Swindon Borough Council and NHS Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group and scrutiny 

bodies such as the LSCB. 

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment informs strategic planning for children and young people and 

is an integral part of the commissioning cycle.  JSNA Bulletins provide more detailed analysis on 

specific issues in order to provide a more sophisticated analysis of our population of children which 

will ensure early and effective local interventions are commissioned to counteract the adverse 

impact of multiple risks throughout childhood which contribute to poor emotional, educational, 

economic, health and social outcomes. 

In its 2016/17 summary the JSNA highlights the following key challenges it is looking to address 

under its strategic priority “Good Start in Life”: 

 The challenges facing children and young people with Special Educational Needs and 

Disabilities need to be better understood along with why they experience poorer outcomes. 

 A key prevention priority around domestic abuse is to tackle the hidden harm of abuse 

within the home that significantly impacts the health and well-being of children witnessing 

violent acts; on the mental health of victims; risk of suicide; and substance misuse issues, 

including smoking. 

Page 82

http://www.swindon.gov.uk/healthandwellbeing
http://www.swindon.gov.uk/jsna


15 

 The effectiveness of the response to children and young people who are at risk from criminal 

exploitation including, but not limited to, child sexual exploitation must be continued to be 

developed. 

 Educational attainment in Swindon needs raising at the end of secondary school to the 

England average and the attainment gap between disadvantaged pupils and their peers 

addressing. 

During 2016/17 The JSNA conducted needs assessments and other work focussing on: Suicide; 

Inequalities; Child Poverty; Oral Health; Domestic Abuse; and Substance Misuse. The reports on 

these and more is available at http://www.swindonjsna.co.uk/  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83

http://www.swindonjsna.co.uk/


16 

Swindon Performance Information – the Child’s Journey 

The Safeguarding Process Explained 

The intention of all those who work with children and young people in Swindon is for all children and 

young people, irrespective of their circumstances, to have the best start in life, to grow up safe, 

stable and healthy, to fulfill their potential and make a contribution to their community. 

Children, young people and families experience a range of needs at different times in their lives. 

However, while all children and young people require access to high-quality universal services, some 

of them also have additional needs that may relate to their health, well-being, development and 

education. Parents/carers may also experience challenges in providing for their family.  Some 

children will have complex needs and are supported by a number of services as part of a multi-

agency response. A small number will be in need of protection because there are concerns that they 

are suffering or are likely to suffer significant harm.  

The LSCB’s guidance around a child’s level of need helps workers to identify the appropriate level of 

response to a child’s assessed needs.    
 

The Early Help Record and Plan (EHR&P) is the common process for assessing, planning and 

supporting children, young people and families with additional needs.  The aim is to consider the 

needs of the child or young person in four key areas: Health and Well-being; Development needs, 

educational attainment and achievement; Parenting/caring; and, Family and Community. 
 

The table and graphs below show Early Help Records and Plans activity across agencies for 2016/17 

with comparison data for 2015/16. 
 

Early Help Record Activity 

  
Apr-
16 

May-
16 

Jun-
16 

Jul-
16 

Aug-
16 

Sep-
16 

Oct-
16 

Nov-
16 

Dec-
16 

Jan-
17 

Feb-
17 

Mar-
17 

New Early Help Records 16/17 75 72 61 43 20 46 47 97 44 71 53 55 

New Early Help Records 15/16 63 60 77 72 23 54 88 89 76 94 69 57 

Early Help Records 16/17 (Cumulative) 75 147 208 251 271 317 364 461 505 576 629 684 

Early Help Records 15/16 (Cumulative) 63 123 200 272 295 349 437 526 602 696 765 822 

 

 

Page 84



17 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

Early Help Review Activity 

  
Apr-
16 

May-
16 

Jun-
16 

Jul-
16 

Aug-
16 

Sep-
16 

Oct-
16 

Nov-
16 

Dec-
16 

Jan-
17 

Feb-
17 

Mar-
17 

Early Help Review 16/17 110 102 165 121 18 121 161 187 74 131 120 133 

Early Help Review 15/16 86 100 131 104 22 130 87 108 81 133 123 98 

Early Help Review 16/17 (Cumulative) 110 212 377 498 516 637 798 985 1059 1190 1310 1443 

Early Help Review 15/16 (Cumulative) 86 186 317 421 443 573 660 768 849 982 1105 1203 

Page 85



18 

 
 
 

 
 
Where the child’s needs are such that they are considered to be at risk of suffering significant harm, 

practitioners will want to contact Swindon Borough Council’s Children’s Services. The following 

paragraphs describe what happens when such a contact is made and is followed by some key 

statistics relating to this process and the different groups of children who are supported by 

children’s social care teams. 

Page 86



19 

 

1. Each professional, family member and resident who gets in touch with Family Contact Point 

/ MASH (Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub) and is seeking advice on a potential safeguarding 

matter is counted as a contact by Family Contact Point (FCP).  If the concern is of a child 

protection nature or further consultancy is needed to explore the degree of concern, then a 

caller can have direct contact either with social workers or an Assistant Team Manager, 

within FCP/MASH.  When the child’s level of need requires social care’s involvement, then 

the contact is passed as a referral to Social Care and referred to the Assessment & Child 

Protection Team. 

 

2. A worker in FCP/MASH takes the details of the contact and if necessary makes further 

enquiries with other agencies about the child and family.  This information is given to the 

Assistant Team Manager within FCP/MASH who makes the decision within 24 hours on, 

whether the case should be referred to another agency (Early Help) or universal services or 

whether the case is a child in need.  The referrer is contacted in all instances to feedback 

what the decision was.  If the case is referred, as a child in need, to the Assessment and 

Child Protection Team (ACP) for an assessment of need, then a social worker will complete a 

Statutory Assessment within 1 – 45 working days. 

 

3. Following a Statutory Assessment a case may be closed, or referred to another 

agency/service or allocated to a social worker for provision of a service if the child is deemed 

to be a child in need or in need of protection.  If the manager decides that the child may be 

at risk of harm and this is a child protection referral, then a Strategy discussion takes place 

with the police and other agencies.  The Strategy discussion decides whether an enquiry is 

required and whether this should be led by the Police or social care, or be undertaken jointly 

by both agencies.  This is called a Section 47 child protection enquiry.  If following the 

enquiry the concerns are substantiated, a child protection conference is required which will 

be held within 15 days of the strategy discussion.  The child protection conference decides 

whether the child should have a child protection plan. 

 

Early Help and Safeguarding Performance Analysis 2016/17 

Contacts to Children’s Services 

Swindon received around 1000 contacts a month during 16/17. This is lower than the 1100 monthly 
average during the previous year. 21% of contacts progressed to social care referral. This is lower 
than 25.6% during 15/16. The embedding of the FCP/MASH, within Swindon has led to contacts 
being dealt with in a more efficient manner, and ensures that early help services are engaged in the 
process and can accept pieces of work as an alternative to referring to social care where appropriate 
to do so. The number of contacts during 16/17 was slightly less than in 15/16, and this is the first 
time a decrease has occurred for more than 3 years: 
 
 
 
  

 

Page 87



20 

 

Rate of referrals per 10,000 population aged under 18: 

The referral rate in Swindon reduced from 694.5 per 10,000 population in 15/16 to 616.5 in 16/17. 
This equates to 3022 referrals. This is the first time we have seen a decrease in the last 4 years.  
Swindon is still above the national and statistical neighbour average, but the gap has decreased. The 
benchmarking group that we use has also reported a decrease, and this is based on the latest data 
(16.17), whereas the national and statistical benchmarking data only goes up until 15/16. 

 

 
 

Re-referrals into Children’s Social Care that occurred within 12 months of the previous referral: 

The re-referral rate was 26.6% during 16/17. This was a slight reduction from 27.9% in 15/16, but 
still above national average (22.3%), and statistical neighbour (22%). The main reason for re-referrals 
links to domestic violence, mainly because this referral reason forms the highest group of referrals 
overall. 

Page 88



21 

 

 

2986 Statutory Assessments were completed in 2016/17.  This compares with 3146 in the previous 
year. Although, a slight reduction, the service volume is still high, particularly as a high percentage of 
those assessed (80.2%), go onto receive a service. This compares with 69% for statistical neighbours 
and 75.6% national average.  

Children in need (section 17 social care) 

There were 1111 children in need (this does not include children subject to a child protection plan or 

children in care) at the end of March 2017. This is a reduction from 1283 at March 2016. In terms of 

comparison with others, Swindon is in line with the national average, but above the statistical 

neighbour average (graph shown in per 10,000k under 18 for comparator purposes): 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 89



22 

Children subject to a child protection plan as at 31st March annual snapshot 

 
 

244 children were subject to a child protection plan at 31st March 2017, and is slightly above 

2015/16 when 238 were reported. For 2016/17 Swindon had a rate of 49 per 10,000 population 

under 18 and whilst figures for England and our statistical neighbours is not yet available this is 

above the rate of the Local Authority’s benchmarking group. 

 

Of the 244 children on child protection plans, 93% were reviewed within timescales. This is a 

decrease in performance from 95% the previous year, but is in line with the national average. 

Reasons for delays in review vary, and in some instances the delay is in the best interests of the 

child. Swindon consistently targets 100%. 

 

There is significant performance improvement activity in the Quality Assurance team to enable 

improvement of performance alongside increased service volumes and limited capacity. 

Performance for quarter 1 17/18 shows a much improved picture. 

Children subject to a child protection plan by category of abuse: 

Category of abuse 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Neglect  64 77 92 112 

Physical abuse  72 33 20 24 

Sexual abuse 15 15 14 25 

Emotional abuse 63 88 112 83 

Total  214 213 238 244 

Neglect and emotional abuse continue to be the main reasons for child protection plans. However, 

there has also been a notable increase in children being on a plan for sexual abuse, and reasons for 

this need further investigation: It could be that there are one or two large families where sexual 

abuse was the category for a number of siblings. Think we should know why this is by now… 

 

 

 

Page 90



23 

Percentage of children subject to a child protection plan for a second or subsequent time 

For 2016/17, the rate of children starting a child protection plan for the second or subsequent time 

was 21%.  This is up from 19% in 15/16, and is now higher than the national average of 17.9% and 

above the statistical neighbour average of 18.8%. Performance is being closely monitored via the 

Children, Families and Community Health performance reporting arrangements, and the percentage 

has reduced again in the first quarter of 17/18, although this does tend to be an annual trend.  

Percentage of children ceasing to be subject of a child protection plan, who had been the subject 
of a child protection plan continuously for two years or more 

Swindon has very small number of children ceasing a plan who, at the point of ceasing, had been on 

a plan for 2 years or more and this should be considered when reviewing performance. Performance 

for 16/17 reports a very slight increase from 3.1% in 15/16 to 3.6% in 16/17.  This equates to 11 

children out of 309 children ceasing plans during the year. This measure should be considered in 

conjunction with a relatively high number of children having subsequent child protection plans in the 

reporting period, as a low duration could indicate children are coming off plans prematurely, leading 

to a subsequent child protection plan in the future for the same reason. Performance has increased 

to 7.6% in quarter 1 this is due to one family remaining on a plan for slightly over 2 years. There is 

currently one child currently on a plan who has remained on a plan slightly longer than a year but is 

yet to cease. 

Children Looked After 

327 children were in care/looked after by the Council at the end of 2016/17. The rate of children 

looked after increased from 60.1, (per 10,000 pop U18), in March 16 to 66.6 in March 17. Swindon 

now has a higher number of children in care when compared to the national (60), and statistical 

neighbour (61), averages.  18 children are unaccompanied asylum seeking children.  

Placement Stability 

At the end of March 2017, 12.5% of children in care had 3 or more placements, compared to 10% 

nationally. This measure is influenced by the need to move children, when they come into care, in an 

emergency and a good match between child and carer cannot be found.  The national lack of foster 

placement affect this measure. 

Private Fostering: 

The Local Authority has a responsibility under the Children (Private Arrangements for Fostering) 

Regulations 2005 and the National Minimum Standards for Private Fostering to provide a proactive 

approach and commitment to safeguarding and promoting the welfare and needs of privately 

fostered children by everyone that works with children. 

All Private Fostering referrals and records of visits are recorded on the Capita Integrated Children’s 

System; with a clear process in place, from initial notification to allocation of case to the social 

worker. This has strengthened strategic oversight, and improved the case recording of and outcomes 

for privately fostered children. 

 

During the 2014 Single Inspection Framework Ofsted inspection, inspectors commented on the low 

number of notifications and the potential under reporting of privately fostered children. Since then a 

new system has since been implemented that allows for all notifications to be recorded.  

 

Page 91



24 

In June 2015 a private fostering social worker, with a borough wide lead on Private Fostering was 

appointed. The role also supports families of children who are subject to Special Guardianship 

Orders. 
 

In Swindon during 2016/17 there were 17 children under private fostering arrangements, this is a 

decrease of 2 from 15/16: 
 

 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Number of Privately 

Fostered Children 
15 9 20 16 19 17 

 

Challenges for the coming year are to continue to promote awareness of private fostering to the 

public and to professionals and to develop further the robust management and oversight of cases 

held by the Fostering & Adoption Team. 
 

Child Protection and Disabled Children  
 

Child protection assessments of disabled children and young people are undertaken by the 
Disabled Children Team (DCT). Currently, there are 171 children open to the DCT (plus an 
additional 30 cases that are case managed (where the care packages is provided by DCT and 
monitored on a six monthly basis). Of these, 111 are Children in Need (46 of these are only open 
for overnight respite), 32 are Children Looked After and 30 are the subject of Child Protection 
Plans. Of these cases 2 are the subject of Public Law Outline (pre care proceedings).  
 

 
 

About 80% of all referrals into the DCT have child protection concerns (the concerns are spread 
fairly evenly across the four categories of abuse, with a slightly higher proportion under neglect). 

Disabled Children living in Swindon are provided with packages of support and short breaks to 
ensure their care needs, at a child in need level, are met. The Short Break Statement and offer is 
detailed at:  www.swindon.gov.uk/aiminghighshortbreaks.  

Support packages are either provided by the DCT following a statutory assessment or via self- 
assessment directly from the Aiming High Short Break Team. There are currently 486 children 
receiving a service through Aiming High. Should a child protection concern be identified amongst 

Page 92

http://www.swindon.gov.uk/aiminghighshortbreaks


25 

this group of children, then workers in the Aiming High Team will refer the matter to the Family 
Contact Point/MASH. 

The criteria for the provision of a service from DCT means that the most vulnerable disabled 
children and young people receive a service. The support provided is more targeted to ensure that 
the children and young people receive the help they need to remain safe and living with their 
families in their local communities, for example Social Care Workers in DCT working directly with 
families to support behaviour plans written by the Learning Difficulties Child & Adolescent Mental 
Health Service. 

During 2016/17 DCT has been able to work closely with the OPAL Team to address issues regarding 
CSE and the particular challenges facing young people who have an Autistic Spectrum Condition. 
This joint work has resulted in tailored packages of care for both victims and perpetrators of CSE 
thereby ensuring that the young people received support at an early stage. The DCT continues to 
work closely with the OPAL Team in an advisory capacity. 

The Disabled Children Team has identified that a number of boys are being referred into the team 
with an Autistic Spectrum Disorder who are presenting as at risk of criminal exploitation. Currently 
there appears to be little support for this group and DCT is to explore this further. 
 

Advocacy in the Child Protection System  

Coram Voice has been commissioned by Swindon Borough Council Children’s Services to provide a 

children’s rights service in Swindon since 2008/9.  The contract has three distinct elements, 

Participation, Independent Visitors and Advocacy 
 

Background and Context: 
 

Coram Voice receive invitations to support young people aged 7yrs and over through the Child 

Protection Process by the Swindon BC Conference and Review Team.  

Coram Voice provides support to a high percentage of children and young people with trained 

advocates, either through enabling young people to attend conferences or through gathering their 

views and presenting on their behalf. 

During this period the service has undergone a small change in that an advocate is no longer offered 

for children/young people at Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPC’s).    It was agreed that the 

service would be more effective if offered at the first review conference.  This ensures that the 

service is provided at the most appropriate time for the child.    

The take up of this service is 95%, with a total of 1806 hours have been spent on the CP cases. 

Coram Voice also work with young people who have been through the CPCC and then been placed in 

care on developing better facilities and venues.   
 

A total of 413 young people received Child Protection advocacy during this period, some of whom 

were receiving a service in the previous reporting year. The table below gives a comparison for the 

three years to end of March 2017. 

New cases 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Q1 10 32 66 

Q2 49 43 8 

Q3 26 60 37 

Q4 21 66 62 

Open cases from previous year  174 224 240 

Total 280 425 413 
 

Page 93



26 

Outcomes  
 

54 completed evaluation forms were received over this reporting period from different pieces of 
advocacy work and cases. 
 

Question    

How easy was it to get hold of your advocate  27%        Easy 0%     Not easy 0%  Difficult 

Did your advocate listen 51%     Always 6%       Mostly  

Did your advocate treat you fairly 100%    Always   

Did your advocate give you enough information  92%      Always 6%       Mostly 2%     Some 

Did your advocate respect your privacy 96%      Always 2%       Mostly 2%     Some 

Did your advocate treat you fairly 100%    Always   

Did your advocate help in the way you wanted 94%         Yes 6%       Mostly  

Did your advocate help to get your views heard 98%      Always 2%       Mostly  

How do you rate Coram Voice 77%   Excellent 21%      Good 2%  Average 

If you were unhappy would you know who to tell 83%         Yes 17%        No  

Would you recommend Coram Voice to others 93%         Yes 7%          No  

 
Feedback from Young People 

 If you get a big worry you can’t tell anyone else you can tell your advocate and they tell the 
other people for you, which is better than trying to tell them yourself. I’m more braver and 
confident to tell Mum and Dad too now 

 I like X and like having an advocate but sometimes it’s hard to talk about the difficult things, 
but at least they listen 

 it helps to talk to you because sometimes I don’t want to speak at meetings and I know that 
you will speak for me 

 

Feedback from Professionals. 

 He is able to ask the right questions that would assist the child or children he is working with. 
He is a great advocate in children’s rights and balances that with right to safety and 
protection. 

 I value X in his role and I know how well the children, young people and families value his role. 

 “Thank you for your work with the children, it changed the meeting and the plan after hearing 
their voices” 

 

Participation 

Participation for Young People 2016 – 2017 
 

Swindon Borough Council commissions a number of organisations to enable children to participate 

in public service decisions, service design and reviews in order to ensure that the voice of the child 

is heard and used to inform local services and support. This report gives a brief overview of the 

youth participation activity in 2016/17, carried out by the following Youth Participation Groups: 

Facilitated by STEP; 

 Member of Youth Parliament (MYP)  

 Youth Council 

 Thought Tank 

 Young Inspectors 

 

Page 94



27 

Facilitated by Coram Voice; 

 Children in Care Council 

Support provided by Swindon Carers Centre; 

 Young Carers  

Member of Youth Parliament (MYP) 

The MYP and two deputies stand for a period of two years, during this reporting period they have 

been involved in the following pieces of work:  

 A survey on ‘Emotional Health and Well-being’ developed by the MYP and deputies has 

been completed with a total of 601 responses from 14 schools, special schools and 

colleges, and children & young people who are home schooled. 3% of respondents stated 

that if they felt they needed support they did not know of anybody who could help, those 

that did feel they had support favoured family and friends in the first instance. 

 Other than family, school, friends, the internet or a doctor, over half were not aware of any 

other organisations who they could reach out to for support. 261 children & young people 

were aware of other avenues of support; however 16% were unsure how to access these 

services; 53 respondents who were happy to say that they had accessed additional support, 

including TAMHS, CAMHS, School Counselling, STEP and support from social care were 

reasonably positive about their experiences with 37% stating that services were ‘Slightly 

Useful’, 39% found services ‘Useful’, and 22% found them ‘Very Useful’. 

 Following the findings of this survey, with a particular focus around service promotion, 

information and access; at the request of the Senior Public Health Manager for Mental 

Health, the MYP has been asked to review and support development of current mental 

health and emotional well-being provision.  

Phase 1 

The MYP will undertake a mapping exercise to understand the kinds of mental health and 

support services that are available in Swindon, and will run a children & young person led 

campaign with the aim of promoting current services and reducing the stigma around 

mental health. 

Provide an up to date list of all mental health and support services – statutory, voluntary and 

private –available to children & young people within the borough of Swindon (including 

those accessed through GP surgeries).  

Phase 2 

The MYP will carry out ‘targeted’ consultation with those dealing with well-being and mental 

health issues, as well as those who have no experience of services. Developing the original 

survey to include an additional focus around stigma and self-harm. They will create a 

‘working group’, made up of young people aged 11 to 19, who will use the information 

gathered to develop a dual campaign – to support the promotional campaign in phase 1 – 

using mixed media to educate, inform and dispel myths around mental health and self-harm. 

 

Page 95



28 

Swindon Youth Council 

The Swindon Youth Council has met 3 times this year with a core membership of 13 young people, 

12 schools ( Primary and Secondary) are currently represented, and membership includes 

representation from young people in care, young carers, and young people with special educational 

needs and disabilities (SEND) 

Work that has taken place during this reporting period includes: 

 The Youth Council has continued to work closely with hospital representatives and have 

researched and designed a ‘Useful website for young people in Swindon’ as part of the 

transitions CQUIN for the Great Western Hospital http://www.gwh.nhs.uk/wards-and-

services/a-to-z/transition-to-adult-care/useful-websites-for-young-people-in-swindon/ 

 The Youth Council has also created a questionnaire to be used by Great Western Hospital 

(GWH) to obtain feedback about treatment experience and how to improve the experience 

for young people, and ensure they are providing a ‘young person friendly’ environment.  A 

representative of the Youth Council was selected to participate in the Whitehall Takeover 

Challenge where they were given the opportunity of shadowing Gavin Barwell who is the 

Minister of State for Housing and Planning, for the day on 17th November. They attended 

various meetings, public events and met lots of ministerial staff at their government offices 

in London. 

 The Youth Council has also made links with Healthwatch and have determined a work plan 

for the remainder of the year 

Thought Tank (Disabled Children & Young People) 

Thought Tank has a core membership of 13 young people with a mix of learning and physical 

disabilities.  

 The group has supported the local Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) reforms 

by creating the ‘You tell us’ survey, this survey aims to assess the impact of publicity and 

service improvement following the reforms. 78% of the 132 young people who have taken 

part have stated that they feel that services have improved for them over the last year. 

 The results of this survey will feed in to the CQC and Ofsted Local Area Inspection in 

identifying and meeting the needs of children and young people who have special 

educational needs and/or disabilities. 

 Thought Tank is also supporting Healthwatch and have reviewed their current promotional 

material to make it accessible for young people. 

 The thought tank group has designed a draft ‘Transitions Charter’ to be displayed in the 

Great Western Hospital. 

Young Inspectors   

 The ‘Young Inspector’s’ programme has been made up of Thought Tank members with the 

purpose of Inspecting services on offer through the ‘Aiming High’ provision. A total of 19 

young people received training regarding inspection processes and helped to redesign the 

Page 96

http://www.gwh.nhs.uk/wards-and-services/a-to-z/transition-to-adult-care/useful-websites-for-young-people-in-swindon/
http://www.gwh.nhs.uk/wards-and-services/a-to-z/transition-to-adult-care/useful-websites-for-young-people-in-swindon/


29 

evaluation and feedback sheets to be used during the inspection process. 6 young people 

carried out inspections which are now uploaded onto the Borough’s My Care My Support 

‘local offer’ website. 
 

 Following the inspections, and submissions of their reports, all young people’s 

recommendations have been actioned by the individual provisions to the satisfaction of the 

young people. 
 

 Further information on the above can be found in the attached paper from STEP 

submitted to the Health, Adults & Children Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee.    

Children in Care Council (CiCC) 

During this period Thirty-five young people from 7-18 year olds have taken part in two monthly 

group sessions; looking at ways to enable the voices of children in care to be heard. The groups 

aim to provide young people in Care with regular access to a safe environment to ask questions, 

challenge systems and express themselves. Young people can gain new experiences and 

confidence, accreditation for learning as well as the mutual support of being with others who can 

truly understand how they feel. 

 

The CiCC has continued to work on its three priorities for the year; 

 Social worker consistency 

 Family contact  

 Mental health services. 

The group has contributed to: 

 the Children in Care Awards planning process 

 the design and content of new Health passports for Looked After Children 

 the Care Leavers Pack  

 Young people also prepared questions and answers for interviewing candidates for Director 

of Children’s Services for Swindon Borough Council. 

 Five young people prepared and delivered a presentation highlighting this year’s issues for 

the Corporate Parenting Board in March 2017. 

 Young people took part in a consultation for SBC with ISOS, giving young people’s 

perspective as part of the wider information gathering. 

 Four young people took part in a peer-learning, training and consultation day with ‘Leap’, an 

organisation that support young people to manage conflict in their lives and achieve their 

goals. 

They have also submitted six entries to the National ‘Voices’ writing competition and began working 

on a theatre piece with the ‘My Place’ project. 

 

 

 

Page 97



30 

Young Carers  

 The Salamander project took place during February half term with 16 young carers taking 

part This is the 8th year that Swindon Carers Centre and the Dorset and Wiltshire Fire Rescue 

Service have worked together on the project which was a resounding success.  

 Consultation took place with young carers aged 14-15 who attend a monthly support 

group to ascertain what they wanted from the service as there were very low attendance 

numbers each month. The result of the consultation was that this would change to a 

monthly drop in at Sanford House with an activity every 12 weeks as the young carers 

enjoyed an activity but wanted the option of a drop in where they could relax and chat 

too. There has since been an increase in attendance to the drop in. This change was 

communicated in the most recent YC newsletter. 

 

Allegations Management 

Statutory Guidance places a clear responsibility on organisations to report to the Local Authority 

Designated Officer where it is alleged that a person working with children has:  

 Behaved in a way that has harmed, or may have harmed a child;  

 Possibly committed a criminal offence against, or related to a child; or  

 Behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates that he or she would pose a risk 
of harm to children. 

Over the course of 2016/17 there were more than 200 cases which were reviewed by the LADO. Of 

these 92 are considered to have met the threshold for referral with the remainder consisting of 

cases where the LADO provided advice and guidance for instance supporting organisations to 

manage their own internal investigations.   

The following chart shows the numbers of enquiries and referrals made to the LADO for each month 

of 2016/17: 

 

Page 98



31 

Referrals by Agency 

Referrals from the education sector account for approximately one third of the total and although 

this is proportionate to the previous year, referrals from secondary schools has halved year on year. 

This may well be a positive reflection on improving practices in terms of safer recruitment and safer 

organisations and further work to better understand the nature and pattern of referrals form 

schools will take place over the next year. 

The second largest number of referrals relate to Foster Carers with both in-house and agency foster 
carers figures increasing from last year. This potentially positive position may be due to the LADO 
providing a consistent approach and possibly indicating an improvement in self-regulation and 
safeguarding awareness confidence within the independent sector or an enhanced understanding of 
the allegations management process by Social Workers for Looked after Children.    
 
A similar for referrals from Health has also been identified. However the term “Health” covers a 
wide range of partner agencies especially in the way that Public Health Provision is now 
commissioned and provided. Future data collection and analysis will provide for a better breakdown 
of figures to show referrals from individual ‘health’ organisations for example the CCG, GWH & 
CAMHS. 
 

 

Page 99



32 

LSCB - Scrutiny and Challenge 

Swindon LSCB provides scrutiny and challenge of single and multi-agency safeguarding arrangements 
as follows:  

 Considering reports from partner agencies. 

 Requesting reports on specific issue. 

 Conducting a ‘Section 11’ audit. 

 Maintaining a Challenge Log.  

 Monitoring performance. 

 Quality assurance activity. 

 Conducting Serious and Local Case Reviews  

Regular reports from Partner agencies 

In 2016/17 The Board received progress reports on the effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements 
from the following organisation: 

 Clinical Commissioning Group (June 2016) 

 Swindon Borough Council – Children Families & Community Health (December 2016) 

 The LSCB received the following reports on core safeguarding arrangements and activity and 
provide for scrutiny and analysis of the effectiveness of core components of the safeguarding system 
and identify key challenges and opportunities for development:  

 Child Protection Conferences  

 Independent Reviewing Officers and oversight arrangements for Looked after Children. 

 The Local Authority Designated Officer and Allegation Management 

 The annual report on complaints regarding children’s social care 

 The Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) and Multi-agency Public 
Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) processes 

 

Reports on specific issues 

 Disabled Children 

 Substance Misuse 

 Advocacy in the Child Protection Process 

 School Exclusions 

 Children Missing Education 

 Children Missing from Home & Care 

 Private Fostering 

 Domestic Abuse 

 Licensing & Gambling 

 Safeguarding in Dentistry & Pharmacy Services 

 Radicalisation and Extremism (Prevent Strategy) 

Page 100



33 

  

 ‘Section 11’ Audit  

Following a full Section 11 review of agencies in 2015/16 the assurance activity in 2016/17 asked 
partners to provide an update against their 2015/16 returns with a specific focus on the 
effectiveness of agency responses to Child Sexual Exploitation. Partners were also asked to complete 
a Child Protection and Safeguarding Training Needs Analysis to inform the work of the Training & 
Development Sub-group. 
 

Child Sexual Exploitation: Agencies were asked to report on how well they met the following 
standards:  
 

1. All appropriate staff have access to an awareness raising programme that includes 
associated risk factors.  

2. All professionals who work directly with those at risk of, or experiencing, sexual exploitation 
have the skills and knowledge to do so 

3. services are fully accessible to all young people who may need them, regardless of gender, 
ethnicity or any other characteristic 

4. There is an agreed protocol/procedure in place specifically relating to CSE 
5. There is a risk assessment tool being used to identify vulnerable young people. 
6. There is a clear referral/pathway in place and practitioners are fully aware of it 
7. Staff are aware of thresholds for referrals and support has been publicised to practitioners 
8. Child sexual exploitation is championed at the highest level 
9. In all cases of children and young people going missing, the risk of sexual exploitation is 

specifically considered  
10. Preventative work is delivered as early as possible with children and young people identified 

as at particular risk, and with their parents/carers 
11. Feedback from service users is taken into account in the development/review of services 
12. All staff in direct contact with children and young people understand how to record 

information for evidential purposes 
13. There are arrangements for supervision and management oversight of staff working with 

children and young people at risk 
 

Returns were received from thirteen organisations with their responses being considered by the 
CSE/Missing Sub-group in order that they could inform the development of the subgroups action 
plan. 
 

Training Needs Analysis: Agencies were asked to provide information that would help the LSCBs 
Training & Development Subgroup to:  

 ascertain the safeguarding training needs of different organisations 

 understand, in larger organisations, what specific training is to be attended by which roles 

 advise and support organisations to meet their training requirements  

 identify opportunities for sharing resources  

 identify areas of unmet need in order to plan to meet that need 
 

Eleven agencies responded to this request with the returns being considered by the Training & 
Development Subgroup in their commissioning of the next learning and development programme.  
 
Challenge Log 

Whilst the vast majority of ‘challenges’ that arise during the work of these groups is addressed 
within those meetings the LSCB also maintains a Challenge Log for issues that prove to be 

Page 101



34 

particularly complex or longstanding and require some level of escalation within the Board. In 
2016/17 key areas of challenge have been: 

 The commissioning of a review of the process for responding to child deaths following a 
challenge raised by the Child Death Overview Panel. The CCG is leading on the revision of the 
multi-agency protocol. 

 The Community Paediatric Care Pathway is to be reviewed as part of the CCGs review of its 
services for children following a challenge from the LSCBs Case Review Group. 

 Following a change in the way in which Swindon Borough Council provided support for 
safeguarding in schools a number of the Board’s subgroups identified the challenge this 
posed in ensuring that schools were appropriately engaged with the work of the LSCB. The 
Independent Chair has raised this challenge with the Local Authority and in addition has 
liaised with Headteachers and Designated Safeguarding Leads (DSL) in order to identify 
opportunities for two-way communication. To date this has involved the LSCB taking part in 
the termly DSL Forums, attending meetings of the Swindon Secondary, Primary and Special 
School Headteacher meetings and ‘recruiting’ a number of volunteer DSLs onto LSCB Sub-
groups. 

The challenge log is reviewed at every meeting of the sub-groups and considered at the quarterly 
meetings of the Board.   

 

During 2016/17 the LSCB sought to further develop and embed its Learning and Improvement 
Framework.  This work was overseen by the Board and three of its sub groups - Performance, Quality 
Assurance (QA) and the Case Review Group (CRG) which discharged their functions as follows:  

Performance Monitoring 
 
The Performance Sub-group supports the performance management function of the Swindon LSCB.  
It uses both qualitative and quantitative information to provide assurance to the Board that ‘We are 
doing things right?” and ‘We are making a difference” by providing evidence to demonstrate: 
 

 we have kept children safe; 

 we have improved outcomes for children and their families; and, 

 we are working in a consistent manner. 
 

The sub-group is responsible for overseeing the gathering of a full range of intelligence from across 
the partnership to ensure information sharing at both child level and performance data level is 
robust and acted upon. This year, the group has focussed on reporting against a core dataset relating 
to safeguarding activity and outcomes for children and young people.  It has adopted a theme based 
approach to analysis.  Alongside this information, organisational headlines have also been collated 
from individual partner organisations which flag both strengths and challenges in service delivery 
 

Activity during 2016/17 
 

This year we have developed a performance core dataset which adopts a themed approach to 
analysis and reporting.  This dataset, alongside organisational headline reports from across the 
partnership, relates to the LSCB Business Plan priorities.  It measures the impact of the work 
undertaken by the LSCB sub-groups as well as learning from Serious Case Reviews.  The definition 
and method for calculating the core dataset Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) have been 
identified and linked to national government returns to reduce the burden as well as ensure 
transparency and consistency in safeguarding reporting across the partnership.  The quarterly 

Page 102



35 

performance updates for the core dataset and the organisational headline reports are scrutinised 
and discussed by members of the Performance Sub-group with further action identified when 
appropriate. 
 

Impact 
 

The gathering and reporting of intelligence across the LSCB partnership has provided a means by 
which a number of improvements in services provided to children and young people can be 
evidenced.  For example:  
 

 A performance management approach which is less burdensome and supports the analysis 
of themes and strands providing a more joined up and holistic approach to tackling emerging 
and current safeguarding concerns in a timely manner. 

 

 Foster Carer Recruitment has improved, hence more children able to be placed locally and 
going forward the skill set of the carers will improve to increase stability 
 

 30% improvement in the timeliness of Pre-proceedings and Care proceedings (court work) 
and Swindon is now amongst the three best performing LA’s in respect to timeframes in 
court work   
 

Evidence 
 

Quarterly updates against the core dataset and the organisational performance headline reports 
provide ongoing evidence of impact and improvement. This is scrutinised by the Performance sub 
group and presented to the full LSCB to enable further debate and assurance.      
 

Challenges raised through analysis of performance data: 

 The inability for ICT systems operating within and across organisations to support joint case 
management working across agencies to protect and safeguard children, young people and 
their families. 

 To address the shortfall in the use of Early Help Records and Plans across the partnership  

 Increase in demand for Children’s Social Care services. 

 Staffing pressures and capacity issues for all partners. 

 To further embed the core dataset and performance reporting arrangements to provide 
relevant intelligence and information to assure the LSCB that agencies are working together 
effectively to deliver the 2017/18 safeguarding priorities and continuing to learn from 
serious case reviews.  

 

Quality assurance activity 

The QA sub group is guided by the LSCB Business Plan, SCR/LCR Action Plans and issues arising from 
performance data in the focus of its multi-agency QA work. 
 

The key audit multi-agency LSCB auditing activity for year 2016/17 included: 
 

 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Part 1 - Workforce Survey  

This survey was reported to the QA sub group in July 2016 and was a comprehensive piece of 
work with over 1000 frontline practitioners responding. 

Key Findings: It told us that overall, staff were aware of CSE and what to look for: however, 
some were unsure where to find the correct guidance in a small number of agencies e.g. 

Page 103



36 

primary schools. There were some staff who relied on their manager for advice which led the 
group to consider how the LSCB could be assured that managers were clear and aware of the 
good practice required to support staff in identifying CSE. GPs did not participate in the survey 
at all and this was raised as a challenge with the CCG. Another issue was that for some 
agencies not all practitioners saw CSE as an issue for the 16-18 age group. The survey report 
was shared widely so that the learning from it could commence and positives celebrated. It 
was agreed that actions arising from the survey would be carried forward to a combined 
action plan following completion of part 2 of the audit. 

  

 CSE Part 2 – Multi Agency Case File Audit  

Key findings were: 
 

 Return Interviews for Children/Young People (C/YP) who go missing – acknowledged that 
where Coram Voice carried out the return interviews there was good recording and 
sharing of information.  However, when the interviews were done by other professionals 
this was less effective. 

 Ongoing need for improvement about information sharing, especially with services such as 
Probation and CAMHS who are not routinely invited to Strategy Discussions. 

 Input by GPs to Part 2 of the Audit was improved. 

 Specific Learning included not just believing what the parents say, but listening also to the 
C/YP and ensuring that any change of address was shared with all professionals working 
with the C/YP. 

 Overall the recommendations did not highlight anything of significance, but reinforced the 
continued need to further improve working together and information sharing – a common 
theme from audits and case reviews. 
 

 A combined action plan for part 1 and 2 of the CSE audit was developed and will be 
monitored by the QA Group. 

  

 Domestic Abuse Audit 

This activity was delayed due to capacity issues but the scoping, methodology and lead was 
agreed at the January 2017 meeting and the work was completed within Q4 and is to be 
presented to the QA group in June 2017. The learning from the methodology for CSE part 2 
has influenced the facilitation of this audit and it has been a more positive experience for 
partners and the LSCB. 
 

Key Findings: The main areas highlighted by this audit, to be included in an action plan 
overseen by the QA group, were: 

 The need to ensure that when supporting children living with domestic abuse, 
practitioners maintain a sufficient focus on the needs of the child and ensure that support 
plans reflect their lived experience. 

 Information systems within and between agencies need to be able to ‘talk’ better to each 
other so that information can be shared at the most appropriate time and support earlier 
more effective interventions. 

 Assessments need to better evidence the impact of domestic abuse on the child and 
subsequent support plans must focus on addressing and reducing this impact recognising 
that it changes over the time that children are supported and can manifest in different 
ways as children grow older and experience transitions to secondary school or into 
adulthood. 

Page 104



37 

 The importance of making sure that the right professionals are involved at the right time. 
To facilitate this their needs to be an understanding of the different roles and 
responsibilities of professionals and agencies. For example, ‘Health’ covers a range of 
services and organisations often with little crossover with each other. 

 Each agency that took part in this audit also identified a number of single agency learning 
points which will be considered by the QA group alongside the multi-agency 
recommendations. 

 

 E-safety Training Audit 
 

The audit was devised to establish how agencies are ensuring that staff have the relevant 
knowledge and understanding of e-safety and online communication to safeguard the children 
and young people they work with. There were 80 responses primarily from education and 
childcare. 
 
Key findings were: 
 

 100% of respondents have an e safety policy to regulate the use of technology by staff. It 
was noted that 3 responses highlighted that this is not shared as part of the staff induction 
process. 

 65 responses confirmed that they have a policy to regulate the use of technology for use by 
children. Where this is not in place, respondents said this was because children are not 
provided with access to the internet. 

 A number of responses made reference to the positive impact of using the 360 degree safe / 
online compass self-evaluation tool. 

 The majority of agencies (in the main schools) provide single agency e-safety training for 
staff on an annual basis. Many early years providers are not providing single agency e-safety 
training. 

 Agencies are not consistently measuring the impact of staff training. This is evidenced by less 
than 30% of responses reflecting that courses are evaluated. However some responses were 
able to give clear examples of how they have measured the impact of training e.g. visual 
prompts for children who are working online. 

 The majority of audit responses were from early years and education and a wider audit may 
be needed in the future to capture a greater scope of agencies. 

 Recommendations which the On-line Safety Group is taking forward were: 

 Agencies need to consider how they will measure the impact of e-safety training on a regular 
basis. 

 All agencies need to check whether their induction procedures include training in relation to 
e-safety. 

 The audit has highlighted a need to raise the profile of multi-agency e-safety training. 
 

 

Learning from partner single agency audit and inspection  
 

During the year the QA sub group worked with partners to ensure their single agency audit activities 
were objective and sufficiently self-critical. The subgroup worked hard to improve the reporting of 
audit activities and to establish the routine sharing of findings from service reviews and inspections. 
As a result, the sub group has gone on to develop a stronger culture of sharing critical information as 
well as celebrating the good practice identified. 
 

There have been a number of single agency audits which have been completed.  These include: 
 

Page 105



38 

 Health Visitor Response to Domestic Violence Notifications – this audit is a regular dip sample 
of responses by Health Visitors when domestic abuse had been reported by the police via 
PPD1 forms and looks to ensure that responses are timely and effective. 
 

 Great Western Hospital (GWH) Referrals Audit – this was an audit of 12 referrals from GWH 
into Family Contact Point (FCP). This audit reported on the quality of referrals and information 
sharing between GWH and FCP. The highlighted areas from improvement across the different 
departments within GWH and agreed some changes. It highlighted good communication 
between GWH and FCP. 
 

 Swindon Council - Monthly Case File Audit Report– Childrens Social Care throughout the year 
provided reports regarding their monthly case file audits to share the areas of practice 
development identified and plans for improvement. These audits take place each month with 
managers and social workers for the child which is the subject of the audit. This audit work is 
being embedded within teams and is showing key areas where work to improve is required, 
Learning included evidencing reflective supervision and timely assessments. 
 

 Swindon Council – Child Protection Core Group Audit - this was presented in November 2016 
following the learning identified within the Serious Case Reviews to review the effectiveness 
of these arrangements. This audit looked at the timeliness of core groups; the minutes; the 
agenda and the review of child protection plans undertaken within core groups. It made a 
number of recommendations which were shared with the LSCB “Child Protection Conference 
and Core Group” trainer to inform the training provided to partners agencies. The LSCB 
Escalation Policy was highlighted as not being consistently used and one of the key areas of 
learning for partner agencies was sharing the minute taking and chairing of Core Groups 
across partners agencies. This activity will continue to be monitored and re-audited. 
 

 Swindon Council - Spot Survey Satisfaction Report – this shared the feedback from parents 
whose children are an open case to children social care and gathered information from 
telephone surveys on the service they received. 

 

Key figures from March 2017 when compared with the previous survey were: 

 87% of clients completing the March survey knew the telephone number of their Social 
Worker, up from 76% in March 2016. 

 69% of clients surveyed said their social worker always or usually turned up on time, up 
from 57% in March 2016. 18% said they never turned up on time, down from 38% in 
March 2016 

 75% of clients in March stated that they felt they saw their SW often enough, up from 57% 
in March 2016 

 75% said they felt respected by their social worker, up from 71% in March 2016 

 

 Supervision Audit within Midwifery section of GWH – this came to the sub group in November 
2016.This highlighted the different compliance with the supervision policy within the GWH 
midwifery and community midwifery departments and actions agreed to address this issue. 
 

 Swindon Council SDQ Audit- The report covered the provision of service and follow up of 
those children who are Looked After and who have a high Strength & Difficulties 
Questionnaire score (SDQ). 

 

 

Page 106



39 

Review of Audit Action Plans 
 

 Missing & Absent Evaluation Action Plan- this was from the Audit completed by MARP – CSE 
and Missing Manager and Police. The action plan was developed and will be reviewed by 
Children’s Social Care. The review of this action plan enabled GWH to be able to give feedback 
regarding the missing protocol so that it could meet their needs better. 
 

 Adolescent Neglect Action Plan Review- this review enabled us to consider chronologies and 
genograms across key agencies including Children’s Social Care, G.Ps and Police and 
understand how these agencies are improving this key area of practice. We also considered 
the training and improvement required for all agencies to consider children as troubled rather 
than troublesome and the impact of neglect. The policy in all agencies when missed 
appointments happen is managed was also discussed and considered. 

 

Monitoring Reports 
 

 Revised Health Assessment Process- this was a progress report following the change in 2015 
to the school nurse health assessments for children subject to Child Protection plans. It 
confirmed that the change was working well and that it was still being monitored. 

 
 

Serious & Local Case Reviews 
 

The Case Review Group (CRG) is a multi-agency sub group of the LSCB which is chaired by the LSCB 
Chair. It meets bi-monthly and its role is to oversee the process for the consideration of cases which 
might meet the criteria for a Serious Case Review (SCR). 
 

If the decision is made to undertake either a Serious Case Review or a Local Case Review (LCR) then 
this is overseen by the Case Review Group. The group will agree the scope and terms of reference, 
arrange for the commissioning of an Independent Reviewer and then approve the draft Overview 
Report. Following ratification of the final report by the full LSCB the sub-group will then oversee the 
publication of the report and develop and monitor the Action Plans arising from the Report’s 
recommendations and those identified in contributing agencies Individual Management Reports.  
 

The sub group is always well attended and the level of engagement by all partners continues to be 
high which reflects an increasingly mature and transparent culture and a sense of collective 
responsibility to achieve improvements for children. 
 

Activity undertaken during 2016/17 

 The CRG has met every two months throughout 2016/17 and overseen the process of 

completion and publication of two Serious Case Reviews, Child S and Child D both of which 

were published in December 2016. These reports are available to read and download on 

the LSCBs website at: http://www.swindonlscb.org.uk/wav/Pages/SCReview.aspx  
 

 The CRG has also overseen the process and completion of Local Case Review N. 
 

 SCRs D and S and LCR N have all been presented to the LSCB who have been involved in 

developing the Action Plans with CRG. 
 

 All SCR and LCR Action plans have been developed and subsequently monitored at CRG 
 

Page 107

http://www.swindonlscb.org.uk/wav/Pages/SCReview.aspx


40 

 Reviews of 4 previous Local Case Reviews have been undertaken and outstanding work 

identified and integrated into current workplace 
 

 The CRG have had oversight of two other SCRs in Oxfordshire and Gloucestershire 

involving Swindon agencies 
 

 The SCR notification and LSCB response procedure has been revised and adopted by the 

CRG 

 Two additional cases referred into CRG in 16/17, one of which has become LCR A and the 

other case is awaiting conclusion of current operational process. 
 

 The Chair has presented a report on the progress of SCR/LCR work to the quarterly 

meetings of the LSCB. 
 

Each of the Local and Serious Case Reviews have included meetings with the families concerned 
and with a wide range of those front line professionals involved in the cases to ensure that the 
learning is informed by their voices and that that the processes are accurate. As a result the 
Serious Case Reviews and Local Case Reviews have been a rich source of learning for agencies. 
 

The learning identified from 2016/17 Serious Case Reviews/ Local Case Reviews included the 
following issues: 

 Escalation Policy - the need to raise awareness and encourage confidence in its use by 

partner agencies to ensure issues of concern are raised in a timely manner. 
 

 The engagement of GPs in Child Protection processes needs to be supported and 

improved. 
 

 The effectiveness of Child Protection conferences and Core Group processes needs to be 

monitored and audited to ensure it is working to protect children and that all relevant 

partner agencies are involved. 
 

 Workforce capacity in the acute sector and multi-agency discharge arrangements needed 

to be improved. 
 

 The quality of social work evidence in care proceedings needed to improve particularly in 

relation to neglect. 
 

 The Impact of the non-recognition of Learning Disabilities by professionals on families was 

recognised and needs to improve. 
 

 The recognition of neglect by professionals working with large families needs to be 

supported and improve. 
 

 Professional curiosity and accountability of all professionals needs to be actively 

encouraged. 
 

 The need to support professionals to improve working with challenging parents. 
 

 The quality and availability of safeguarding supervision within agencies. 
 

 Disabled children and the need to review the effectiveness of services working together. 
 

Page 108



41 

   Much of the learning identified through these processes has resulted in actions taken to improve 
safeguarding arrangements. All partner agencies have been robust in recognising and acting on 
improvements and have provided evidence of assurance to the Case Review Group but inevitably 
some of these actions are still in the process of implementation in 17/18. 

 

   The LSCB Annual Conference in November 2016 attracted over 300 delegates from a wide range of 
agencies and provided a good opportunity to share the national learning from Serious Case Reviews 
produced by Brandon et al (see http://seriouscasereviews.rip.org.uk/ ) 
 

In addition, the learning from the two Serious Case Reviews referred to above (Child S and Child D) 
were shared with all practitioners through workshops undertaken by the Lead Reviewer.  
 

The presentations from the conference are available at: 
http://www.swindonlscb.org.uk/about/Pages/LSCB-Annual-Conference-2016.aspx  
 

Single agencies continue to implement the learning case reviews and all LSCB multi-agency training 
courses reflect the learning from case reviews with a specific course which pulls together all the 
learning from recent reviews both local and national.  The LSCB is developing a suite of brief learning 
newsletters which incorporate all the learning identified and actions undertaken/planned. An 
example of these on Child Sexual Exploitation can be seen at:  Learning from Case Reviews - CSE  
 

In addition to the work of the Performance, Quality Assurance and Case Review Subgroups, the LSCB 
maintains five other sub groups. Each of these reports quarterly to a meeting of all subgroup chairs 
and annually to the Board. Each Chair has provided a summary of their subgroups activity during 
2016/17 as follows:   
 

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 
 

Overview  

Fortunately a child death is a rare event in our society however each death represents a tragedy 

for the family. The Child Death Overview Process (CDOP) ensures that every child’s death is 

comprehensively reviewed and lessons learnt so that action can be taken to prevent future deaths 

where possible. The majority of child deaths are expected deaths (through known illness or life-

limiting conditions) accounting for 70% of child deaths in the past five years. Deaths from external 

causes, which includes trauma from external factors or self-inflicted harm and suicide are rare - 3% 

for Swindon children. 

The majority of children under one month of age, in Swindon, die as the result of perinatal or 

neonatal causes and acquired natural cause remains the most common category of death for all 

children over 1 year of age. There has been no significant change in the numbers of children dying 

from each of these causes, or in the numbers of children within different age groups over the past 

five years. 
 

The joint Wiltshire and Swindon Chid Death Overview Panel (CDOP) met six times during 2016/17 

and reviewed 42 individual child death cases of which 17 were Swindon children. This number 

differs slightly form the actual number of deaths notified (see table below) due to the time 

between the death and the case coming to the panel for review. 

 Number of child deaths notified 

 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 Totals 

Swindon 8 17 12 18 14 69 

 

Page 109

http://seriouscasereviews.rip.org.uk/
http://www.swindonlscb.org.uk/about/Pages/LSCB-Annual-Conference-2016.aspx
http://www.swindonlscb.org.uk/about/Pages/Newsletters.aspx


42 

We continue to raise awareness around the issues identified through the CDOP and have 

published two CDOP newsletters (predominantly for health and social care professionals) that 

have highlighted issues and learning from cases reviewed locally. 

Impact  

Our main aim is to Influence practice through the follow up from the CDOP discussions and case 

reviews. We do this by communicating with respective agencies or providers regarding policies and 

protocols so that where possible we can reduce the likelihood of avoidable child deaths. Examples 

of actions taken as a result of the CDOP include writing to relevant agencies and bodies 

highlighting issues or concerns found as a result of the CDOP review. A full CDOP Annual Report is 

published that outlines the detailed activity of the CDOP and the key themes which includes: 

 Importance of following safe sleeping advice, particularly when a child is unwell 

 Importance of giving compliance information to the child and both parents and checking 

the understanding of the consequence of non-compliance 

 Importance of timely administration of antibiotics when sepsis is suspected 

 New sepsis 6 pathway and national early warning system to be embedded within the 

ambulance service 

 Midwifery Service speaking with all families about overwrapping and document that they 

have spoken to partners and wider family about these issues to ensure the messages are 

passed on. 

 Importance of wearing cycle helmets when riding bicycles 

 Pneumococcal sepsis in post splenectomy cases can develop very rapidly; early use of 

antibiotics is vital 

 Good communication by using group email updates to include tertiary units, paediatrics, 

GP and palliative care agencies with permission of the patient and family. 

Challenges  

Given that our main aim is to prevent future deaths we continue to explore how best to engage 

with the public in a way that will influence and change behaviours. 

Page 110



43 

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and Missing Children 

Overview 

The CSE and Missing children sub-group continues to benefit from good multi-agency 

representation which has been augmented in the last quarter to bring in licensing and the CSE 

Opal Team manager enabling additional impetus in relation to disruption and enforcement 

activity. 
 

Due to the recognition that there are a number of new threats which the LSCB needs to understand, 

all which can be categorised as child exploitation, the group is to expand its remit so as to look at 

other forms of exploitation against children. There will be a continuing focus on Missing Children 

because of the overlaps with all areas of child exploitation and the intrinsic links between missing 

children and the child protection system. 

 

This expanded remit will provide the LSCB with oversight in the following areas: 
 

1. Missing Children  
 

2. Exploited Children 
 

 Child Sexual Exploitation (as per the nationally agreed definition). 

 Criminally Exploited children – When a child is forced, coerced, compelled or exploited 

to commit a criminal offence by a third party who stands to gain.  

 Cyber exploited children (Including Youth Produced Sexual Images (Sexting), Sextortion 

and Hacking) 

 Child victims of Human Trafficking and Modern Slavery 

 Radicalisation of Children - the process by which a person comes to support terrorism 

and extremist ideologies associated with terrorist groups. 
 

What characterises all of the exploited children categories is the requirement to 

coerce/control/exploit, generally over a sustained period of time. In particular the children will be 

targeted as adolescents (although not exclusively) and in such a way that seeks to exploit the 

explorative characteristics of their age group. 
 

Activity during 2016/17: 
 

 The Partnership Profile for 2015 was used to good effect by the group to help understand and 

develop the gaps in CSE response across agencies. Tactical information contained within the 

report was immediately used by the Opal Team to target prevention and enforcement activity 

at several locations around Swindon.  

 In March 2016 the Sub-Group co-ordinated the activity of agencies for the National CSE Day 

of Awareness. All agencies embraced the day of awareness and increased their 

prevention/education activities. There was good media interest and a number of press 

interviews were broadcast across the partnership which helped raise the profile of CSE in 

Swindon. March 18th is the date for the 2017 National CSE day of awareness and the CSE sub-

group is again co-ordinating activity across the partnership. The theme for the 2017 campaign 

will relate to seldom heard/hard to reach groups, to ensure that groups who have 

traditionally under reported get additional targeted awareness regarding the risks of CSE and 

are encouraged to report to those that can help. 

Page 111



44 

 Key agencies have now self-assessed their response to CSE and Missing by using a diagnostic 

tool. This took place in late 2015. The self-assessments and the Partnership Profile helped the 

group to identify gaps in our combined approach to CSE, which helped to inform the 2016/17 

plan. Since this date there has been a further self-assessment by all agencies as part of a 

Section 11 Audit on CSE. This process has been additionally thorough with agencies peer 

reviewing one another, ensuring consistency. 

 CSE Audit work has been completed, with the CSE Sub Group and the QA Sub-Group working 

closely together to develop the programme and deliver the findings. This includes a CSE 

survey across the partnership to establish the level of understanding of CSE. The survey has 

had over 1000 responses from staff who work within a setting where safeguarding is a key 

part of their role. The Audit programme commenced in July 2016 and has highlighted a 

number of positive and some developmental practice which the sub-group has included 

within its priorities. These have helped to formulate a revised CSE strategy and action plan. 

 Oversight of the implementation of the co-located/integrated CSE Team (Opal Team), located 

within the SBC estate has been one of the most important priorities for the sub-group in the 

last year. Over the last 12 months the plans for the Opal team have developed at a pace and 

the foundations are now in place for a more effective and integrated service to support 

victims and target perpetrators. 2016 has seen the Opal team move from developing to 

consolidating. 

 There has been significant engagement with the Case Review sub-group in relation to SCR’s and 

LCR’s which have a CSE theme. Lessons learned through review are identified early and built 

into audit programs and action plans. This has continued throughout 2016, ensuring that local, 

regional and national lessons are being learned and integrated into practice in the Swindon 

area. 

 During 2016 the sub-group started to receive performance reports from the Multi-Agency Risk 

panel (MARP), to ensure the LSCB had oversight of this critical partnership activity. The trends 

identified in MARP and through other analysis (including the Ending Gang and Youth Violence 

Peer Review) has highlighted an emerging threat in relation to more general criminal 

exploitation of Children. CSE describes exploitation where the motivation of perpetrators is 

sexual. The broader exploitation of children includes financial motivations by perpetrators. One 

of the commonly used methods of criminal exploitation is to use children to either supply or 

courier drugs on behalf of established drug gangs, often based in London. This emerging threat 

has resulted in the CSE sub-group expanding its terms of reference to look at the broader 

exploitation of children (which includes CSE). The governance of this connects to both the LSCB, 

but also the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and arrangements are now in place to drive 

forward a more comprehensive partnership response to this emerging threat. 

Impact 

 Increased awareness to children, young people and to the partnership workforce. 

 Integrated Police/Social Care CSE team (Opal Team) being implemented giving victims and 

those at risk from CSE more specialised and dedicated resources to work with and support. 

 The Multi-Agency Risk Panel (MARP) has ensured that there is cohesive and co-ordinated 

partnership activity to support victims, but also to target perpetrators. 2016 has seen a shift 

Page 112



45 

towards identifying more offenders, targeting and disrupting them. This will continue in 

2017.  

 There are much improved CSE flagging systems within both Police and Social Care, ensuring 
that both victims and offenders are recognised and recorded at the earliest stages. This is 
operationally beneficial, but also allows better analysis of the problem, which will help to 
ensure resources are targeted towards the most appropriate strategic threats. We now feel 
reassured that we have a stronger understanding of the scale and type of CSE taking place 
across Swindon. 

Evidence  

 Self-assessments (diagnostics) conducted by agencies and scrutinised by the Sub-Group. 

 Section 11 Audit 

 CSE Audit Programme 

 CSE Staff Survey (through Survey Monkey) with over 1000 responses. 

 Production of 2015 CSE Partner Profile and 2015 CSE Regional Partner Profile.  

 CSE and Missing Action plan, which shows the majority of 2015/2016 actions moving into 

green on the RAG status and becoming Business As Usual. 

 Development and review of the MARP process (reports are consistently submitted to the 

CSE/Missing sub-group). 

 MARP reports are scrutinised by the CSE sub-group to ensure that CSE and Missing Children 

issues are being targeted effectively through this partnership forum. 

 

Further action  

 The most important work for the sub-group in 2017 is to develop new Terms of Reference to 

incorporate broader exploitation and from that to develop a new action plan, which fills the 

gaps in any partnership response to more generic exploitation. The expansion of the remit of 

the sub-group will require a review of the current membership to ensure that all those 

partners who can add value have a voice to develop strategies and plans. New strategies and 

plans will require the development of a refreshed audit process, to capture activity and 

performance in relation to criminally exploited children in addition to those who are at risk of 

CSE. 

 The development of a more comprehensive framework for reporting on Missing Children will 

be another significant action for 2017. Understanding the impact that the partnership is 

having on children who go missing is fundamental to reducing the risk children face from CSE 

and criminal exploitation. Better understanding the impact of Return Home Interviews (RHI’s), 

Police Safe and Well checks and support services to vulnerable children going missing, will be 

an important component of the groups work in 2017 

 Developing a performance framework that can better demonstrate partnership disruption 
activity against CSE perpetrators and those that criminally exploit children will be another 
priority. Understanding what within the disruption toolkit works and what doesn’t will enable 
the partnership to focus resources on the activity which delivers significant benefits. 

 

Page 113



46 

Policy and Procedure  
 

Purpose 
 

The main aim of the Sub-group is to develop, maintain and review inter-agency child protection 
procedures, protocols and practice guidance and to comment and advise upon whether procedures 
need to be reviewed as a result of practice developments arising from serious and local case 
reviews, new legislation, government reports, research findings and other relevant documents. 
 

Overview/Achievements 
 

During the course of the year The Sub-group ratified or reviewed a number of policy and guidance 
documents including:  
 

 The Neglect Framework – Revised to provide additional information relating to adolescent 
neglect 

 The Escalation Policy 

 Quoracy at Child Protection Conferences 
 

The LSCB works with other Boards across the South West to maintain a shared web based resource - 
http://www.proceduresonline.com/swcpp/ - which contains a range of information on child 
protection and safeguarding issues. The subgroup began the process of evaluating the extent to 
which this resource supports professionals in Swindon ahead of a re-commissioning exercise in 2018   
 

Impact 
 

The aim of all policies, procedures and guidance are to improve the wellbeing and outcomes for 
children and young people and improve safeguarding practice by professionals.  
 

 

ONLINE SAFETY 
 

Overview 
 

The Sub-group meets termly and continues its work to identify and address safeguarding and 
protection issues arising from childrens online experiences and in particular their increasing use of 
social media. 
 

Over the course of the last year there have been a number of examples of online ‘crazes’ that may 
present a risk to young people’s safety. They include: 
 

 Fake News 
 

Online articles about parents being warned about the ‘Blue Whale Challenge’ - an online 
phenomenon that encourages youngsters to undertake dangerous dares and eventually commit 
suicide. The craze was reported to have led to 130 suicides in six months in Russia, where it 
originated.  
 

The Blue Whale Challenge encourages participants, via social networks, to face everyday 
challenges. These are intended to lead the ‘players’ to their death on the 50th day, thereby 
‘winning’ the game. Challenges at the beginning include drawing a whale on a leaf or getting up 
at night to listen to sad music. As days pass, participants are invited to cut themselves and finally 
to jump from the roof of a building or to hang themselves. 
 

Although this was fake news, there is a concern that children “copycat” these ideas, for example 
on YouTube there were videos of children trying to inhale aerosols for the record time before 
passing out.  
 

Advice is to always to discuss with children their online experiences, concerns and worries. 
 Advice for having difficult conversations can be found here 
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/keeping-children-safe/talking-about-difficult-topics/ 
 

Page 114

http://www.proceduresonline.com/swcpp/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/preventing-abuse/keeping-children-safe/talking-about-difficult-topics/


47 

 Sextortion 
 

Sextortion involves victims being lured to perform sexual acts and/or take intimate images using 
their web-camera. The victims are often unaware their acts are being recorded by the criminals. 
The fraudsters then blackmail them by threatening to upload the content to the internet, or send 
it to the victim’s friends or family, if they do not comply with their demands. 
 

There has been a significant increase in the number of ‘sextortion’ cases reported to agencies 
during the last 12 months. It is now clear organised crime gangs are targeting adults, children and 
young people in the UK.  
 

Sextortion have led to suicides by young people and therefore it is key for agencies to help 
children to have resilience in their ability to seek help. 

 
Activity 
 

 Online safety briefing sessions/lessons have been delivered to just over 1,000 parents and staff, 
and more than 800 children and young people.  
 

 Targeted work within the Junior Good Citizen programme has reached over 1,600 year 6’s  
 

 Updates on online safeguarding issues have been delivered at the termly briefings for Designated 
Safeguarding Leads in Schools’ 
 

 Briefing sessions have been delivered to GP’s, child-minders and through the Young Warden’s 
programmes across Swindon. 
 

 With Wiltshire Police, advice and guidance on managing incidences of ‘sexting’ has been given to 
all schools. The guidance sets out the criteria for reporting such incidents to the police and is 
aimed at supporting schools to strike a balance between potential harmful criminal behaviour 
and young people’s exploration of their sexuality. 

 

 99% of schools in Swindon are registered to use the 360o Online Safety self-assessment tool. Over 
the course of the year 51 schools used the tool to assess their effectiveness in promoting online 
safety; at 62% this is approximately double the national rate. 

 

Challenges 
 

 The sub-group is aware of the need to support agencies in their response to both existing and 
new online risks such as: Drones; Ransomware; Snap Chat glasses; and, the growing use of Virtual 
Reality. 

 

 Evidence is emerging of the risk of online criminal exploitation with examples of 10 year olds 
being “groomed to carry out hacking activities. The nature and extent of the grooming process is 
coming to light as a result of the criminal activities and prosecutions of children in their mid-
teens. 

 

 Increasingly, attention is being paid to the longer term impact of lives lived online on childrens 
health and mental wellbeing. 

Page 115



48 

Training and Development 

Overview  
 

This sub group has met on a regular basis and has maintained its primary focus on sourcing, 
facilitating and providing best value for money, quality and meaningful and relevant training and 
development opportunities for all partner agencies and wider who work with children and young 
people in Swindon. 
 
An ongoing focus of activity for this particular group is the planning for and delivery of a high quality 
and meaningful annual conference.  This conference is traditionally very well attended by a diverse 
and wide-range of participants and aims to be as impactive and relevant as possible taking into 
account learning from serious and local case reviews as well as national trends and research.  
 

Activity during 2016/17 
 

 During 2016/17 the LSCB delivered 67 training courses.   
 

 The 67 training courses reflect 15 safeguarding subject areas.  These are all multi agency 
courses and subjects included: 

 Allegations 

 Conference and Core Group 

 Safer Recruitment 

 Responding to Sexual Abuse 

 Working with Neglect 
 

 11 courses were cancelled due to low numbers.  This mainly affected Domestic Abuse 
Awareness, Conference and Core Group, where courses were cancelled twice and despite 
increased advertising, numbers continue to be low. 
 

 There was an increase in numbers attending LSCB training in 2016/17.  1310 people attended 
LSCB training courses in 2016/17 compared to 903 in 2015/16 an increase of 45%.  

  

 
 

Page 116



49 

 Following the trend from previous years, the majority of training delegates are from Schools / 
Further Education, Early Years settings and Children and Families.   
 

 Attendance figures are generally up across agencies, Children and Families saw an increase in 
attendance by 7% 
 

 Attendance figures for 2016/17 saw a decrease of 7% by Early Years and 1% by Schools and 
Further Education 

 

 
 

Impact 

 Course evaluation data is collected from delegates at the end of each course; this continues to 
reflect that training enhances delegate’s skills and knowledge.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

“Course delivery was consistently 
high and pace was good” 
(Child Protection Level 2) 

“I will go back and review the 
processes in place” 
(Safer Recruitment) 

“Excellent session.  Great to share 
experiences with other 
professionals” 
(Risky Behaviour) 

“Greater understanding of Early 
Help and TAC process” 
“I have a better understanding of 
the needs of children who have a 
parent with mental health needs” 
“More confident to challenge other 
professionals about decisions etc.” 
(Parental Mental Health) 

“More confident in asking difficult 
questions”  
“Increased awareness of CSE in 
Swindon and small towns” 
(CSE Awareness) 

Training 
Delegate 
Feedback 

2016 
 
 

Page 117



50 

LSCB Annual Conference (2016) 

 The theme of the annual conference was ‘Laying the Foundations’ for Effective Safeguarding in 
Swindon 
 

 Keynote speakers were Dr Susannah Bowyer Research In Practice talking about Laying the 
foundations: messages from the triennial analysis 2016, and Felicia Wood, Kate Cairns 
Associates who spoke about Five to Thrive. 
 

 The conference was attended by over 300 delegates  
 

 

Delegates were asked to complete an evaluation questionnaire at the end of the event and on the 
whole, evaluations and comments were positive. 

 
Evidence:  Total evaluation forms received: 177 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 118



51 

Comments / feedback from Conference Delegates: 

 Presentation was excellent 

 So good to take time out and absorb information during busy term 

 Great information! Interesting and useful content  

 Thank you for such a useful and valuable event 

 Very well organised and relevant speakers thank you! 

 A very worthwhile day, very thought provoking 

 Outstandingly thought provoking  

 presentation was so engaging and extremely useful to my practice 

 The CP conference session was excellent. Speaker was inspirational 

 Really enjoyed speakers talk. Excellent 

 Well planned and well structured,  Good thought provoking day thank you 

 Thank you for an interesting and stimulating day 

 Interesting to learn about serious case reviews.  Good content by keynote speakers. 

 Found very useful and hopeful that positive changes are being made 

 Really interesting and engaging, a great speaker 

 It’s always excellent, well organised.  I enjoyed it all so difficult to choose from the above 

 Very good speakers, relevant and well organised 

 Really useful day thank you.  session was particularly helpful re timeframes and processes 

 A great day.  I feel like I have lots to take away, thank you  

 It was interesting and useful to find out about what is happening in Swindon and the lessons we 
can learn 

 Workshop was thought provoking and has made me rethink my approach to working with some 
individuals.  All speakers we very good 

 Good to be relevant to Swindon's systems and issues 

 It’s fantastic that the message 'safeguarding is everyone's responsibility' is now being more widely 
embraced by all agencies 

 Interesting to hear about new services to early help processes but concerned that referrals can only 
come from health visitors and social workers 

 Finding out about developments/changes in Swindon was very valuable as was seeing people in 
the various teams.  Despite having attended KCA presentations previously this was still very 
engaging and so relevant 

 Clear succinct summary of learning from SCRs - identified areas for learning and stimulated good 
discussion and opportunity to feedback.  Presentation from young people was very powerful and 
good to focus us on the reason for our work  

 Very interesting and insightful.  Speaker was very knowledgeable and thought provoking 

 
Challenges 
 
The group have noticed a trend for some agencies to deliver single-agency training rather than 
subscribe to the LSCB offer. This may, in part be linked to funding reductions. We remain keen to 
emphasize the value and importance of multi-agency learning and training and continue to monitor 
this in order to better understand the reasons behind the falling numbers and to ensure that this is 
not adversely impacting on multi-agency safeguarding knowledge and practice. 
Given the number of local and serious case reviews the LSCB has commissioned, the subgroup 
remains focussed on ensuring the key learning and messages arising from these are extrapolated, 
understood and incorporated into the existing training offer. 
The ongoing challenge for the subgroup is to ensure that the training ‘offer’ remains relevant, 
contemporary and meets the needs of practitioners and other relevant partners. 

Page 119



52 

The subgroup is to ensure that a timetable of observations and quality assurance of training courses 
is undertaken in order to satisfy the LSCB that the programme is of sufficient quality and relevance 
and delivered effectively. The subgroup remains vigilant in redressing any issues detected or 
reported. 
 
Key Challenges 
 

 To ensure that ‘the right training is delivered by the right people at the right time and for the 
right people’. 

 To continue to emphasise and market the inherent advantages of multi-disciplinary training and 
development and to monitor and understand any shortfalls. 

 To continue to promote and deliver a high quality Annual Conference which is relevant to all 
partner and other agencies. 

 To continue a quality assurance regime to ensure quality is maintained throughout the training 
and development agenda. 
 

Early Help Working Group 

Introduction 
 
Following the LSCB discussion in September and December 2015 on low level of EHRPs being 
completed and the increase in contacts/referrals to children’s social care the Chair requested an 
Early Help Working task and finish group to be set up to evaluate the effectiveness of the Threshold 
documents to ensure that it is fit for purpose, well understood and used appropriately by 
professionals in partner agencies and identify any barriers to delivery of early help. The Terms of 
Reference were discussed and agreed by the Chairs Group in Feb 2016 and the Group held its first 
meeting in May 16. 
 
The aims and objectives of the task group were: 
 

 Evaluate the effectiveness of the LSCB Threshold Document to ensure that it is fit for 
purpose, well understood and used appropriately by professionals in partner agencies  

 Be assured that Early Help Records & Plans for children and young people are consistently of 
good quality, and lead to sustained improvements in outcomes for children and young 
people 

 Identify the barriers to Early Help Record completion and taking up of the Lead professional 
role and what could be done to overcome this 

 Ensure that the QA Sub Group, Performance Sub Group and Training & Development Sub 
Group are informed of learning and this is reflected in their work plans for 2016/17 

 
Summary of the Working Group’s findings: 
  
The key findings were: 
 

 Social care partners are more confident about the effectiveness of the threshold document 
compared to other partners. The key concern was being able to evidence Early Help support 
at level 1 and 2 as this was not being routinely documented through Early Help Records and 
Plans and the information was not accessible for sharing across the partnership should the 
referral be escalated to level 3 or 4. 

 

Page 120



53 

 Although the threshold documentation and guidance had been revised and an additional A3 
poster format developed to be used alongside the documentation (‘threshold at a glance’) to 
provide a quick point of reference, it became clear task group members had not shared this 
with their organisations.  This leaves more work to do to provide assurance that the revised 
document is fit for purpose and supports partners in having a better understanding around 
thresholds, or whether further work is required. 

 

 The task group identified a number of barriers impacting on the use of Early Help Records 
and Plans across the partnership but it is recognised further qualitative work in this area 
would provide a more complete picture.  Some of the main barriers raised included: 

 

 Partners not having access to the council’s information system to directly record or access 
other Early Help Records and Plans. 

 

 A backlog with Early Help data being entered on the system 
 

 The role and responsibilities of a Lead Professional were perceived to be time consuming 
 

 Lack of evidence to demonstrate that having an Early Help Record or Plan has improved 
outcomes for children and their families and reduced cases escalating.   

 

 Attendance at Early Help training is voluntary and focusses more on the assessment tools 
rather than the shared vision and ambition for Swindon children and families to benefit from 
the best quality help at the earliest opportunity.   

 
Next Steps 
 
Although progress has been made in supporting the Early Help agenda, the evidence from the work 
of the task group indicates there is more to do to further embed the culture amongst the Early Help 
workforce across all agencies.  There is more investment needed to ensure we have a threshold 
document that is valued and used appropriately across the partnership.  In 2015/16, there were 952  
Early Help Record and Plans completed compared to 3146 social care statutory assessments.  This 
clearly indicates a need to shift the balance.   
 
The performance data indicates that not all services and practitioners, that should be, are utilising 
Early Help Record and Plans(EHRP) to assess and plan services for children and families with 
additional needs.  Greater insight is required to further understand how we can effectively tackle 
these barriers going forward. The audit of Early Help Records and Plans remains outstanding so at 
this stage we are unable to provide assurance that Early Help Records are good quality and lead to 
sustained improvements for children, young people and their families. 
 
The report was presented to the LSCB in March 2017 who agreed that a small cross partnership 
working group, led by Swindon Borough Council, will take forward the Early Help Task Group findings 
and recommendations into a Stage 2 and develop a multi-agency Early Help strategy. The LSCB will 
receive regular updates on progress so Board members can use the information to drive 
improvements within their own organisations and this will be completed by September 2017.   
 
 

Page 121



54 

LSCB Governance 

 
 

The Children Act 2004 places a duty on all relevant authorities to make arrangements to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children.  Swindon Local Safeguarding Children Board has a statutory 
responsibility to co-ordinate and ensures the effectiveness of what is done by each 
agency/organisation on the Board for the purposes of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 
children in the Borough.  The LSCB is not accountable for operational work but holds partner 
agencies to account on the effectiveness of their safeguarding services for Swindon’s children. 
 

Swindon LSCB is composed of senior representatives nominated by each of its member agencies and 

professional groups. 
 
Statutory & Other Partners, of whom 100% attendance at meetings is expected by the 
representative or nominated substitute: 

 Swindon Borough Council, Director Children Services 

 Swindon Borough Council (Service Director/ Head of Children, Families & Community Health; 
Head of Education; Director of Adult Social Services; Head of Housing & Community Safety) 

 Wiltshire Police 

 National Probation Service 

 Bristol, Gloucestershire, Swindon & Wiltshire Community Rehabilitation Company 

 NHS England 

 Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Public Health 

 Designated Doctor, Child Protection 

 Designated Nurse, Child Protection 

 Great Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

 Avon & Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust 

 Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust 

 South West Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

 CAFCASS 

 NSPCC 

 Swindon Youth Offending Team 

 Wiltshire Fire & Rescue Service 

 Swindon Healthwatch 

Professional Representatives, who provide insights from and communication with their professional 

bodies but do not represent a single agency or organisation: 

 Swindon Primary Schools 

 Swindon Secondary Schools 

 Swindon Colleges 

 Swindon Special Schools 

 GP Services 

 Voluntary Sector 

 Domestic Violence Representative 

 the Chair of any LSCB sub-group not represented above 

Partner agency representatives are of sufficient seniority to have control over or access to their 

agency’s resources. They are given delegated authority to make decisions to an agreed level on 

behalf of their agency and have access to those responsible for making the decisions for which they 

do not have delegated authority. 

Page 122



55 

Each representative on Swindon LSCB is responsible for disseminating information between the LSCB 

and their agency/professional body and for identifying any necessary actions. 

The local authority’s Cabinet Member for Children Services is a ‘participating observer’ of the LSCB, 

attending meetings and engaging in discussion but not being part of the decision making process.  

This enables the Cabinet Member to challenge, when necessary, from a well-informed position. 

Swindon LSCB has the benefit of a committed Lay Member who in his voluntary capacity attends the 

Board meetings and serves on 2 sub-groups. The Board is keen to recruit additional lay members 

during 2017/18.  The remit of the Lay Member is to: 

 Support stronger public engagement in local safety issues  

 Contribute to an improved understanding of the LSCB’s child protection work in the wider 
community 

 Challenge the LSCB on the accessibility by the public and children and young people of its 
plans and procedures 

 Help to make links between the LSCB and community groups 

Alex Walters was appointed Independent Chair of the Local Safeguarding Children Board in July 

2015. Alex is Vice-chair of the national Association of Independent LSCB Chairs and has used the 

skills, knowledge and experience she has gained as the chair of other LSCBs and before that from her 

work within Children’s Services and Regional Government Offices to provide a well-informed level of 

support and challenge to the partnership. 

A protocol has been agreed that sets out the relationships between the LSCB, the Local Safeguarding 

Adults Board (LSAB) and the Swindon Health & Wellbeing Board and these three boards work well 

together to ensure that their work is joined up and complementary.  

Swindon LSCB is committed to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and young 
people and expects all staff and volunteers to share the same commitment. 
 
Swindon LSCB believes that: 

 The welfare and safety of the child is paramount 

 We are stronger in safeguarding children if we all work together. This includes statutory and 
voluntary agencies and the wider communities 

 We should support families in bringing up their children safely, engaging with them in the 
wider agenda for safeguarding 

 We should provide an equitable, quality service to all children and their families 

 Services should be provided which are appropriate to race, religion, culture, language, 
gender, sexual orientation and disability 

 We need to be accountable for our actions, open to challenge, and to learn from practice in 
order to achieve continuous improvement 

 Procedures and processes should be open and transparent 
These principles should underpin everyone’s approach to safeguarding children and promoting their 
welfare, regardless of the extent of their involvement. 
 

 
Swindon LSCB will further ensure that: 
 

 Personal information is held confidentially and only by those who need to know 

 Safeguarding children is viewed in the wider context of their needs and rights 

To enable it to fulfil its responsibilities during 2016/17, Swindon LSCB maintained the following sub 

groups:  

Page 123



56 

 Case Review 

 Child Sexual Exploitation & Missing Children 

 Early Help 

 On-line Safety  

 Performance 

 Policies & Procedures 

 Quality Assurance 

 Training & Development 

Each of these Sub Groups has defined its membership and terms of reference and works to an 

annual action plan developed with reference to the LSCB Strategic Business Plan. The Early Help 

group is a working group to carry out a specific piece of work although this has been extended into 

2017/18 in order to develop its work on thresholds and early help records and plans. 

There is a joint Swindon and Wiltshire LSCB Child Death Overview Panel. 

A Chairs Group, consisting of the Chairs of all LSCB Sub Groups and working groups and the Chair of 

the Domestic Abuse Steering Group and chaired by the LSCB Chair, continues to facilitate 

communication between the various Sub Group chairs and to respond to their wish for greater 

direction from the Board. 

LSCB Board meetings continue to include interactive breakout sessions, to allow all Board members 

to participate in discussions and provide in depth challenge to the local authority and its partners on 

the effectiveness of the help and protection offered to children, young people and families locally. 

The LSCB held its annual business planning workshop in January 2017, when members updated the 

LSCB Strategic Business Plan for 2016/19 and determined the four strategic priorities which are to be 

the focus of work during 2017/18. 

LAY MEMBERS 

The Lay Member role continues to represent the public by challenging, questioning, and offering 

alternative perspectives to the work undertaken by the sub groups and Board whilst continuing to 

reduce the amount of unexplained abbreviations and the greater use of plain language in Local 

Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) published policies. 

Interaction with the community continues to improve steadily, although as always, more 
engagement work across the spectrum of the Board’s activities still needs to be done. Over the last 
year I have spent eighty hours delivering fifty On-line Safety events to 2,712 children and 698 adults 
including teachers, support staff, parents and family doctors.  

Contact with other LSCB Lay Members is proving to be problematical although still being sought with 

a view to increase the effectiveness of the lay membership by sharing good practice and developing 

involvement with both the Board and engagement of local communities. 

Robin Stannard (Lay Member)  

 

Page 124



57 

 

 Swindon LSCB Budget Monitoring 2016/17 and Budget Plan 2017/18 
 2016-17 

Budget 
2016-17  
Out-turn 

Variance 2017-18 
Budget 

Expenditure 

Employment Costs 

LSCB Posts 111,900 107,596 -4,304 119,000 

Independent Chair 16,500 19,250 2,750 16,500 

Staff Mileage 1,000 97 -903 1,000 

Total 129,400 126,943 -2,457 136,500 

Multi-Agency Training 

Training Programme 44,000 54,307 10,307 44,400 

Total 44,000 54,307 10,307 44,400 

LSCB Projects & Statutory Agenda 

CSE & Missing 1,600 0 -1,600 1,600 

Serious Case Review / Case 
Review 

22,900 20,098 -2,802 23,200 

Procedures & Awareness 2,500 2,550 50 2,500 

Total 27,000 22,648 -4,352 27,300 

Business Support 

General Supplies 200 1,711 1,511 1,700 

Design & Printing 100 361 261 100 

Meeting Venues 600 965 365 600 

Total 900 3,037 2,137 2,400 

Overall Total Expenditure 201,300 206,934 5,634 210,600 

Income 

Local Authority -58,200 -58,200 0 -58,200 

Total LA Funding -58,200 -58,200 0 -58,200 

CCG -44,200 -44,150 50 -44,200 

GWH -17,700 -17,699 1 -17,700 

Police -12,450 -12,448 2 -12,450 

Probation - CRC -2,200 -1,000 1,200 -2,200 

Probation - NPS -2,200 0 2,200 -2,200 

CAFCASS -550 -550 0 -550 

Total Partner Funding -79,300 -75,847 3,453 -79,300 

Training Income 

Course Income, Events & 
Conferences 

-36,000 -53,820 -17,820 -37,800 

Total Training Income -36,000 -53,820 -17,820 -37,800 

Overall Total Income -173,500 -187,867 -14,367 -175,300 

Balance 27,800 19,067 -8,733 35,300 

Opening Reserves 76,534 76,534 0 57,467 

Projected Movement in 2016-17 -27,800 -19,067 8,733 

Budgeted Movement in 2017-18 0 0 0 -35,300 

Projected Remaining Reserves 48,734 57,467 8,733 22,167 

 
 
 
 

Page 125



58 

 

Swindon LSCB Priorities for 2017/18 

The work of Swindon LSCB is varied and this report has highlighted areas of challenge, improvement 

and development over the previous year.  Ensuring that safeguarding remains a priority for all those 

who have contact with children is at the heart of the Board’s business and the strength of 

partnership working is the key to driving this forward to make a difference to the lives of children 

and young people. 

The LSCB continues to strive to improve and develop its role in challenging and supporting the work 

of agencies involved in safeguarding children and in monitoring and coordinating the response to 

child abuse and neglect.  This report provides evidence of the progress partners have made against 

the priorities identified in the 2016/17 LSCB Business Plan. 

The Business Plan for 2016/19 was agreed by the LSCB in April 2016 and sets out the core functions 

of the Board. At a business planning workshop in January 2017 and at the Board meeting in March 

four strategic priorities for improvement in 2017/18 were agreed. The priorities are outlined below 

and the LSCB are now developing strategic responses that will best improve outcomes for children 

and young people.   

The core functions are: 

1. Policies and Procedures: Developing policies and procedures for safeguarding and promoting the 

welfare of children and young people in Swindon, including the publication of thresholds for 

intervention where a child’s safety or welfare is compromised. 

2. Communication and Safeguarding Awareness: Communicate the need to safeguard and promote 

the welfare of children among both the professional and lay community, raising awareness of 

how this can be done and encouraging them to do so. 

3. Performance Management: Monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of safeguarding and 

preventive strategies and the actions of partner agencies to the Board (individually and 

collectively) and setting standards for continuous improvement. 

4. Serious Case Reviews: Undertaking and commissioning reviews where abuse or neglect of a child 

is known or suspected and the child has died or has been seriously harmed and there is a cause 

for concern as to the way in which partners have worked together to safeguard the child.  

Consider and undertake local case reviews when the threshold for Serious Case Reviews is not 

met.   

5. Child Death Overview Panel: To review child deaths and learn lessons in order to improve the 

health, safety and wellbeing of children and to reduce future incidence of preventable child 

deaths. 

6. Quality Assurance Audits and Scrutiny: Evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency of local 

actions to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, evidencing outcomes and challenging 

improvement. 

Page 126



59 

 

7. Training and Staff Development: To devise and deliver and evaluate high quality multi-agency 

innovative training programmes and initiatives that meets the training requirements of the local 

workforce and the priority safeguarding issues being progressed. 

8. Online Safety: To promote the development of effective policies, procedures and strategies 

relating to on-line safety; To co-ordinate awareness raising training for parents, their children and 

adults who work with them; and, address specific areas of concern, particularly where children 

and young people may be at risk of harm. 

9. Child Exploitation & Missing Children: To ensure that there are effective multi-agency responses 

to all forms of child exploitation and that missing children are identified and supported at the 

earliest opportunity. 

In addition to discharging its core functions, the LSCB will identify a number of issues, needs and 

groups as priority areas for improvement .The way in which the priorities will be met will vary over 

the lifetime of the Plan with some being effectively met and resolved through discrete and time 

limited pieces of work whilst others will require ongoing and evolving action over a number of years. 

For the year April 2017 – March 2018 the LSCB identified the following four targeted areas of work 

for improvement based on a development workshop held in January 2017: 

1. The Journey of the Child through Safeguarding Processes (to focus specifically on thresholds 
and effectiveness of Early Help):  

 
This is a targeted area for improvement because:  

 Learning from Serious and Local Case Reviews 

 Learning from the LSCB Early Help Working Group 2015/16 

 Low numbers and inconsistent use of Early Help Records and Plans 

 Children subject to Multi-agency Risk Panel, Child Protection and Looked After Children 
processes without having had Early Help Records 

 Low levels of escalations. 

 Younger children have high support needs indicated by the high numbers of children in 
need and the small increase seen in children coming into care due to neglect (H&WB 
Strategy 2017 – 2022) 

2. Domestic Abuse:  

This is a targeted area for improvement because: 

 Swindon has estimated high levels of domestic abuse, compared with its ‘nearest 
neighbours’. Evidence suggests that the number of children affected by domestic abuse 
has increased in recent years. JSNA Update 2016. 
 

 In 90% of domestic violence incidents a child or young person will be in the house or 
directly witness the incident. Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2017 - 2022 

3. Disabled Children 

This is a targeted area for improvement because: 

 Disabled children are at significantly greater risk of physical, sexual and emotional abuse 
and neglect than non-disabled children;  

Page 127



60 

 

 Disabled children at greatest risk of abuse are those with behaviour/conduct disorders. 
Other high-risk groups include children with learning difficulties/disabilities, children 
with speech and language difficulties, children with health-related conditions and deaf 
children;  

 Disabled children are more likely to be abused by someone in their family compared to 
non-disabled children;  

 Disabled children are more likely to experience the negative aspects of social 
networking sites than non-disabled children. 

 Almost 4% of pupils have a statement or Education, Health and Care Plan (England 
average 2.8%) 

4. Supporting improved effectiveness of joint safeguarding work between services for children 

and adults.  

This is a targeted area for improvement because: 

 Children who are cared for by adults who are in receipt of support provided by a range 
of services may themselves need additional support; Support plans for these children, 
at whatever level, are likely to be more effective where there is joined up working 
between organisations that support children and those that support adults. 

The LSCB Sub and Working Groups continue to provide an effective way of addressing specific areas 

of safeguarding practice and will continue to develop practice in their particular areas of 

responsibility and keep the LSCB informed of the work they are undertaking and of any safeguarding 

issues requiring attention by the LSCB. 

 

Page 128



61 

 

Report Authorship & Availability 

This report has been written with contributions from many different LSCB members, each writing 

about the work of their agency or the work of individual LSCB sub-groups.  The LSCB Independent 

Chair and members of the LSCB Business Team have also written some sections of the report and 

have edited the final report. 

This report was approved for publication by the Board of Swindon LSCB in September 2017. 

The final report is a public document available on the Swindon LSCB website 

www.swindonlscb.org.uk 

The LSCB Independent Chair will present the report to the following key strategic partners: 

 Swindon Health & Wellbeing Board 

 Wiltshire Police & Crime Commissioner 

 Leader, Swindon Borough Council 

 Chief Executive, Swindon Borough Council 

 Cabinet Member for Children Services, Swindon Borough Council 

 

For information in relation to this report, please contact Swindon LSCB on: 

lscb@swindon.gov.uk 

Swindon LSCB 
Civic Offices 
Euclid Street 
Swindon 
Wiltshire 
SN1 2JH 

Tel: 01793 463803 

 

Page 129

http://www.swindonlscb.org.uk/
mailto:lscb@swindon.gov.uk


62 

 

What to do if you’re worried a child is being abused 

 

Child abuse can take many forms, not all of which have visible signs.  If you think that a child or 

young person under the age of 18 is being harmed and need to talk to someone about it, please 

contact: 

Children Services Family Contact Point 

Tel: 01793 466903 

Emergency Duty Service (out of hours) 

Tel: 01793 436699 

Wiltshire Police 

Tel: 101 

In emergency, please call 999 

 

Allegations against staff and volunteers 

If you have concerns that a member of staff or a volunteer may have behaved in a way that has 

harmed a child or indicates that they may be unsuitable to work with children, you should contact 

the lead person for allegations within your organisation or seek advice from the Local Authority 

Designated Officer (LADO) for managing allegations. 

Tel: 01793 466849 

Child abuse on the web 

You can report online sexual abuse and content from the CEOP (Child Exploitation and Online 

Protection) website. 

www.ceop.gov.uk 

The site also has links for the reporting of other forms of online abuse including bullying, racism, 

spam and phishing. 

For more detailed information, please refer to the South West Child Protection Procedures on  

http://www.proceduresonline.com/swcpp/  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 130

http://www.ceop.gov.uk/
http://www.proceduresonline.com/swcpp/


63 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Swindon LSCB 
(Independent Chair) 

 

Performance 
(Swindon  

Borough Council) 
 

Quality Assurance 
(Swindon  

Borough Council) 
 

Chairs Group 
(Independent Chair) 
 Case Review 

(Independent Chair) 
 

Policy & Procedures 
(Great Western 

Hospital) 

Online Safety 
(Swindon  

Borough Council) 
 

Early Help  
(Working Group) 

(Clinical Commissioning 
Group)) 

 

Training & 
Development 

(Swindon  
Borough Council) 

 

CSE/Missing 
(Police) 

 

LSCB Structure Chart & Board 
Membership & Attendance 

2016/17 

Child Death  
Overview Panel 

(Swindon  
Borough Council) 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 

P
age 131



64 

 

BOARD MEMBER ROLE & ORGANISATION BOARD MEMBER ROLE & ORGANISATION 

Alex Walters 
LSCB Independent Chair, Chair’s Group & Case Review 

Group Chair 
Amanda Murray 

Area Manager, Gloucestershire/Wiltshire LDO, National 

Probation Service (NPS) 

Cherry Jones 
Director of Public Health, SBC & Chair of Child Death 

Overview Panel (CDOP) 
Craig Holden 

Detective Superintendent, Head of Public Protection, 

Wiltshire Police & CSE sub-group Chair 

Deborah Murphy 
Senior Service Manager, Children and Family Court 

Advisory & Support Service (CAFCASS) 
Deidre Fitzpatrick Swindon Association of Secondary Headteachers 

Tanya Schottlander Head of Student Services and Safeguarding, New College Fiona Francis 
Service Manager, Quality Assurance & Review Service, SBC & 

Quality Assurance sub-group Chair 

Fionuala Foley 

(Participating Observer) 
Cabinet Member Children’s Services, SBC Gill May 

Executive Nurse, Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG) & Early Help Working Group Chair 

Hilary Walker Chief Nurse, Great Western Hospital (GWH) Huw Ford 
Children’s Services ICT Manager, SBC & Online Safety sub-

group Chair 

Ingrid Anson NSPCC Service Manager for Swindon Janet King Designated Doctor, Swindon CCG 

Joanne Smith 
Named Nurse, GWH & Polices & Procedures sub-group 

Chair 
Kathie Bryan Association of Swindon Special School Headteachers 

Karen Reeve Director of Children’s Services SBC Lin Williams Domestic Abuse Strategic Lead, SBC 

Liz Hickey 
Assistant Chief Officer, Community Rehabilitation 

Company (CRC) Mark Edwards  Swindon Health Watch 

Mark Scully 
Head of Local Delivery Unit, Gloucestershire/Wiltshire 
LDU, (NPS) 

Matt Bywater 
Service Manager - Restorative Youth Services, SBC & Training 

sub-group Chair 

P
age 132



65 

 

Michelle Maguire Head of Service: Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust Mike Ash Head of Service: Housing & Community Safety, SBC 

Phillipa Lamb 
Strategic Planning Manager, SBC & Performance sub-

group Chair  
Newlands Anning Interim Managing Director, Avon & Wiltshire Partnership 

Ruth Gumm Principal Social Worker, SEQOL Peter Nathan Head of Education, SBC 

Simon Hester 
Named Safeguarding Professional, South West 

Ambulance Service Trust 
Robin Stannard Lay Member 

Spencer Allen Swindon Association of Primary Headteachers Sarah Merritt Divisional Director of Nursing, Women & Children’s 
Division, GWH 

Sue Wald Director of Adult Social Care Services, SBC Sarah Warne Safeguarding Lead Nurse, NHS England 

Stephanie Hathaway Manager, Koalas Opportunity Group Simon Ratcliff LSCB Strategic Manager 

Tanya Musty Student Engagement Officer, Swindon College Yasmine Ellis Youth Development Manager, Dorset & Wiltshire Fire & 
Rescue Authority 

LSCB BUSINESS TEAM 

Christine Mister Administrator Lesley Boorman LSCB Business Administrator 

Catherine Clark LSCB Training & Quality Assurance Manager Simon Ratcliff LSCB Strategic Manager 

P
age 133



66 

 

Partner Attendance at Quarterly Local Safeguarding Children Board Meetings 2016/17  
Agency % Attendance Agency % Attendance 

Chair - Case Review Sub Group 100 Probation CRC 25 

Chair - Child Death Overview Panel Sub Group 75 Probation NPS  100 

Chair - CSE & Missing Sub Group 75 SBC - DV Strategic Lead 0 

Chair - Online Safety Sub-group 50 SBC - Group Director: Childrens Services 75 

Chair - Performance Sub Group 75 
SBC – Head of Children, Families & Community 
Health 

75 

Chair - Policy & Procedures Sub Group 75 SBC - Education Commissioning 75 

Chair - Quality Assurance Sub Group 75 SBC - Housing & Community Safety 100 

Chair Training & Development Sub Group 100 SBC - Cabinet Member Children Services 100 

AWP 0 SBC - Restorative Youth Services 100 

CAFCASS 0 Schools - Primary 50 

Designated Doctor CCG 100 Schools - Secondary 25 

Designated Nurse CCG 50 Schools - Special 75 

Early Years 0 SEQOL 25 

CCG 100 SW Ambulance Service 0 

GWH NHS Foundation Trust 100 Swindon Colleges/FE 75 

Lay Members 100 Swindon Health Watch 100 

NHS England 50 Voluntary Sector 75 

NSPCC 50 Dorset & Wiltshire Fire & Rescue Service 25 

Oxford Health NHS 75 Wiltshire Police 100 

SBC - Public Health 75  Average Attendance 68% 

 

P
age 134



Work Programme 2017/18 

Children’s’ Health, Social Care and Education 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee                 Date: 24th January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Contact Rita 
Glen-Gallo, 01793 463410, rglen-gallo@swindon.gov.uk 

Author: Director of Law & Democratic Services 

Wards: All Wards 

Locality Affected: All Localities 

Parishes Affected: All Parish Areas  
 

1. Purpose and Reasons 

1.1 Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested to have a work 
programme that details the activities that it will be undertaking during the 
Municipal year. 

1.2 The work programme details the various topics and issues that each 
Committee intends to look into during the coming year with the aim of 
producing evidence based recommendations intended to provide service 
improvements for Cabinet and external agencies/bodies to consider. 

1.3 Under the Council’s Constitution, Overview and Scrutiny Committees are 
required to agree a work programme at the start of the municipal year 
outlining their priorities and likely outcomes of considering these issues. 

The work programme is developed taking into account: 

 Corporate priorities and objectives, including the Cabinet Forward Plan. 

 Partnership strategic priorities and objectives. 

 The interests and concerns of Members, Council officers, members of 
the public and other stakeholders such as community and voluntary 
groups and local businesses. 
 

1.4 Committees are encouraged to review the work programme on a regular basis 
to ensure it remains relevant and to prioritise the workload of the Committee. 

1.5 Members are reminded that the work programme must also take into account: 

 The workload of the Committee and of individual members. 

 The capacity of the Scrutiny Unit and other officers to support a review. 

 The resource implications of carrying out a review. 

 The timescales for a review. 

 The most appropriate method of carrying out a review e.g. Committee 
meeting, Task Group, Member Champion review. 

 
1.6 The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 have 

presented the Children’s Health, Social Care and Education Overview and 

Page 135

Agenda Item 9



Work Programme 2017/18 

Children’s’ Health, Social Care and Education 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee                 Date: 24th January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Contact Rita 
Glen-Gallo, 01793 463410, rglen-gallo@swindon.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee with a role, remit and powers regarding local health 
matters.   

1.7 The Children’s Health, Social Care and Education Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is encouraged to be mindful of its role and remit when considering 
a work programme for the 2017/18 Municipal Year. 

2. Recommendations 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 Consider and discuss the Chair’s proposal for the 2017/18 work 
programme. 

 Approve the proposed Work Programme for the 2017/18 Municipal year. 

 Appoint Members to any Task Groups agreed by the Committee. 
 

3. Detail 

3.1 It is important that Overview and Scrutiny adds value to the work of the 
Council and the Borough and produces tangible outcomes for local people 
that result in real service improvements. Selecting the right topics is crucial to 
ensure that Overview and Scrutiny will be effective.  

The work programme will be reviewed at every Committee meeting or as the 
Committee sees fit to ensure that it remains relevant and that Members and 
Officers have sufficient capacity to effectively achieve its objectives.  

3.2 The Work Programme attached at Appendix 1 includes these suggestions and 
the Committee is asked to approve the work programme for the 2017/18 
Municipal year. 

3.3 Attention is drawn to the Scrutiny Process Flowchart, attached at Appendix 2, 
which is aimed at assisting the Committee in identifying how they could 
influence policy development. 

3.4 To assist Members in developing the Committee’s Work Programme, a copy 
of the current Cabinet Work Programme and Forward Plan, for the period 28th 
November 2017 to 28th November 2018, is included as Appendix 3. This 
appendix can be inspected on the Council’s website (links listed below) and 
copies can be obtained from the Committee Officer.  A hard copy will be 
available for inspection at the meeting.    

Task Group Reviews 

3.5 The Committee is required to undertake individual reviews throughout the 
municipal year and proposals for reviews should be proposed and discussed 
at the Committee meeting.   

Page 136



Work Programme 2017/18 

Children’s’ Health, Social Care and Education 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee                 Date: 24th January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Contact Rita 
Glen-Gallo, 01793 463410, rglen-gallo@swindon.gov.uk 

4. Alternative Options 

4.1 The Committee can choose not to have a detailed work programme although 
it is recommended that it is best practice to do so. 

5. Implications, Diversity Impact Assessment and Risk Management 

Financial and Procurement Implications 

5.1 There are no financial or procurement implications arising as a result of this 
report. Any expenditure arising as a result of an item on the Committee’s work 
programme will be met by the Overview and Scrutiny Support budget, subject 
to the approval of the Committee. 

Legal and Human Rights Implications 

5.2 Section 21 of the Local Government Act requires every local authority to 
establish an overview and scrutiny function to hold the Executive to account, 
undertake policy development and review, monitor and improve performance. 

All Other Implications (including Staff, Sustainability, Health, Rural, Crime and 
Disorder) 

5.3 There are no other direct implications arising as a result of this report. Any 
further implications will be identified when a topic is reviewed by the Scrutiny 
Committee and in any recommendations made by the Scrutiny Committee. 

Diversity Impact Assessment  

5.4 No Diversity Impact Assessment is required at this stage, any DIA that is 
required during review of topics included within the work programme will be 
identified at the appropriate stage. 

Risk Management 

5.5 No risk management issues have been identified at this stage. Any risk 
management issues will be identified at the appropriate time when a topic is 
under review by the Scrutiny Committee and if it makes any 
recommendations. 

6. Consultees 

6.1 The Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) and Director of Law and 
Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) are consulted in respect of all 
reports.  

7. Background Papers 

7.1 None. 

Page 137



Work Programme 2017/18 

Children’s’ Health, Social Care and Education 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee                 Date: 24th January 2018 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Contact Rita 
Glen-Gallo, 01793 463410, rglen-gallo@swindon.gov.uk 

8. Appendices 

8.1 Appendix 1 – Work Programme for 2017/18. 

8.2 Appendix 2 – Scrutiny Process Flowchart.   

8.3 Appendix 3 – Cabinet Work Programme and Forward Plan, for the period 28th 
November 2017 to 28th November 2018. (This appendix can be inspected on 
the Council’s website and copies can be obtained from the Committee Officer.  
A hard copy will be available for inspection at the meeting.)   

Internal link: http://sbcvpwmmgv02:9070/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=285&RD=0 

External link: 
http://ww5.swindon.gov.uk/moderngov/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=285&RD=0 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 138

http://sbcvpwmmgv02:9070/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=285&RD=0
http://ww5.swindon.gov.uk/moderngov/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=285&RD=0


 

Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 
Work Programme 2017 - 18 

 
 
Terms of Reference of the Committee 
 
To fulfil all the functions of an overview and scrutiny committee as they relate to: – 

 The review, scrutiny, and development of policy recommendations. 

 The management of performance. 

 The monitoring of progress towards delivering relevant strategies and corporate priorities. 

 The formulation of advice for the Cabinet, Council and other partners and stakeholders. 
 
To have specific responsibility for (but not limited to) the scrutiny of:– 

 The performance of services for children towards agreed local and national Performance 
Indicators. 

 The quality of provision and effectiveness of Local Authority strategies to raise standards of 
education within Swindon. 

 Specialist social services and integrated social services for children and young people in 
Swindon. 

 The delivery of services to children and young people in Swindon generally. 
 
In addition, as these relate to Children and Young People: 

 The performance of services seeking to deliver healthy communities towards agreed local and 
national performance indicators. 

 Health, health commissioning and service delivery. 

 Public Health, Health promotion and the work of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 Health Integration and collaborative working and commissioning with Health agencies and 
providers and General Practitioners. 

 
In accordance with Section 7 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (as amended), the Children’s 
Health, Social Care and Education Overview and Scrutiny Committee will undertake scrutiny of local 
health service providers jointly with the Adult‘s Health, Social Care and Housing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
Review of the Work Programme 
 
The work programme will be reviewed at every meeting of the Children’s Health, Social Care and 
Education Overview & Scrutiny Committee to ensure that it remains relevant, to ensure that Members 
and Officers have sufficient capacity to deliver the work programme and to include any additional items 
on the work programme, if appropriate. 
 
Contact details 
 
Committee Officer: Rita Glen-Gallo 
Email: rglen-gallo@swindon.gov.uk 
Tel: 01793 463611 
 

Page 139



 

 

5th July 2017 

Theme/Scope: Work programme and Health theme – Hospital Quality Account and CCG Children’s Review 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Co-optees Appointment To confirm the appointment of Co-optees to the 
Committee. 

Chair 

Annual Quality Accounts for The 
Great Western Hospital 2016-17 

To update the Committee.  Kevin McNamara –  
Great Western Hospital  

Clinical Commissioning Group - 
Children’s Services Review 
(Postponed) 

To update the Committee.  Gill May – Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Performance Report To provide a detailed report on the Children’s 
Services performance.  

Phillipa Lamb /  
Peter Nathan/ Maria Young 

Work Programme discussion To set the work programme for the forthcoming 
municipal year. 

All 

 
 

20th September  2017 

Theme/Scope: Disabilities and Special Educational Needs 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Education and Health Care 
Plans 

 To update the Committee on the national 
model and expectations and the challenges 
facing services to implement E&HCP  

 To include exploration of the effectiveness of 
provision; services and Special Resource 
Provision  in school settings:  

 Guidance available to parents re pathways for 
Autism/ ADHD.ADD diagnoses. 

To run as a workshop style 
and to involve a Head 
Teacher; parent; SENAT; 
SEND & EP 
 
Peter Nathan to lead/ 
arrange  

Clinical Commissioning Group – 
Children’s Services Review 

To update the Committee.  Gill May – Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

 
 

29th November 2017 

Theme/Scope:– Children’s Mental Health and Wellbeing 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

TAMHS Update the Committee on mental health of young 
people  

 Challenges and opportunities the service has 
encountered in the past year 

 Reasons for any delay in assessments and if this is 
a factor in school exclusions? 

Maria Young 

CAMHS 
 

Update the Committee on mental health of young 
people. 

 To include challenges, evidence of need and 
impact 

 Update on re-commissioning of CAMHS  

 CCGs overview of children’s mental health 
pathways 
 

Thomas Kearney/ Gill May 

Page 140



 

29th November 2017 

Transitions to adulthood Update the Committee to include: 

 Challenges and opportunities the service has 
encountered in the past year 

 Transition to adult mental health, effectiveness, 
outcomes, challenges, issues, opportunities. 
 

Gill May, Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Performance of Children’s health 
services 

 Detailed report on the Children’s Services 
performance.  Informing the Committee of the 
latest indicators across Children’s Services. 

 Detailed performance report on children’s area -
overview/issues 

 Detailed performance report on children’s area -
overview/issues 
 

Jo Ash /  
Peter Nathan/ Maria Young 
 
Kevin McNamara, GWH 
Gill May, Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

6 month plan - The future of Primary Care Services 
 

Gill May 

Youth Council and Youth 
Parliament 

To introduce Youth Parliament members; receive 
details of the Youth Council’s work for the 2017/18 
period and to give the Committee an opportunity to 
identify any issues raised that Overview and Scrutiny 
can assist with.  

Paul Dobson/ Claire Smith 
 

 

24th January 2018 

Theme/Scope: Education and School Standards 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Education Standards To provide the Committee with an overview and 
highlight challenges and progress in the following 
areas:  

 Academy performance 

 LA Education Plan 

 Exam/ progress results 

 Exclusions –progress in reducing  

Peter Nathan,  
To Invite Chairs of SAPH and 
SASH Committee  

Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

To update the Committee on the Digital Roadmap Gill May 

Youth Forum and Youth 
Parliament 

To update the Committee – Feedback on actions during 
term of office. 

Paul Dobson 

Local Safeguarding Children 
Board Annual Report 
 

To update the Committee on the LSCB work. Simon Ratcliff 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 141



 

21st March 2018 

Theme/Scope: Childrens Safeguarding and Children’s Social Work 
 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Front Door Referrals & 
Threshold  

To provide the Committee with the an update on: 

 Progress of the MASH and Thresholds work 

 Brief outline of what’s known about the new 
Childrens Ofsted framework 

Maria Young 

Social work update 
 

 Progress in the quality of social work, 
feedback from the Principal Social Worker and 
Social Work Health Check 

Maria Young and Fiona 
Francis  

Safeguarding  To receive a report on Child Sexual 
Exploitation, Female Genital Mutilation, 
Honour Based Violence and Domestic Abuse  

Maria Young & Gill May 

Performance of Childrens 
Health Services 

 Detailed report on the Children’s Services 
performance.  Informing the Committee of the 
latest indicators across Children’s Services. 
 

 Detailed performance report on children’s area 
-overview/issues 
 

 Detailed performance report on children’s area 
-overview/issues 
 

Jo Ash/ Peter Nathan/  
Maria Young 
 
 
Teresa Harding / Julie 
Marshman, GWH 
 
Gill May, Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

 
 

Page 142



  Appendix 3 

 
 

Government Policy 
or change due to 
recommendations or 
law 

Update to 
Swindon policy 
due to various 
influences 

Political decision 
of Administration 
based on belief or 
necessity 

Committee Services Manager places in work 
programme and publishes new Forward Plan 

Overview and Scrutiny 
comments sought/received 

(optional) 

Finalised Report produced 5 clear days ahead 
of Cabinet and published by Members Services 

Cabinet 
approves, 
returns or 

reject 

Scrutiny 
reviews the 

process 

Resident-
generated change 
such as Petition 

Assigned Joint Report with 
External Agency led 
by internal Director 

Internal Report led 
by Internal Director 

Review by Corporate 
Management Team/Cabinet 

Member(s) 

Council votes 
on disputed 
decisions 

Start 

Implement if approved 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Digital Roadmap - Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group
	Appendix 1 - Swindon Local Digital Roadmap Jan 2017
	Appendix 2 -Digital Roadmap - Key Prpjects Update Dec 17
	Digital Roadmap �Key Projects Update December 2017


	6 Progress Update of Youth Participation
	7 Education Standards Update
	Appendix 1 - Overview of School outcomes (provisional)
	Appendix 2 - Early Years Foundation Stage – LA Level – 19.10.2017
	Appendix 3 - PROVISIONAL Phonics 2017 LA level _October revision
	Appendix 4 - 2017 PROVISIONAL KS1 results _ 28.12.2017
	Appendix 5 - VALIDATED  KS2 LA Level Main Indicators
	Appendix 6 - SWINDON CHALLENGE BOARD members
	Appendix 7 - Swindon Challenge Board Terms of Reference March 2017

	8 Local Safeguarding Children's Board Annual Report
	Appendix 1 – Swindon Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Re

	9 Work Programme
	Appendix 1 - Draft Work Programme
	Appendix 2 - Scrutiny process flowchart


